
JOINT SPECIAL MEETING OF THE  
VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE,  

JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS,  
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW,  

AND HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
 

Monday, November 23, 2015 
6:00 P.M. 

 
Village Hall Board Room 

40 East Center Avenue 
 

A G E N D A 
 

I. Call To Order 
 
II. Roll Call 

 
i. Village Board of Trustees Committee of the Whole 
ii. Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
iii. Architectural Board of Review 
iv. Historic Preservation Commission 

 
III. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors (Public Comment) 

 
The Committee-of-the-Whole allocates fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those individuals who would 
like the opportunity to address the Committee-of-the-Whole on any matter not listed on the agenda.  Each 
person addressing the Committee-of-the-Whole is asked to limit their comments to a maximum of three (3) 
minutes. 

 
IV. General Business  

 
The Committee-of-the-Whole will entertain requests from anyone present to modify the order of business to 
be conducted. 

 
i. Consideration of the Minutes from the November 9, 2015 Committee-of-the-Whole Meeting 

 
ii. Special Meeting of the Committee of the Whole, Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals, 

Architectural Board of Review, and Historic Preservation Commission Regarding the: (i) Construction, 
Renovation, and Preservation of Residences and (ii) Historic Preservation, Bulk Regulations, 
Subdivision Regulations, and Design Review 

 
iii. Informational Report Regarding the Property and Public Land Use Advisory Committee of the Lake 

Bluff Park District 
 

V. Adjournment 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
 

The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan 
to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who 
have questions regarding accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-
2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 



1 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 

COMMITTEE-OF-THE-WHOLE MEETING,  
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS, 

ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW, AND 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2015 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF MEETING 
 
The Village of Lake Bluff Board of Trustees met as a Committee-of-the-Whole (COW) in the Village 
Hall Board Room (40 East Center Avenue) on Monday, November 9, 2015 during a special meeting 
with the Chairs of the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA), Historic 
Preservation Commission (HPC) and the Architectural Board of Review (ABR).  Village President 
O’Hara called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll and 
announced the following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
    Mark Dewart 
    John Josephitis 
    William Meyer 
     
Absent:   Eric Grenier, Village Trustee 
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Robert Hunter, Chair Architectural Board of Review 
Janet Nelson, Chair Historic Preservation Commission 
Steve Kraus, Chair Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 

   Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 
 Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 

Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor  
Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA)  

  
Non-Agenda Items and Visitors 
President O’Hara stated the COW allocates 15 minutes for those individuals who would like the 
opportunity to address the COW on any matter not listed on the agenda.  

 
There were no requests to address the COW. 
 
Consideration of the Minutes from the October 26, 2015 Committee-of-the-Whole Meeting 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve the October 26, 2015 COW Meeting Minutes as presented.  
Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion. The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Special Meeting of the Committee-of-the-Whole, Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of 
Appeals, Architectural Board of Review, and Historic Preservation Commission Regarding the: i) 



Committee-of-the-Whole 
Meeting Minutes – 10/26/15 
 

2 

Construction, Renovation, and Preservation of Residences and ii) Historic Preservation, Bulk 
Regulations, Subdivision Regulations, and Design Review 
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin reported following the demolition petitions for the properties located 
400 E. Center Avenue and 925 N. Sheridan Road earlier this year, the President and Village Board 
expressed a desire to evaluate the following:  
 

 if the Village’s historic preservation regulations are truly achieving the purpose of promoting 
historic and architectural preservation in the Village; 

 if the Village’s bulk and massing regulations are effectively managing the massing of new 
single-family homes;   

 if the Village’s subdivision regulations are protecting the character of Lake Bluff; and  
 if there is a desire to implement architectural review requirements for new single-family homes. 

 
Village Administrator Irvin stated these “4 Points” were referred to the HPC, PCZBA and the ABR for 
further study.   
 
President O’Hara stated she asked for this discussion to take place after having reviewed the matter with  
the Village Board regarding changes to the character of Lake Bluff.  She stated during tonight’s meeting 
the Chair of each advisory body is here to provide an update concerning the recommendations of their 
respective boards for the COW to determine the next steps, if any.   
 
PCZBA Chair Kraus reviewed the concepts from the PCZBA and noted the following: 
 
Priority Issues: 1) consider counting all attic space as floor area (regardless of access); and 2) consider 
amending Zoning Code to exclude ravine slopes from the lot area calculation and only use the table land 
to determine lot area.  
 
Subdivisions: 3) consider requiring PCZBA review and recommendation to Village Board of all 
proposed subdivisions (any action that is moving a property line); 4) consider requiring an advisory 
board review site plans and building elevations of a new house at a public hearing prior to the 
consideration of a subdivision request; 5) in addition to PCZBA review of any proposed subdivision, 
consider allowing the HPC and ABR (at their discretion) to hold a public hearing on any proposed 
subdivision to review the proposal from their areas of expertise; 6) consider creating standards for 
subdivisions that maintain scale and character of an existing neighborhood; and 7) consider increasing 
lot area and lot width requirements in the R-4 Zoning District to reduce potential subdivisions. 
 
Infill housing: 8) consider requiring advisory board review of all site plans and building elevations of 
any new residence proposed for a vacant lot; and 9) consider requiring the PCZBA, HPC and ABR (at 
their discretion) to hold a public hearing on the infill housing request from their areas of expertise and 
forward a recommendation to the Village Board.  
 
Teardowns and rebuilds not involving a subdivision: 10) prior to issuing a demolition permit for any 
existing house, consider requiring the site plan and buildings elevations for a new house be reviewed by 
an advisory board.  Property owner must have Village approval to build the new house prior to receiving 
a demolition permit; 11) consider allowing the HPC to conduct demolition reviews for the demolition of 
homes that are less than 50 years in age.  Consider allowing the ABR to review at a public hearing the 
site plan and building elevations of the new house; and 12) consider limiting the size of new houses that 



Committee-of-the-Whole 
Meeting Minutes – 10/26/15 
 

3 

are built following a teardown.  Consider determining size of new house by: floor area allowed per the 
Zoning District, no larger than the size of the teardown, 1.xx times the size of the teardown, etc. 

 

New Zoning Classification: 13) consider creating new zoning classification for 
governmental/institutional uses such as Village Hall, Public Works facility, Park District Rec Center, 
Schools, Churches, etc.  Currently, these types of facilities are located in residential districts which is not 
reflective of the activities (or intensity) of institutional uses.  
 

Miscellaneous Zoning Regulations: 14) consider encouraging rehabilitation of existing structures 
through zoning bonuses; 15) consider developing regulations limiting bulk and encouraging 
historical/architectural continuity with surrounding properties:  
 
a) Floor Area -  

i. Consider limiting the allowable floor area of homes on “deep” lots based on the amount of street 
frontage of the lot.  Refer to 709 Birch as an example.  

ii. Given the variety of lot sizes in the R-4 District, and the mix of large and small houses that 
result, consider reducing the floor area allowed on larger lots. 

iii. Reconsider the amount of floor area bonus given for front porches and rear yard garages. 
b)   Setbacks - Consider larger side yard setbacks on bigger lots. 
c)   Lot coverage - Consider adding restrictions on the percentage of surface land that  
      is covered on small lots; and  
 
16) consider creating a universal parking lot standard(s) to use in all Zoning Districts. 
 
HPC Chair Nelson reviewed the concepts from the HPC and noted the following: 
 
Building permit applications for demolition: 17) consider requiring the following additional information 
to constitute a full and complete demolition application: 
 
a) Please explain the reason(s) you are proposing to demolish the structure. 
b) What is the Property Owner’s short-term and long-term plans for the property? 
c) Please provide a written description of any historical information with supporting documentation. 
d) Please explain why the structure ay not qualify for landmark designation status. 
e) Please identify the approximate costs to rehabilitate the structure compared to the costs to demolish 

and build new.  
f) Have you considered relocating the structure to an alternate location?  If so, please provide details. 
g) Please prepare a written statement describing how best to preserve the Village’s historical and 

architectural character. 
h) Please include the following: plat of survey, elevation pictures of existing house, elevation drawings 

of proposed house (if available) and aerial map of neighborhood (include surrounding blocks).  
 
Demolition Delay: 18) consider extending the demolition delay for all structures to 365 days with the 
option for the Village Board to extend the delay indefinitely.  

 
Real Estate Rider: 19) explore requiring a real estate rider to accompany all home sales in Lake Bluff 
that provides information and assistance to new residents regarding the Village’s adopted plans, policies, 
regulations and processes. 
 



Committee-of-the-Whole 
Meeting Minutes – 10/26/15 
 

4 

ABR Chair Hunter reviewed the concepts from the ABR and noted the following: 
 
Architectural Review District: 20) consider establishing an Architectural Review District that would 
require new construction to comply with specific building material standards.  The ABR would only 
review projects that vary from the building material standards in this proposed District.   
 
Trustee Dewart expressed his interest in maintaining a diverse housing stock in the Village with its 
various neighborhoods to help different demographic groups stay in town. 
 
Trustee Josephitis expressed his concern with how the concepts presented would impact property rights. 
 
A discussion among the Chairs and the Trustees regarding the balance of regulating development and 
property rights followed.   
 
Trustee Christensen shared a personal experience noting that he and residents along in his street 
established a restriction preventing any further subdivision of certain properties.  He expressed his 
support for evaluating the subdivision process, and overall, addressing the issues with the size of homes 
in certain zoning districts. Additionally, Trustee Christensen expressed his preference the Village 
consider not legislating taste with a design review process but encourage and incent the preferred 
character.  
 
President O’Hara thanked the Chairs for the work of each board and noted the topic is of interest to 
community on different levels.   
 
As there was nothing further, Trustee Dewart moved to continue the discussion at a future COW 
meeting.  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Adjournment 
Trustee Ankenman moved to adjourn the meeting. Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote and the meeting adjourned at 6:59 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,    
 
 
 
___________________________    
R. Drew Irvin       
Village Administrator  



  

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date:  November 18, 2015      
 

To:  President O’Hara and Members of the Committee-of-the-Whole  
  
From: Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
  Brandon Stanick, Assistant Village Administrator 
  Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
 

Subject: Discussion Regarding the (i) Construction, Renovation, and Preservation of Residences 
and (ii) Historic Preservation, Bulk Regulations, Subdivision Regulations, and Design 
Review 

 
Following the demolition petitions for the properties located 400 E. Center Avenue and 925 N. Sheridan 
Road, the President and Village Board expressed a desire to evaluate the following:  
 

1. if the Village’s historic preservation regulations are truly achieving the purpose of promoting 
historic and architectural preservation in the Village; 

2. if the Village’s bulk and massing regulations are effectively managing the massing of new 
single-family homes;   

3. if the Village’s subdivision regulations are protecting the character of Lake Bluff; and  
4. if there is a desire to implement architectural review requirements for new single-family homes. 

 
These “4 Points” were referred to the Historic Preservation Commission (“HPC”), the Joint Plan 
Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”), and the Architectural Board of Review 
(“ABR”) for further study and review.  The attached discussion points summarize their consideration of 
these topics. 
 
As you will recall, the Chair of the HPC, ABR and PCZBA provided an informational report to the 
Committee-of-the-Whole (“COW”) at their November 9, 2015 meeting.  It is anticipated that the COW 
will continue their discussion and provide direction to the advisory bodies and/or Village Staff with 
regards to which specific points (code amendments, development process changes, etc.) should be 
further evaluated or implemented, if any. 
 
Should the Board have any questions concerning this matter, please feel free to contact Village 
Administrator Drew Irvin at 847-283-6883.  
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
AGENDA ITEM: IVii



 

 

COMMUNITY CHARACTER DISCUSSION POINTS 
 

November 9, 2015 Committee-of-the-Whole Meeting  
with the 

Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
Historic Preservation Commission 

Architectural Board of Review 
 
Definitions for Reference 
 

 Bulk: Regulations that establish the maximum size of buildings on a lot and the area in 
which buildings can be located.  Pursuant to the Lake Bluff Zoning Code the following are 
controls that comprise “bulk”: building coverage, height, building setbacks, daylight plane, 
floor area and impervious surfaces.  
  

 Subdivision: Generally, any movement of a lot line.  The Lake Bluff Subdivision Code 
defines subdivision as any change, division, resubdivision or rearrangement of any piece 
or parcel of land, block, lot, or any part thereof, into two or more lots or parcels of land for 
the purpose, whether immediate or future, of transferring ownership or building 
development; or any change in existing street lines or public easement, or if a new street is 
involved any division of land. 

 
Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 

 
PCZBA Priority Issues 

 
1. Consider counting all attic space as floor area (regardless of access).  
2. Consider amending Zoning Code to exclude ravine slopes from the lot area calculation 

and only use the table land to determine lot area.  
 
Subdivisions 

 
3. Consider requiring PCZBA review and recommendation to Village Board of all proposed 

subdivisions (any action that is moving a property line).  
 

4. Consider requiring an advisory board review site plans and building elevations of a new 
house at a public hearing prior to the consideration of a subdivision request.  
 

5. In addition to PCZBA review of any proposed subdivision, consider allowing the HPC 
and ABR (at their discretion) to hold a public hearing on any proposed subdivision to 
review the proposal from their areas of expertise.   
 

6. Consider creating standards for subdivisions that maintain scale and character of an 
existing neighborhood.  
 



 

 

7. Consider increasing lot area and lot width requirements in the R-4 Zoning District to 
reduce potential subdivisions.1 
 

Infill housing 
 

8. Consider requiring advisory board review of all site plans and building elevations of any 
new residence proposed for a vacant lot.   
 

9. Consider requiring the PCZBA, HPC and ABR (at their discretion) to hold a public 
hearing on the infill housing request from their areas of expertise and forward a 
recommendation to the Village Board.  

 
Teardowns and rebuilds not involving a subdivision 
 

10. Prior to issuing a demolition permit for any existing house, consider requiring the site 
plan and buildings elevations for a new house be reviewed by an advisory board.  
Property owner must have Village approval to build the new house prior to receiving a 
demolition permit.   
 

11. Consider allowing the HPC to conduct demolition reviews for the demolition of homes 
that are less than 50 years in age.  Consider allowing the ABR to review at a public 
hearing the site plan and building elevations of the new house.  
 

12. Consider limiting the size of new houses that are built following a teardown.  Consider 
determining size of new house by: floor area allowed per the Zoning District, no larger 
than the size of the teardown, 1.xx times the size of the teardown, etc. 
 

New Zoning Classification 
 

13. Consider creating new zoning classification for governmental/institutional uses such as 
Village Hall, Public Works facility, Park District Rec Center, Schools, Churches, etc.  
Currently, these types of facilities are located in residential districts which is not 
reflective of the activities (or intensity) of institutional uses.  

 

Miscellaneous Zoning Regulations 
 

14. Consider encouraging rehabilitation of existing structures through zoning bonuses. 
 

15. Consider developing regulations limiting bulk and encouraging historical/architectural 
continuity with surrounding properties:  

a) Floor Area 
 Consider limiting the allowable floor area of homes on “deep” lots based on 

the amount of street frontage of the lot.  Refer to 709 Birch as an example.  
 Given the variety of lot sizes in the R-4 District, and the mix of large and 

small houses that result, consider reducing the floor area allowed on larger 
lots. 

                                                           

1 Added by Staff. 



 

 

 Reconsider the amount of floor area bonus given for front porches and rear 
yard garages. 

b) Setbacks - Consider larger side yard setbacks on bigger lots. 
c) Lot coverage - Consider adding restrictions on the percentage of surface land that  
      is covered on small lots. 
 

16. Consider creating a universal parking lot standard(s) to use in all Zoning Districts. 
 
Historic Preservation Commission 
 

17. Consider requiring the following additional information to constitute a full and complete  
demolition application: 

a) Please explain the reason(s) you are proposing to demolish the structure. 
b) What is the Property Owner’s short-term and long-term plans for the property? 
c) Please provide a written description of any historical information with supporting 

documentation. 
d) Please explain why the structure ay not qualify for landmark designation status. 
e) Please identify the approximate costs to rehabilitate the structure compared to the 

costs to demolish and build new.  
f) Have you considered relocating the structure to an alternate location?  If so, 

please provide details. 
g) Please prepare a written statement describing how best to preserve the Village’s 

historical and architectural character. 
h) Please include the following: plat of survey, elevation pictures of existing house, 

elevation drawings of proposed house (if available) and aerial map of 
neighborhood (include surrounding blocks).  
 

18. Consider extending the demolition delay for all structures to 365 days with the option for 
the Village Board to extend the delay indefinitely.  

 Existing regulations -  
 Non-landmark: up to 120 days with option for Village Board to 

extend to 150 days; and 
 Landmark: mandatory 120 days with option for Village Board to 

extend to 150 days.  
 

19. Explore requiring a real estate rider to accompany all home sales in Lake Bluff that 
provides information and assistance to new residents regarding the Village’s adopted 
plans, policies, regulations and processes. 
 

Architectural Board of Review 
 

20. Consider establishing an Architectural Review District that would require new 
construction to comply with specific building material standards.  The ABR would only 
review projects that vary from the building material standards in this proposed District.   



  

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date:  November 18, 2015      
 

To:  President O’Hara and Members of the Committee-of-the-Whole  
  
From: Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
   

Subject: Property and Public Land Use Advisory Committee Final Report (July 21, 2015) 
 
For your review and information, please find attached the Property and Public Land Use Advisory 
Committee Final Report (July 21, 2015).   
 
As you may recall, the Lake Bluff Park District established a citizen Property and Public Land Use 
Advisory Committee in 2014 for the following purpose: 

 Identifying opportunities to make the Park District economically and strategically efficient. 
 Review the Park District’s property and land holdings and recommend to the Park  

District Board any potential sale, vacation or other disposition in accordance with Park District 
Policy and State law. 

 If necessary, provide guidance and input to the Park District Board on the terms and conditions 
of any recommended sale of Park District assets or acquisition of new property. 

 Interact with the Park Board and other stakeholders including the Village of Lake Bluff, School 
District 65 and LBOLA on all matters that will materially enhance or change Park District 
owned lands and public facilities. 

 
The Advisory Committee was comprised of nine community members: Jim Moss (Co-Chair), Steve 
Kraus (Co-Chair), Mark Dewart, Rob Douglass, Julie Gottshall, Bill Nordeen, Dan Reidy, George 
Russell, and Nicki Snoblin.   
 
On Monday, September 21, Committee Co-Chair Jim Moss presented the report and the Lake Bluff Park 
Board accepted the plan. On Wednesday, November 11, Committee Co-Chair Steve Kraus presented the 
report at the Tri-Board meeting (Village, School and Park District).  
 
As you will see, the report includes a complete inventory of public lands sorted by sector; it is 
anticipated that the PCZBA and Village Staff will find the report helpful in completing the Village’s 
update of the Comprehensive Land Use Plan of the Village. 
 
Should the Board have any questions concerning this matter, please feel free to contact Village 
Administrator Drew Irvin at 847-283-6883.  
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
AGENDA ITEM: IViii



 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTY AND LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

REPORT TO THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JULY 21, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Table of Contents 

 

 

 

I. Background: Purpose, Objectives and Process 

II. Methodology 

III. Park District Holdings: Inventory and Comparison 

IV. Findings and Recommendations 

V. Next Steps 

VI. List of Appendixes 

Note:  The appendixes are a key element of this report.  On first reference in the report, an appendix is 

bolded, underlined and in blue text (color may change if link has been used). Assuming an internet 

connection is available, clicking on the text will take the reader to the associated appendix. 

 



Background: Purpose, Objectives, and Process  Page 1 

I .  Background: Purpose, Objectives and Process 
On January 27, 2014, the Lake Bluff Park District Board of Commissioners approved a resolution to create the 

Property and Land Use Advisory Committee.  The Committee consists of nine members: two co-chairs; one 

representative each from the Board of Commissioners of the Lake Bluff Park District, Lake Bluff’s Village Board of 

Trustees, Board of Education of Lake Bluff School District 65 and Lake Bluff Open Lands Association (LBOLA); and 

three at-large residents.  Committee chairs were appointed in February, 2014; Committee members by April, 2014. 

Purpose 

The purpose of the Advisory Committee, as stated in the enabling resolution, is as follows: 

a) Identify opportunities to make the Park District economically and strategically efficient. 

b) Review the Park District’s property and land holdings and recommend to the Park District Board any 

potential sale, vacation or other disposition in accordance with Park District policy and State law. 

c) If necessary, provide guidance and input to the Park District Board on the terms and conditions of any 

recommended sale of Park District assets or acquisition of new property. 

d) Interact with the Park Board and other stakeholders including the Village of Lake Bluff, School District 65 

and LBOLA on all matters that will materially enhance or change Park District-owned lands and public 

facilities. 

Objectives 

The Objectives identified for the Committee, which formed the initial scope of the Committee work plan, were: 

a) Identify all property and public land in the Park District boundaries with or adjacent to property with 

substantial open space and review any relevant Village and County Ordinances or Partnership Agreements. 

b) Compare number and acreage of Park District property, facilities and public land versus current national and 

state guidelines. 

c) Evaluate other recreation agencies and nearby communities’ properties. 

d) Evaluate all property and public land owned by the Park District to ensure that its current use is appropriate 

and in the best interests of the residents for the short and long term. 

e) Provide a written recommendation of changes in use and submit a document to the Park Board. 

Process 

The Committee assembled on May 15, 2014 and generally met once per month.  Agendas and Meeting Minutes are 

maintained in the Park District Offices.   

The work of the Committee resulted in modifications to the original scope and objectives of the work plan.  There 

were four key revisions that are worthy of highlighting. 

a) The Committee did not conduct any extensive economic evaluation of any of the parcels, but did 

recommend that such evaluations be part of a Park District land acquisition and disposal policy. The 

Committee concluded that it was premature to conduct economic evaluations pending additional stakeholder 

discussions regarding long-term planning.  

 



Background: Purpose, Objectives, and Process  Page 2 

b) After further consultation with the Park District Board of Commissioners, it was determined the Committee 

would not evaluate the alternative uses of the Lake Bluff Golf Course as the Commissioners desired to 

conduct more preliminary planning and assessment on their own. 

c) The Committee did not conduct public forums to solicit input from various community groups and 

stakeholders.  This decision was made in recognition that discussing open land and Park District parcels 

absent the golf course analysis may have proved unproductive. 

d) Given the Land Use Committee’s conclusion that overall Park District facilities and land areas were 

generally appropriate in scale and use, specific assessments of neighboring park district parcels were 

determined to not be required although comparisons to state and national standards were performed. 

The Committee maintained the view that the core of its mission remained viable.  Specifically, this was to 

provide a reliable reference point for stakeholders looking to plan for or incorporate the use of real estate, 

especially open space, in a manner consistent with the values and desires of the community.  The review 

incorporated the premise that real estate is a limited asset and its usage is a key factor in how communities 

perceive themselves.  The sometimes competing desires for open space and development can create 

tension among various stakeholder groups. 

The aims of the Committee were: 

a) To assemble a detailed database consisting of maps and fact sheets of public land and open space 

parcels within the Park District boundaries. 

b) To develop a discussion framework that would provide sufficient guidance for governmental bodies 

to reference and incorporate in their own plans as changes in land use are considered.   

c) To highlight immediately executable issues and provide a framework for long-term planning in 

regard to:  

o Sufficiency and quality of Park District assets; 

o District and Village boundary misalignments; 

o Sufficiency of Village, Park District and School District storage space; 

o Connectivity improvements; and 

o Environmental stewardship. 

The Committee viewed real estate as an asset that requires clear articulation of current and potential alternative 

uses.  To develop a framework of guiding principles and concepts that reflect the desires of community members, the 

Committee consulted various materials available from local government entities and Lake Bluff Open Lands 

Association (LBOLA).  These included strategic, comprehensive and master plans, as well as mission statements 

and results of community-wide surveys. 

The Committee attempted to assess Lake Bluff Park District’s facilities and acreage of Park District land compared to 

average levels within the state and nationally.  The intent was to assess the relative scope and size of Lake Bluff’s 

park system and as a proxy to highlight the area of open space within the community relative to other communities.  

The Committee was able to source national and state standards/guidelines.  The standards/guidelines were not as 

robust as the Committee expected in terms of being supported by a detailed dataset collected from other park 

districts.  Further, they were not as expansive as the Committee expected in terms of addressing standards for 

natural areas and trails that are a critical component of Lake Bluff’s recreational assets.  Therefore, the Committee 

was unable to perform as meaningful of a comparison of Lake Bluff to these standards and guidelines as we desired. 

Originally, the scope of the Committee was to include identification of material expense reductions and revenue 

enhancements to assist in the long-term financial viability of the Park District.  Subsequent feedback from the Park 



Background: Purpose, Objectives, and Process  Page 3 

District Commissioners indicated that this effort was not required and would be difficult to accomplish absent a full 

assessment of the golf course. Therefore, the Committee did not undertake an economic evaluation of individual 

parcels, although any consideration of alternative land uses would certainly require this financial analysis.  Such 

review could be accomplished for individual parcels, for contiguous groups of parcels or as part of an exercise to 

determine the feasibility of enhancing Park District revenues, reducing debt or reducing operating expenses. 

The participation of representatives from the main local government entities and LBOLA allowed the Committee to 

gain an enhanced level of insight on the scope of strategic plans produced by these entities beyond what could be 

gained from a simple review of available materials.  The inclusion of a long-term and active resident of Knollwood 

allowed the Committee to gain perspective on the major region in the Park District that is not part of the Village of 

Lake Bluff. 

In general, the Committee viewed the mix and dispersion of commercial, residential, park, active open land and 

passive use lands to be consistent with the vision and desires of these key stakeholders.  Further, the Committee 

perceived that community residents view the Park District facilities and significant open space throughout the 

community as a highly valued attribute.  However, a number of specific wants and needs were identified and are 

discussed below. 

 



Methodology  Page 4 

II. Methodology  

Individual Parcel Review 

In order to facilitate orderly discussion of public open space, the Committee divided the geography to be studied into 

six sectors; North East, North West, North Central, South East (including the Central Business District), South 

Central, and the Commercial Park.  (See summary sector map in Appendix C-1.) 

Within each sector, the following analysis was performed: 

• Each parcel of open land was identified, mapped, and given a parcel identification number based on known 

property ownership within each sector (Village, Park District, School District, Township, Illinois Department 

of Transportation, Forest Preserve, etc.).   

• A detailed location map was prepared for each identified parcel. 

A parcel fact sheet was compiled for each identified parcel that included sector, map reference number, location, tax 

map and PIN, ownership, parcel size, current zoning, and current use. 

A Sector Summary Review Form was created for each sector, summarizing the mapping, parcel fact sheet and 

Committee discussions.  These forms include: sector, parcel ID, size, current ownership, current maintenance, 

common description/current use, improved/unimproved status, active/passive/infrequent use, zoning and 

comments/restrictions. 

The sector overall map, detailed parcel maps, parcel fact sheets and summarized Sector Summary Review Forms 

can be found in the Appendixes: 

• North East Sector. See Appendix C-2 

• North West Sector. See Appendix C-3 

• Commercial Sector. See Appendix C-4 

• South Central Sector. See Appendix C-5 

• North Central Sector. See Appendix C-6 

• South East Sector. See Appendix C-7 

A total of 123 parcels (some representing groups of contiguous legal parcels) were identified and reviewed using the 

procedures identified above. 

A compendium of the Sector Summary Review Forms sorted by ownership/maintenance is located in Appendix C-8. 

Other iterations of these summary forms can be easily developed. 

Border Analysis 

While completing the sector summary review forms and individual parcel reviews, the Committee also took note of 

areas where borders of the Park District, the Village and the School District were not aligned. Misalignments were 

noted and the findings are included in Section IV. Findings and Recommendations beginning on page 8 of this report.  

  

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC1.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC2.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC3.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC4.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC5.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC6.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC7.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC8.pdf


Methodology  Page 5 

Themes and Guiding Principles for Analysis 

To aid in the selection, analysis and/or recommendation of potential alternative land uses to the appropriate 

governmental bodies, the Committee developed these Guiding Principles.  Each Principle is defined in Appendix D. 

Sense of Community 

 Community Defined 

 Connectivity 

 Linkage 

 Wants and Needs 

 Impact 

Efficiency and Feasibility 

 Financial Impact 

 Financial Feasibility 

 Technical Feasibility and Development Timeline 

 Efficient Use of Resources 

Stakeholder Impact 

 Definition of Stakeholders  

 Fit with Strategic Plans of Public Entities 

 Stakeholder Wants and Needs 

 Coterminous Boundaries 

 Alternative Uses 

 Access to Amenities 

 Safety 

The Guiding Principles/Themes that have been developed are meant to facilitate discussions on alternative land 

uses, but by no means do they constitute an exhaustive list.   Robust community input, appropriate financial analyses 

and a forward-looking feasibility analysis are also critical components of land use discussions. 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionD.pdf


Park District Holdings: Inventory and Comparison  Page 6 

III. Park District Holdings: Inventory and Comparison 

The three appendixes detailed below present a comprehensive look at open space within the greater Lake Bluff 

community and compare such to established state and national guidelines.  The data presented includes facilities 

and acreage for Park District-owned parcels and also includes selective recreation-related parcels such as the bike 

path network that are within the community but are owned by other entities.  The distinction between Park District 

and other owned parcels is important in many planning exercises.  However, in terms of taking stock of the outdoor 

recreation-related facilities in the community, the Committee found the distinction to lack meaning, particularly in 

comparing to state and national standards that encompass data where ownership of recreation-related facilities may 

be driven by different factors than is the case in our community. 

1) Parks and Properties Matrix – See Appendix E-1. 

The Matrix captures the acreage of park land and recreation-related open space as well as noting the 

specific facility types found at each location.  Total acreage of parks and related open lands is roughly 313 

acres with the golf course representing nearly 48% of the total.  The Lake Bluff Park District owns 70% of 

the total acreage and 41% of the acreage excluding the golf course.  The 160+ acres, excluding the golf 

course, is comprised of 53 acres of traditional parks, 103 acres of natural areas and 9 acres other 

recreation-related other open space. 

2) Facility Need Assessment – See Appendix E-2.  

The Facility Needs Worksheet captures the number of facilities in the community and converts them to a 

number per 1,000 residents (8,500 residents is used for Lake Bluff Park District).  The level of service per 

1,000 is compared to statewide norms known as “IDNR SCORP” ratings as determined by the Illinois 

Department of Natural Resources (IDNR).  The surplus/deficit reflects Lake Bluff’s position relative to the 

IDNR SCORP and is expressed in the number of facilities.  The comparison of Lake Bluff to these standards 

is one of the important factors in assessing grant requests; therefore, the Lake Bluff Park District remains 

mindful of the standards, but does not use them as key input in its planning process.  The data did not raise 

any material concerns from the Committee.  The areas where Lake Bluff shows a deficiency are generally 

ones where nearby facilities compensate (football fields in Lake Forest, marina slips in Waukegan, horse 

trails in Mettawa), multi-use open space such as Artesian Park provides sufficient flexibility to fill demand on 

near real-time basis (volleyball courts) or perceived demand is low (snowmobile trails). 

3) Level of Service Analysis – See Appendix E-3. 

The Level of Service Analysis compares the volume of Lake Bluff park land to national guidelines 

established by the National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA).  The NRPA guidelines are based on 

acreage per 1,000 residents.  At a summary level, NRPA guidelines suggest communities should have 10 

acres of park land per 1,000 residents.  Applying the NRPA level of service to Lake Bluff suggests we have 

a 32-acre (37%) deficiency when one only considers traditional parks.  The NRPA does not establish 

standards for recreational areas beyond traditional parks.  Lake Bluff has considerable recreational areas 

beyond traditional parks (e.g., Skokie Preserve, Belle Foret and Oriole Park) and if such were considered, 

Lake Bluff would exhibit an 80-acre surplus (excluding the golf course).  The appendix highlights Park 

District only and community-wide park-land as the Committee views ownership and management of 

recreational facilities as tertiary in the minds of community members when they assess the level of service 

available. 

The Committee notes three key observations on the national and state guidelines.  The first observation is 

the standards/guidelines appear to be built on a fairly thin dataset and such data may not have direct 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionE1.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionE2.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionE3.pdf


Park District Holdings: Inventory and Comparison  Page 7 

applicability to a community like Lake Bluff.  The state guidelines are primarily based on periodic surveys of 

park districts and residents regarding the current stock of facilities, and expectations and desires for public 

recreation facilities.  The NRPA guidelines partly incorporate underlying data from communities.  However, 

the depth of the data in terms of number of communities appears quite shallow as there is no formal 

requirement to report or collect such data.  The earliest record of national guidelines dates back to 1906 

where it was recommended playgrounds provide 30 square feet for each child.  This standard evolved over 

time to 10 acres of parks per 1,000 residents and the Level of Service standards highlighted in the exhibit. 

The other two observations stem from the review of reports published by other park districts that attempt to 

use NRPA guidelines to establish some context for assessing their own level of service.  A review of these 

reports notes that the communities had difficulty categorizing their park lands into the mini, neighborhood 

and community park framework established by the NRPA.  They compensated for this challenge by 

establishing their own definitions that helped create reasonable differentiation of their inventory.  Second, 

nearly all of the reports reviewed indicated a level of deficiency to the NRPA guidelines. 

 



 

Findings and Recommendations  Page 8 

IV. Findings and Recommendations 

After reviewing each of the 123 parcels located within the study area as well as the Park District holdings and park 

space benchmarking studies, the Committee developed the following recommendations:  

 Park District Holdings 

o Adequacy of Park Space: The Committee does not view Lake Bluff as having a significant 

deficiency in park land dedicated to traditional parks as may be suggested by the nearly 42% 

shortage to the NRPA guideline for traditional parks.  However, the deficiency may be considered 

in context of the residents in the southwestern portion of the community (West Terrace) having a 

longer distance or a travel path that involves crossing busier roads than residents in most other 

portions of the community to a traditional park.  This does not need to be addressed by the addition 

of a park, but does highlight the need for continued attention to safe passage issues.  Lake Bluff 

possesses more than enough acres of open space and other recreation areas that could be 

converted to traditional parks that would allow Lake Bluff to meet or exceed the NRPA acreage 

standard for to traditional parks.  The Committee believes that future planning should continue to 

seek creative use of open space that meets the demands of the community for active and passive 

use offerings while preserving the character of the open space itself and maintaining flexibility to 

meet future changes in needs and demands. 

 

o Benchmarking and Planning:  State and national guidelines are a component of accreditation 

programs that the Park District may wish to obtain.  Further, the state guidelines are an element 

used in the evaluation of grant requests that can provide important funds to the Park District.  Thus, 

the Committee recommends that the Park District continue to measure itself against these 

standards.  The Committee urges the Park District to establish a framework of self-assessment for 

its land holdings, land usage and facilities.  This self-assessment should incorporate demands and 

desires of the community for active and passive open space, the ability to retain flexibility to 

respond to changing demands and desires, budgetary needs for maintenance of current resources 

and long-term capital investment needs current and future facilities.  The Park District should 

include other government entities in this planning process to the extent such entities own or control 

important elements of the recreation facilities and open space. 

 

o Capital Planning: When reviewing inventory, the Committee recommends that, prior to the 

consideration of changes to the Park District’s footprint, facilities or amenities, the Park Board 

review its 20 Year Capital Plan, an updated Community Wide Survey, economics, its financial 

position, participation trends, and dynamics of recreational activities along with the data included in 

the aforementioned three appendixes. 

 

o Acquisition and Disposal of Property: The Committee determined that a Park Board land 

acquisition and disposal policy document, which would codify the Board protocol under which such 

actions would be undertaken, could facilitate Board discussion, promote transparency within the 

community, and provide a decision-making roadmap.  See Appendix F for a proposed “Lake Bluff 

Park District Policy for the Acquisition, Inventory, Sale, Lease, and Retention of Public Property” 

drafted by Park District staff and attorneys with input from the Committee.  Such policy, if adopted, 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionF.pdf


 

Findings and Recommendations  Page 9 

would help to balance the wants and needs of the community with the flexibility necessary for the 

Park Board to fulfill its mission.  The Committee highly recommends that the Park Board establish 

detailed procedures outlining how the community and adjacent property owners will be notified of 

meetings pertaining to plans for the acquisition or sale of real estate.  These procedures should 

ensure the most effective means of communication are used and that ample notice is provided.  

The intent of the notification process should be directed at maximizing awareness of the meetings 

to help ensure the community has a reasonable opportunity to participate in the process.  It is 

expected that the Village and School Boards will also give serious consideration to adapting similar 

policies and procedures for their real estate planning process. 

• Village, Park District and School District Borders 

With the exception of the Knollwood community (which is not within the municipal limits of the Village), the 

Park District, Village and School District boundaries generally overlap, but are not identical.  (See Appendix 

A)  Several boundary anomalies were identified:  (see Appendix B). In general, local boundary issues have 

long and convoluted histories.  Boundary changes, while making “map sense,” may not be worth the time, 

effort and public expenditure of dollars, unless community members are deprived of community services as 

a result of otherwise arbitrary “lines on a map” (i.e. west end of Knollwood and north end of Shore Acres).  

The areas and parcels identified in Appendixes G-2 and H-1 and mapped in Appendix B are presented in 

order to document the boundary anomalies in a manner that could facilitate additional research and 

governmental action. The following is a summary of the specific boundary issues that the Committee 

identified.  

 

o Homes in the area north of the Shore Acres Country Club east of Sheridan Road are all within the 

Lake Bluff School District, and most of the homes are within the Village, but none of the homes are 

within the Lake Bluff Park District. 

o An apartment complex east of Green Bay Road is in the City of North Chicago and the Park District 

but not in the Village or School District. 

o Approximately 55 homes on the west side of Knollwood are in the School District but not the Park 

District.  This area is west of Bayonne Avenue. 

o The Park District includes the southern portion of the residential community in Great Lakes that is 

bordered on the east by Green Bay Road and on the north by Route 137.  This area is outside the 

northern boundary of the Village and School Districts. 

o The west border of Knollwood Park extends into Libertyville Township (outside of the Lake Bluff 

Park District boundaries). 

o There are some commercial properties along Route 41 that are not in the Village but are in the 

School and Park Districts. 

o All of Arden Shore North and South residential areas are in the Park District and School District but 

not in the Village. 

o The cemetery located in the northeast section of Lake Forest (east of Sheridan Rd. and north of 

Spruce Ave.) that is primarily accessed from Lake Road, extends over the border between Lake 

Forest and Lake Bluff. 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionA.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionA.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionB.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionB.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG2.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionH1.pdf


 

Findings and Recommendations  Page 10 

 Overall Open Space Land Uses  

o Consolidate ownership or control of small governmental parcels:  Many areas of open space 

within the community have overlapping governmental ownership.  For example, Sunrise Beach, 

Mawman Park, and the IL 176 and Sheridan Road greenways are each represented by a group 

parcels, some of which are owned by the Park District and others by the Village.  Time, effort and 

money could be expended to consolidate ownership of these and other parcels into one 

governmental entity.  What ownership or control consolidation could be pursued should be 

determined by the government entities involved.  Ease of operation, maintenance and clear 

delineation of liability were viewed by the Committee as factors the government bodies should 

consider. 

 

o Maintain green space corridors.  The Committee recommends that primary entranceways into 

the community be maintained as open green space, specifically the Sheridan Road corridor (north 

to south) and the IL 176 corridor (north and south sides).  Ownership and maintenance 

responsibilities are now shared between the Village, Park District, LBOLA, various transportation 

agencies and private land owners, and may need to be rationalized/consolidated to ensure future 

land use for these gateways can be controlled. 

 

o Ensure viability of lakefront assets.   Given the importance of the lakefront to the community, the 

Committee recommends that, as land use changes are considered, the Park District maintain a 

high level of transparency and public input.  Further, the Committee recommends that long-term 

conservation needs be incorporated into the final plan to ensure these assets remain viable for 

future generations.  Given the multiple uses of lakefront assets (sailing, kayaking, wind surfing, 

paddle boarding, swimming, etc.) the Committee recommends that the long-term plan for this area 

consider access and storage needs.  The Committee also recommends the continued study of the 

feasibility of linking the north end of the beach to Lillian Dells Drive in order to create another 

access point to beach facilities.  The Committee recognizes that such link could be prohibitively 

expensive, but believes that its inclusion in a long-term strategy of redevelopment is appropriate. 

 

o Maintain and enhance open space.  In general, the Committee recommends that, with the 

exception of special study areas noted below, existing forest preserve, parks, conservancies, open 

space easements and the like be maintained and, as possible, enhanced.  Existing privately owned 

open space should be monitored for possible conservancy initiatives. 

 

o Utilize LBOLA resources.  The Committee appreciates the initiatives of LBOLA through the years 

and encourages the Park District, Village and private property owners to use their resources for 

parcel management and maintenance as well as community education.  See Appendix H-2 for a 

LBOLA-created document that identifies parcels where the organization could potentially offer 

value-added services.  The ultimate decision on how and when to utilize LBOLA services rests with 

the owners of the respective parcels. 

 

o Establish a new zoning classification for park land.    Nearly all Park District properties are 

zoned as single family residential.  The Committee recommends the Park District work with the 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionH2.pdf


 

Findings and Recommendations  Page 11 

Village to establish more appropriate zoning classifications for these parcels.  The Committee also 

encourages the Village and School Boards to consider appropriate zoning of their properties. 

 

o Address priority issues.   The Committee has established a list of priority issues that it believes 

should receive more immediate attention from the various government entities.  These are 

provided in Appendix H-1. 

 

 Specific Open Space and Storage Spaces  

o Additions to Parks or School District Property or Transfers to Residents.  (See Appendix G-3)  The 

Committee identified a number of parcels that are generally under private ownership or are 

underutilized under public ownership that would complete or clarify the footprints of a number of 

parks.  Additionally, a number of rights-of-way may more appropriately be reverted to private 

ownership.  The Committee recommends additional study of these parcels to determine 

appropriate plans for future ownership and control. 

 

o Conservancy and Open Space.  (See Appendix G-4)  The Committee has identified a number of 

parcels that should be reviewed, either because a conservancy agreement has not been put in 

place or because land acquisition would enhance adjacent open space.   

 

o Community Storage/Meeting Facilities.  The Committee determined that a community 

storage/meeting facility would be welcomed by many governmental entities (although not the 

Village) and presumably by many of the community’s non-profit organizations.  The number of 

available parcels for new storage is limited (see Appendix G-5) but more analysis is required to 

determine the true need and investment that would be required. 

 

o Bike and Pedestrian Path Additions. The Committee identified a large number of utility easements, 

abandoned railroad rights-of-way, and unimproved right-of-ways that could form the backbone of 

extensions to the community bike/pedestrian path system (see Appendixes G-6 and G-6M).  The 

development of these paths would be costly (involving a number of bridges/tunnels over/under 

railroads and roads), but the Committee believes documentation of these paths (along with other 

bikeway strategic plans that have been developed in the last decade) would enhance the quality of 

life in the community, and that pursuit of appropriate funding is a reasonable ask of local 

government. 

 

 Northern Avenue Path.  This path will start in the for north-central section of Knollwood at 

Atkinson and Waukegan roads.  The path will proceed to the east along Atkinson and then 

turn south on the Northern Avenue right-of-way and terminate on the north side of IL 176.  This 

will require some form of safe passage over the Canadian National tracks that cut across 

Northern Avenue.  This proposal envisions providing a primary path for the residents of 

Knollwood to connect to the established path network on the south side of IL 176 as well as 

providing safe access to the emerging commercial corridor on IL 176 related to the Target 

development. 

 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionH1.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG3.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG4.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG5.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG6.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG6M.pdf


 

Findings and Recommendations  Page 12 

 West Blodgett Path.  This path would link Lake Bluff Elementary School and Blair Park to the 

already established bike path system to the east, extending from Green Bay Road to the east 

along the Blodgett right-of-way to the Union Pacific tracks.  A lane separation of Green Bay 

Road at W. Blodgett/W. Washington or a tunnel or bridge at Blodgett and Green Bay Road 

and another at Blodgett and the Union Pacific tracks or train crossing gates would enhance 

connectivity and safety. 

 

 Mawman Union Pacific Path.  This path would be an extension of the West Blodgett path.  It 

would run west of the Union Pacific tracks and behind the homes on Mawman Avenue.  It 

would cut in front of the Montessori school and continue to IL 176.  A tunnel under IL 176 

could provide safe passage to existing paths on IL 176 and a short ride to the Sheridan Road 

path, though the current bridge over IL 176 may prove sufficient. 

 

 West Terrace & Sunset Terrace Path.  Two connected paths are being proposed.  The first 

would run east from the existing Skokie Valley path through the Skokie Preserve and then 

continue east on the north edge of the Stonebridge development, crossing Green Bay Road 

east to and through Mawman Park with a connection to the existing Sheridan Road path.  

(Two bridges over the Union Pacific freight tracks and passenger tracks would enhance 

connectivity and safety.)  The second would involve establishing a path on the Sunset Terrace 

right-of-way from West Hawthorne Court to West Prospect Avenue.  This would connect the 

West Terrace Path with the existing North Shore Bike Path on the south side of IL 176. 

 

 Artesian Park Path.  This proposed path running east to west through Artesian Park just south 

of the tennis courts would supplement the new path about to be constructed by the Village 

along the far northwestern edge of the Public Safety Building and the far northwestern edge of 

Artesian Park.  The proposed Artesian Park Path would provide a westerly continuation of the 

current path that connects the Artesian Park tennis court parking lot with the entrance on the 

south end of the tennis courts.  The completed east/west Artesian Park Path would provide a 

direct connection with East Prospect Avenue and an improved overall bike/pedestrian route 

connection between the lakefront and the Village areas west of Sheridan Road. 

 

 Tunnel North Under IL 176 West of Green Bay Road.  This would provide safe passage from 

the existing North Shore Bike Path on the south side of IL 176 to Blair Park and Lake Bluff 

Elementary School via Eva Terrace. 

 

 North Extension Path.  Support LCDOT plans for the Skokie Valley Bike Path to extend 

northerly from its current terminus at Illinois Route 176 to and beyond Route 137 along a route 

parallel to the Union Pacific freight line located westerly of the Lake Bluff golf course. 

 

o The Committee identified a number of parcels that are currently under review by the local 

governmental entities.  These parcels should be considered special study areas since either land 

use changes or additional governmental costs are involved (see Appendix G-7).  The Committee 

hopes that the parcel inventory, the Themes and Guiding Principles, and the Acquisition/Disposal 

Policy recommendation developed as part of its review process will be helpful in sorting through 

the competing land use options. 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG7.pdf


 

Findings and Recommendations  Page 13 

 

 Stonebridge Development.  As part of the redevelopment of the Stonebridge estate property, 

the current developer has proposed the development of a community park within the 

conservancy area.  The developer has also proposed a Park District property along the south 

side of the Stonebridge Manor Home. The Committee, while applauding the proposed addition 

of park facilities to the West Terrace neighborhood, recommends that the Village and Park 

District analyze the financial responsibilities that would inure to their entities if the proposed 

parks were to be developed.   

 

 Village-Owned Parcel South of IL 176 East of the Water Treatment Plant.  The Committee 

discussed a number of alternative uses for this parcel, and agreed that current usage (open, 

passive, undeveloped) was not optimal.    A wide variety of alternative uses were discussed 

but, without guidance from the governmental entities (concerning, among other things, the 

commercial value of the parcel), no recommendation is forthcoming.  However, to stimulate 

future land use discussions, the following are among the alternative uses discussed; 

eradication of invasive species was deemed to be a necessity in all cases.  This parcel is large 

enough that a number of these alternative uses could be accommodated at the same time: 

 Passive open space 

 Addition to Skokie Preserve property 

 Active open space (baseball or soccer fields, etc.) 

 Community garden 

 Housing; senior or alternative, with appropriate retail support 

 Single family housing 

 Community gathering place 
 

 Blair Park and Golf Course.  The largest parcel owned by the Park District, the future of the 

varied uses at Blair Park will certainly be the subject of debate and discussion in coming 

years.  Without guidance as to the desire/need to change current uses in order to reduce Park 

District debt/increase revenue, the Committee discussions were merely speculative.  However, 

a number of baseline paths are apparent and should be the subject of a special study.  Most of 

the discussion will be around the future use of the land now occupied by the golf course; the 

Park District strategic plans should guide that conversation.  Discussion paths could include 

the following: 
 

 No change.  Blair Park and the golf course would remain as is 

 Close the golf course and determine future land use 

 Passive/active open space 

 Sale of all or part of the golf course property 

 Convert golf course into a nine-hole course and determine future land use for the 

balance of the property; 

 Passive/active open space 

 Sale of all or part of the remaining property 

For list of parcels with no recommended action see Appendix G-1. 

 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG1.pdf


 

Next Steps  Page 14 

V. Next Steps 

This report has been approved by the Property and Land Use Advisory Committee members identified below at its 

meeting on July 21, 2015 and the Committee requests that it be submitted to the Park Board shortly thereafter.  The 

co-chairs of the Committee would like to formally present our findings and engage the Board in discussion at a future 

date. 

The Committee members thank the Park Board for their consideration of this report. 

The Committee members also thank the staff of the Park District for their guidance and assistance during this 18-

month journey. 

Respectfully Submitted 

Steve Kraus, Co-Chair 

Jim Moss, Co-Chair 

Rob Douglass, Representative Park District Board of Commissioners 

Mark Dewart, Representative Lake Bluff Village Board of Trustees 

Julie Gottshall, Representative Lake Bluff School District Board #65 

Bill Nordeen, Representative Lake Bluff Open Lands Association 

George Russell, Representative Community-at-Large 

Nicki Snoblin, Representative Community-at-Large 

Dan Reidy, Representative Community-at-Large 

Ron Salski, Staff Liaison 

 



 

List of Appendixes  Page 15 

VI. List of Appendixes 

Appendix Content Summary
A Map of Village, Park District, and School District boundaries

B Map of Boundary Discrepancies

C-1 Sector Summary Map

C-2 North East Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets

C-3 North West Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets

C-4 Commercial Park Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets

C-5 South Central Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets

C-6 North Central Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets

C-7 South East Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets

C-8 Parcel Summary By Owner and Maintenance

D Guiding Principles and Themes

E-1 Parks and Properties Matrix

E-2 Facility Needs Assessment

E-3 Level of Service Analysis

F Draft Land Acquisition and Disposal Policy

G-1 Parcel Summary: Parcels Requiring No Further Action

G-2 Parcel Summary: Governmental Boundary Issues, Administrative and Legal Review

G-3 Parcel Summary: Additions to Park District or School Districts and Transfer to Residents

G-4 Parcel Summary: Conservancy and Open Space Preservation 

G-5 Parcel Summary: Community Storage and Meeting Facilities

G-6 & G-6M Parcel Summary: Pedestrian/Bike Path Proposal

G-7 Parcel Summary: Special Study Areas (Stonebridge, Village-owned parcel next to JAWA, Blair Park/Golf Course)

H-1 Parcel Summary: Priority Project List

H-2 Parcel Summary: Parcels Where LBOLA Resources Could Be Employed

 

http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionA.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionB.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC1.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC2.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC3.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC4.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC5.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC6.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC7.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionD.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionC8.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionE1.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionE2.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionE3.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionF.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG1.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG2.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG3.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG4.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG5.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG6.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionG7.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionH1.pdf
http://www.lakebluffparks.org/documents/property-land-use/SectionH2.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

 

A  Map of Village, Park District, and School District Boundaries 

                        Map 1 Page 



jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix A Boundary Comparison Map

admin
Typewritten Text

admin
Typewritten Text

admin
Typewritten Text
Appendix A Boundary Comparison Map



 

 

 

 

 

 

B  Map of Boundary Discrepancies 

  Map 1 Page 



Foss
Park

District

Lake
Bluff
Park

District

Lake County, Illinois

Lake County
Department of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

3,000 ft

Map Printed on 7/21/2015

Geographic Information System

Municipalities
Park Districts
Trails

 

¯
 

Disclaimer: The selected feature may not occur anywhere in the current map extent.  A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundarieson the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design.  This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

grussell
Text Box
         Boundary Discrepancy Exhibit 

grussell
Text Box
  Appendix B

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
In VillageIn SD, Not in PD

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
In PDNot in Village Not in SD

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
In SDNot in Village Not In PD

grussell
Line

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Text Box
West Edge of Knollwood Park is Located Outside of LB Park District Boundaries

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
In PDIn SDNot in Village 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
In PDIn SDNot In Village 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
In SD, In PDNot In Village 

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
In SDNot In Village Not In PD

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Blue Line DenotesLB Park DistrictBoundary 

grussell
Text Box
"PD" Denotes LB Park District"SD" Denotes LB School District

grussell
Text Box
    LB Park    District 

grussell
Text Box
In PD, In SDNot In Village 

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Text Box
Far Northerly Edge of Lake Forest CemeteryLocated in Lake Bluff

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Revised July 22, 2015



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐1    Sector Summary Map 

    Map 1 Page 



Lake County, Illinois

Lake County
Department of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

3,000 ft

Map Printed on 7/8/2015

Geographic Information System

Tax Parcels
Municipalities
Trails

 

¯
 

Disclaimer: The selected feature may not occur anywhere in the current map extent.  A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundarieson the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design.  This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

grussell
Text Box
                Sector Overview Map 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  NORTH EAST      SECTOR

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  SOUTH    EAST  SECTOR

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
   SOUTH  CENTRAL   SECTOR 

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
   NORTH  CENTRAL   SECTOR

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  NORTH    WEST  SECTOR

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  COMMERCIAL       SECTOR

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
NORTHERLY LIMITOF LB PARK DISTRICT

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
WESTERLYLIMIT OF LB PARK DISTRICT

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
     LAKE BLUFF    MUNICIPAL LIMITSSHOWN WITH LIGHT          GREEN     BACKGROUND

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
07/08/2015

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix C-1



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐2  North East Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets 

  Sector Summary Review Form 2 Pages 

  Sector Map 1 Page 

  Parcel Maps and Fact Sheets 8 Pages 



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels
IDOT Parcels

Village Parcels

Lake County Parcels

Private Owner 6 Parcels

Summary

9 Parcels
1 Parcel

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

               SECTOR SUMMARY REVIEW FORM: North East Sector

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix C-2 North East Consolidated



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

IDOT-1 80 ft. strip IDOT LB

Sheridan road bike path/ Bike path 

and open space I A C-E & RR

Village obtain; Potential 

rezoning

Village owns bike 

path; IDOT owns 

open space

Village gain control via 

jurisidictional transfer

bike path & adjacent

LB-1 2.4 acres LB LB

SW corner Crab Tree Farm/ Open 

Woods U P E-1

No change; Place in 

conservancy; Rezone

Potential deed 

restrictions: leave in 

natural state Place in conservancy

LCDT-1 100 ft. strip LCDT GL

West of RR tracks & Storm water 

detention U P C-E

No change; potential 

rezoning

Great Lakes has 

leased

PP-1 25.5 acres P P

Former Arden Shore Child & Family 

Services/Vacant U P C-E

Residential; Monitor if use 

or density changes Property is for sale monitor sale, use & zoning

PP-2 5.1 acres P P Arbor Drive subdivision/Vacant U P C-E

Dedicated open space or 

residential

Property contains 

some wetlands monitor sale, use & zoning

PP-3a 4.1 acres P P Arbor Drive subdivision/Vacant U P C-E Residential Connected to PP-3b

PP-3b 26 acres P P

Sheridan Rd access/Single family 

home at lake I A C-E

Residential; Monitor if use 

or density changes

PP-3a and PP-3b 

under common 

ownership

PP-4 220 acres P P

Crab Tree farm/Estates; Historic 

farm; Conservancy U/I P/A C-E & E-1 No change

60% of property in 

conservancy

PP-5 154.9 ACRES P P Shoreacres golf course I A C-E

No change; Monitor if use 

or density changes

Borders create mix of 

parcels in village and 

Park District

Put all of SA in village and

LBPD

North East Sector 9 Parcels

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 07/23/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
NORTHEAST QUADRANT MAP

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
IDOT - 1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB - 1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LCDOT - 1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-1

grussell
Callout
PP-2

grussell
Callout
Quadrant Boundary

grussell
Text Box
PP-4Crab Tree Farm

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Quadrant Boundary

grussell
Text Box
NortheastQuadrant Parcels

grussell
Callout
PP-3b

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Text Box
PP-5

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB Park DistrictNorthern Limit

grussell
Callout
Village of Lake Bluff Northern Limit

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Last Modified 2/4/15Split Parcel "3" into "3a and 3b"

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
  PP-3a



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/24/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     IDOT-1 - Sheridan Road and McClory Bike Path Parcel              (Bike Path on Former Electric Railroad ROW) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
IDOT-1 

grussell
Text Box
Last Updated 1/14/2015



 
LOCATION : 
 
Parallel and West of Sheridan Road  
Extending from East Blodgett Avenue on the 
south to the Village limit on the north 
 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
IDOT-1 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
IDOT owns Land 
Village owns McClory Bike Path  
 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
Land Extends full length of Sector. Parcel is  
80-feet wide from Crab Tree Farm entrance on 
the south to Village limit on the north. Varies 
from 80-feet in width at Crab Tree Farm Entrance 
on the north to East Blodgett Avenue on the 
south.  

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  PAGES 89, 91,97, 99, 105, and 107 
 
PIN Number assignments are not clear along full length 
 
 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
 
Open Space along west side of Sheridan Road 
improved with the McClory Bike Path.  
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
 
The McClory Bike Path was constructed by the Village 
of Lake Bluff in the mid to late 1980’s. Underlying 
Property owned by IDOT on land that was formerly 
owned by the Chicago North Shore Electric Railroad 
Company  
Lake County Tax Maps  Reference Document No. 92724 
along eastern edge of parcel. 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
Active Railroad Lines along western edge and 
Sheridan Road along eastern edge 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
C-E Country Estate from Crab Tree Farm entrance 
extending north 
R-R Railroad Zoning from Crab Tree Farm entrance 
extending to southerly Village limit 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
See Parcel Callout on Northeast Sector Map 
(IDOT-1) 
 
See Typical Cross-Section Aerial at Railroad 

Issues and Disposition  
 
License agreements with IDOT for McClory Bike Path 
should be reviewed.  Research Document 92724. 
Consider Acquisition of land from IDOT to preserve 
open space.  
Village should rezone property  



 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/24/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
    LCDOT - 1  -  Lake County Division of Transportation        Parcel - Leased to Great Lakes Naval Training Center 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LCDOT-1

grussell
Text Box
Village Boundary

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Last Updated 1/24/2015



 
LOCATION : 
 
Parallel and west of Union Pacific Railroad 
extending from northerly Village limit to north 
end of Campbell Court Subdivision 
 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
LCDOT-1 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
LCDOT owns land 
 
 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
Land is generally 100-feet in width by 3,930 feet 
in length,  with one 1,500 foot section of the 
3,930 feet at 125-feet in width.  

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  Pages 78, 80, and 118 
 
PIN Numbers not yet researched 
 
 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
 
LCDOT in approximately 2010 leased the land to 
the Great Lakes Naval Training Center for 
Stormwater Detention and Open Space. 
(Primarily Stormwater Detention)  
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
 
Land Use GLNTC control for foreseeable future 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
Active Railroad Lines along eastern edge, GLNTC 
on westerly edge.  

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
C-E Country Estate Residential 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
See Parcel Callout on Northeast Sector Map 
(LCDOT-1) 
 
See Typical Cross Section Aerial at Railroad  

Issues and Disposition  
 
Village should rezone property  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 07/22/2014
Parcel 12-16-300-005 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Tax Parcels: 1216300005

Forest Preserves

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       LB - 1 Open Space Parcel      Owned by Village of Lake Bluff 

grussell
Callout
LAKE BLUFF -1

grussell
Text Box
Conservation Area

grussell
Callout
Sheridan Road 

grussell
Text Box
East Blodgett Avenue 

grussell
Typewritten Text

grussell
Text Box
Southwest Corner of Crab Tree Farms

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Callout
Headwaters of Pettibone Creek

grussell
Callout
Sheridan Road 



 
LOCATION : 
 
Vacant parcel on east side of Sheridan Road 
extending from East Blodgett Avenue to the 
north approximately 1,025 feet 
 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
Lake Bluff (LB-1) 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
Lake Bluff  
 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
2.4 acres  
100’ x  1,025’ (Approx.)  

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  PAGE 107  
12-16-300-005 
 
 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
Vacant wooded property  
 
Property is enclosed with a chain link fence 
on west and south sides.  Due to adjacent 
fencing on Crab Tree Farm parcels, the 
Village parcel appears to be part of Crab 
Tree Farm. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
William McCormick Blair, past owner of Crab Tree 
Farm, donated the strip of land to the Village 
stipulating that “it be left in its natural state”. 
(Source – Page 109 of Elmer Vliet’s book – Lake Bluff 
the First 100 Years) 
Lake County GIS Records Reference Document No. 
92724 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
Sheridan Road on the west, Crab Tree Farm  
Parcels to the north and east; East Blodgett 
Avenue and single family residential to the 
south 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
Estate 1 – Residential  

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Photo  

Issues and Disposition  
 
No apparent public access  
Research Document 92724 and other conveyance  
Restrictions. 
Village should rezone property  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 07/23/2014
Parcel 12-16-101-007 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Tax Parcels: 1216101007

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
        PRIVATE PARCEL - 1  (Former Arden Shore Child and Family                  Services Property)

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-1

grussell
Callout
Extends to Sheridan Road- This parcel is south of and parallel to Shoreacres Road entrance

grussell
Text Box
Last Modified 1/24/2015



 
LOCATION : 
 
East of Sheridan Road just south of Shore  
Acres Country Club (Arden Shore Road North) 
(500 Arden Shore Road)  Parcel has Lake 
Michigan Frontage 

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
PP-1 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
Private Ownership 
Vencom Residential Holdings, LLC 
 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
 25.5 Acres 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  Pages 97, 98, and 101 
 
PIN 12-16-101-007 
 
 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
 
Property is Currently Vacant and has been for 
about 20 years 
Former Site of Arden Shore Child and Family 
Services Facilities  
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
 
Well on Property – Status of Septic not known.  
Private Access Road off of Sheridan Road  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
Shore Acres Golf Course to North and West 
Single Family Residential to South 
Lake Michigan to east  

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
C-E Country Estate Residential 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Photograph 
Tax Parcel Report  
2012 Tax Bill  

Issues and Disposition  
 
Property Has Been Offered for Sale in Recent Years 
No public water or sanitary sewer 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 07/23/2014
Parcel 12-16-103-001 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Tax Parcels: 1216103001

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                  PRIVATE PARCEL - 2                     600 ARBOR DRIVE

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Callout
Pettibone Creek Headwaters

grussell
Callout
PP-2

grussell
Text Box
Last Modified 1/21/2015



 
LOCATION : 
 
Southeast Corner of Sheridan Road and Arbor 
Drive (#600 Arbor Drive) 

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
PP-2 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
Private Ownership 
Marietta Hance 
 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
 220,849 SF  
5.1 Acres 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  Page 99 
 
PIN 12-16-103-001 
 
 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
 
Property is Currently Vacant and has been since 
lot created as part of subdivision along Arbor 
Drive 
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
 
Property was acquired by current owner several years 
ago to prevent  construction of single family residence. 
Property owner possibly interested in conserving 
parcel  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
 
Single Family Residential to South, East and 
North 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
C-E Country Estate Residential 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Photograph 
Tax Parcel Report  
2012 Tax Bill  

Issues and Disposition  
 
Eastern end of parcel is a wetland and subject to  
Flooding – Upper end of Pettibone Creek bisects parcel 
at western end.  
 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 07/24/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
      PRIVATE PARCELS 3A and 3b            1001 Sheridan Road               and 575 Arbor Drive            (Common Ownership) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-3a (1001 Sheridan Road) 

grussell
Callout
PP-3b (575 Arbor Drive - Vacant) 

grussell
Text Box
Last Modified 1/24/2015



 
LOCATION : 
 
East of Sheridan Road and North of Crab Tree 
Farm 
1001 Sheridan Road  
and 
Vacant Lot on South Side of Arbor Drive near east 
end (575 Arbor Drive) 

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
PP-3a and 3b 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
Private Ownership 
Lucia Ellis Uihlein, Trustee (Arbor Drive Lot) 
Richard Uihlein and Uihlien Trust 
 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
 575 Arbor Drive – 4.1 Acres (Parcel 3b) 
 
1001 Sheridan Road  
315’ Wide by @ 3,575 in Length 
 @ 26 Acres  (Parcel 3a) 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  Page 99, 100, & 103 
 
PIN 12-16-103-001 
 
 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
 
4.1 Acre lot off Arbor Drive is a wooded vacant 
lot 
 
26 Acre Parcel off of Sheridan Road is improved 
with one home on east end – primarily vacant 
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
 
Property may be for sale soon 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
 
Single Family Residential in all directions except 
to west for larger parcel on Sheridan Road 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
C-E Country Estate Residential 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Photograph 
Tax Parcel Reports 
2012 Tax Bill s 

Issues and Disposition  
 
Upper end of Pettibone Creek Bisects Parcel which is 
subject to flooding 
No municipal water or sewer  
 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 07/24/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
                 PRIVATE PARCEL - 4                   CRABTREE FARM       CONSERVATION  AREA PARCELS

grussell
Callout
CrabTree Farm ConservationParcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Last Updated 1/24/2015

grussell
Text Box
Above exhibit calls out general areas of conservation but does not call out all areas in detail



 
LOCATION : 
 
Crab Tree Farm Parcel  
Approximately 220 acres east of Sheridan Road 
and north of E. Blodgett Avenue  

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
PP-4 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
Private Ownership 
Various  
 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
Approximately 220 Acres Total  
Approximately 3,725’ east to west and  
Approximately 2,735 north to south 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  Pages 105 - 109 
 
Various PINs (not yet researched)  
 
 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
 
Single Family, Historical Farm, Conservation Open 
Space 
 
 
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
 
Approximately 60 percent of total land area has been 
placed into Conservation Easements 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
 
Primarily Single Family Residential except to west 
where northern half is along RR tracks and south 
half borders vacant Village owned parcel  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
C-E Country Estate Residential – northern 2/3rds 
 
E-1 Estate Residential – southern 1/3rd 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Photograph 
Land Use Map Showing Conservation Areas 
     (Light Green)  

Issues and Disposition  
 
Upper end of Pettibone Creek enters farm on west and 
exits at north end – flooding during significant rains 
 
Southerly portion along East Blodgett served with  
Municipal water and sewer – remainder is well and 
septic  
 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/24/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
        PP-5 - Shoreacres Country Club Parcels 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-5 - Shoreacres Country Club - Area Within "RED"

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Area Bordered In Blue Not Within Village Municipal Limits

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Northern Limit of Lake Bluff Park District

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Created 1/24/2015



 
LOCATION : 
 
Parcel on east side of Sheridan Road extending 
from Arden Shore Rd and Shore Acres Road on 
south to GLNTC on north and Lake Michigan on 
east.  Approx. 155 acres 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO.: 
 
Private Property (PP-5) 

OWNERSHIP: 
 
Shore Acres 

SECTOR STUDY AREA:  
 
Northeast 

SIZE:  
 
154.9 acres  
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 
SHIELDS -  PAGE XXX  
12-16-101-001 (Village and LBPD) 
12-16-101-002 (LBPD) 
12-16-101-003 (LBPD) 
12-16-101-004 (LBPD) 
12-09-301-003 (Village and Foss Park) 
12-09-301-008 (Village and Foss Park) 
12-09-301-017 (Village and Foss Park) 
12-09-301-018 (Foss Park) 
13-09-401-017 (Foss Park) 
 

CURRENT USES OF PROPERTY:  
Golf course and country club facilities 
 

MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, EASEMENTS, ETC.): 
None  
 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  
GLNTC to north and Arden Shore to south.  Limited 
residential development within shore Acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 
C-E  

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Photo  

Issues and Disposition  
 
Border issues.  Some land not within LB 
Village borders, some land not within LBPD 
borders.  All seems to be in LB 65 and Shields 
115 

NES PP-5 

JULY 15, 2014 



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐3  North East Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets 

  Sector Summary Review Form 3 Pages 

  Sector Map 1 Page 

  IDOT‐2 Fact Sheet 1 Page, Maps 2 Pages 

  Additional Parcel Maps and Fact Sheets 16 Pages 

   



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels
IDOT Parcels

Park District

Private Owner

Township Parcels

Unidentified Owner 1 Parcel

Summary

19 Parcels
1 Parcel

5 Parcels

8 Parcels

4 Parcels

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

               SECTOR SUMMARY REVIEW FORM: North West Sector

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix C-3 North West Consolidated



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

IDOT-2 40.1 acres IDOT IDOT

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to PP-

8 & PP-9 U P County

No change; Wetland & 

open space

Development 

unlikely because of 

wetlands

PD-1a 2.36 acres PD PD

Knollwood Park owned by Park 

District/Park I A County

No change; purchase 

adjacent PP-12 and PP-13; 

correct park boundaries

Pursue vacation of 

portions of W 

Washington and 

Bayonne Ave

Pursue vacation of portions of 

W Washington and Bayonne 

Ave

PD-1b <1 acre T PD

Knollwood Park/Bayonne Ave ROW 

owned  by Township I A County

No change; vacate Bayonne 

ROW; expand west PD 

boundary

Area now outside of 

PD boundaries

Vacate ROW; Expand west

boundary of LBPD

PD-2 2.52 acres PD PD Sanctuary Park eastern parcel/Park I A R-6

No change.  Restore via 

LBOLA to native woodland 

understory

Correct wetland 

acreage in Lake Co 

records

PD-3 4.6 acres PD PD Sanctuary Park western parcel/Park I A R-6

No change.  Restore via 

LBOLA to native woodland 

understory

Correct wetland 

acreage in Lake Co 

records

PD-4 2.85 acres PD PD Park District baseball fields I A County No change

Clarify PD ownership 

of Parcel U-1

PP-10 2.91 acres P P

Former West School/Gov. offices & 

schools I A County

No change; monitor if 

change of use proposed

Is agreement in place 

with PD for use of 

parking lot?

Monitor change of use/sale.  

Acquire to protect park to 

east

PP-11 8.44 acres P P

"Triangle" property at Rt. 41 & EJE 

RR/Vacant U P L-1

No change; monitor if 

change of use proposed

Development 

proposals; storm 

water issues

PP-12 .36 acres P P

Private lot east of Knollwood 

park/Vacant U P County

Purchase as addition to 

Knollwood Park

Parking lot north of 

parcel is in ROW

Addition to Knollwood Park; 

keep as open space

PP-13 .36 acres P P

Private lot east of Knollwood 

park/Vacant U P County

Purchase as addition to 

Knollwood Park New Construction?

Addition to Knollwood Park; 

keep as open space

PP-6 21 acres HOA HOA

Sanctuary Homeowners Assoc                              

Unit 1 Out lot H/Wetlands U P R-6

No change; Open space 

conservation area Primarily wetland

PP-7 12.4 acres HOA HOA

Sanctuary Homeowners Assoc                               

Unit 2; Out lot H/Wetlands U P R-6

No change; Open space 

conservation area Primarily wetland

PP-8 18 acres P P

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to PP-

9 & IDOT-2/Vacant U P County

No change; Wetland & 

open space

Development 

unlikely because of 

wetlands

Does private ownership

provide protection desired

PP-9 1.95 acres P P

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to PP-

9 & IDOT-2/Vacant U P County

No change; Wetland & 

open space

Development 

unlikely because of 

wetlands

Does private ownership

provide protection desired

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

North West Sector 19 Parcels



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

North West Sector 19 Parcels

T-1 .50 acres T T

Shields Township Highway 

Department I A County No change

T-2a T T

Unimproved ROW at east end of 

Atkinson U P County Construct bike path Size includes T-2b

Bike path connect 176

& Atkinson Rd.

T-2b 4650 ft. T T

Generally unimproved Northern 

Ave ROW U/I P County

Construct bike path; 

connect Atkinson RD and 

Rt. 176

Need bridge over 

EJ&E tracks

Bike path connect 176

& Atkinson Rd.

T-4 .04 acres T T

Knollwood Memorial Park; at 

Foster, Muir & Birch I I County

No change; monitor for 

change in use

Community group

maintain as well

U-1 .06 acres U PD Part of baseball field & parking lot I A County No change Clarify PD ownership Determine owner



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/10/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

Trails

2011 Buildings

grussell
Text Box
    NORTH WEST SECTOR OVERVIEW MAP 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Bayonne Ave. 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PD -1 Knollwood Park 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-12

grussell
Callout
PP-13

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Callout
PD-2

grussell
Callout
PD-3

grussell
Text Box
PP-6

grussell
Text Box
PP-7

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-8

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-9

grussell
Text Box
IDOT-2

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PD-4

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
T-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-10

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-11

grussell
Text Box
T-2

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
U-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
T-4

grussell
Callout
Sector Border 

grussell
Text Box
Area West of BayonneAvenue is Not In Lake Bluff Park District

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/10/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

Trails

2011 Buildings

grussell
Text Box
Northwest Quadrant Map

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
This Area is Not in the Lake Bluff Park District But is Within Lake Bluff Elementary School District 65 and Lake Forest High School District 115

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Bayonne Ave. 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014
Parcel 12-18-100-001 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218100001

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                NWS- IDOT-2 - ADID WETLAND AREA               NORTH OF SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION 

grussell
Callout
PARCEL IDOT-2

grussell
Callout
US HIGHWAY 41

grussell
Text Box
SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION

grussell
Callout
ILLINOIS ROUTE 43

grussell
Text Box
IDOTPARCELS

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/6/2015



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Wetlands

Tax Parcels

ADID with 100ft Buffer

ADID Boundary

grussell
Text Box
ADID AND COUNTY WETLAND EXHIBIT - VICINITY OF PARCEL IDOT-2

grussell
Callout
COUNTY WETLAND -TYPICAL - LIGHT SHADING ON MAP 

grussell
Callout
ADID WETLAND BOUNDARY - TYPICAL

grussell
Callout
100-FOOT BUFFER FOR ADID WETLANDS

grussell
Text Box
WETLAND AREAS SHOWN ARE ESTIMATES - IN FIELD DELINEATIONS REQUIRED FOR EXACT BOUNDARIES

grussell
Line



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: IDOT-2 (ADID WETLAND) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   IDOT-2  
 
LOCATION:   NORTH OF SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION  
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NOS 129;  PARCEL PIN 12-18-100-001 
 
OWNERSHIP:   ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    40.1 ACRES 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   COUNTY ZONING _________________________ 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   OPEN SPACE – ADID WETLAND 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  ______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   WETLAND TO NORTH, RESIDENTIAL IN NORTH CHICAGO LIMITS TO 
WEST, WETLAND TO EAST,  AND SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION TO SOUTH 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  ADID WETLANDS – DEVELOPMENT OF ANY TYPE VERY UNLIKELY; PARCEL 
SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE NORTH CHICAGO/LAKE BLUFF BOUNDARY AGREEMENT 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   COUNTY ADID WETLAND MAP 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   NO CHANGE  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
      NWS-PD-1 - LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT'S KNOLLWOOD PARK                                  

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PD-1- Park District Owned Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
W. Woodland Ave.

grussell
Text Box
W. Washington Ave.

grussell
Text Box
W. North Ave.

grussell
Callout
Jenkinson Ave. 

grussell
Callout
Park District GravelParking Lot WithinW. Washington ROW

grussell
Text Box
Route 176

grussell
Callout
Bayonne Ave. 

grussell
Callout
Park Within Bayonne  Avenue ROW

grussell
Callout
Park Within Bayonne Ave. ROW

grussell
Callout
Private Lot - New Home Under Construciton  

grussell
Callout
Private Lot Improved With Shed

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Dashed Blue Line Denotes Western Limit of Park District Boundary Per Current County Records

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Solid Red Line Denotes Knollwood ParkFunctional Boundary 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: PD-1 (KNOLLWOOD PARK) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PD-1  
 
LOCATION:   ALONG BAYONNE AVENUE ROW ADJACENT AT WEST END OF WEST  
                       WOODLAND, WEST WASHINGTON, AND EAST NORTH AVENUES. 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NO. 145 AND LIBERTYVILLE TAX MAP 374; 

                        PARCEL PINS 11-24-200-038 AND 12-19-100-001 
 
OWNERSHIP:   LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT SHIELDS TOWNSHIP ROW (PORTIONS  
                           OF BAYONNE AVENUE AND W. WASHINGTON AVENUE 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    1.05 ACRES (PIN 11-24-200-038); 1.31 ACRES (PIN 12-19-100-001); 

               SHIELDS TOWNSHIP ROW ESTIMATED AT LESS THAN 1 ACRE 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   COUNTY ZONING ____________________________ 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:  LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT’S KNOLLWOOD PARK IMPROVED 
WITH BASEBALL/SOFTBALL FIELD, TWO PLAY AREAS, BASKETBALL COURT, PAVED WALKWAY, 
GRAVEL PARKING LOT AND PICNIC TABLE 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  _______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL TO EAST AND SOUTHEAST RAILROAD 
TRACKS TO THE NORTH; AND COMMERCIAL TO WEST AND SOUTHWEST 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  COUNTY RECORDS SHOW PARTS OF BAYONNE AVENUE AND WEST 
WASHINGTON AVENUE HAVE NOT BEEN VACATED BUT ARE IMPROVED WITH PARK FACILITIES 
AND GRAVEL PARKING LOT.  MAJORITY OF GRAVEL PARKING LOT FRONTS A PRIVATELY OWNED 
APPARENTLY BUILDABLE LOT. DOES PARK DISTRICT HAVE THE LEGAL RIGHT TO RETAIN THE 
PARKING IF A HOME IS BUILT ON THE VACANT LOT?  COUNTY RECORDS INDICATE THE FAR 
WESTERN BORDER OF THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT IS UP THE ORIGINAL BAYONNE AVENUE 
ROW.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   PARK DISTRICT BOUNDARY EXHIBIT; SHIELDS TAX MAP 145 AND LIBERTYVILLE 
TAX MAP 374 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   EVALUATE ACQUISITION OF VACANT LOT ON NORTH SIDE OF 
EAST NORTH AVENUE JUST EAST OF PARK AND ACQUISITION OF LOT IMPROVED WITH A SHED 
ON SOUTH SIDE OF W. WASHINGTON AVENUE JUST EAST OF PARK.  PURSUE CORRECTION OF 
WESTERN LIMIT OF PARK DISTRICT BOUNDARY.  PURSUE WEST WASHINGTON PARKING LOT 
ISSUE (VACATE AS MUCH OF WEST END OF W. WASHINGTON AVENUE AS POSSIBLE.  PURSUE 
VACATION OF SECTIONS OF BAYONNE AVENUE ALREADY FUNCTIONING AS PARK GROUNDS. 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/12/2014
Parcel 12-18-101-080 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218101080

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
        NWS-PD-2 - LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT'S SANCTUARY PARK           LOCATED IN SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION UNIT 1 (OUTLOT G)

grussell
Text Box
Atkinson Avenue 

grussell
Callout
Birch Avenue

grussell
Callout
Parcel PD-2Sanctuary Park 

grussell
Text Box
Sanctuary Park Outlot F

grussell
Text Box
Sanctuary Homeowner Association's Outlot H

grussell
Text Box
Sanctuary Lane

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: PD-2 (SANCTUARY PARK – EASTERN PARCEL) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PD-2 
 
LOCATION:   IN SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION OF ATKINSON AVENUE 
AND BIRCH AVENUE 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NOS. 131 AND 132;  
PARCEL PIN 12-18-101-080 
 
OWNERSHIP:   LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    2.52 ACRES 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-6  
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   IMPROVED PARK WITH PLAYGROUND, SHELTER AND SOCCER 
FIELD 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  ______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   SURROUNDED BY RESIDENTIAL AND WETLANDS TO NORTH 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  COUNTY RECORDS INDICATED APPROXIMATE 1.0 ACRES OF ADID 
WETLANDS ON PARCEL – THAT DATA IS BELIEVED TO BE INCORRECT – ADID WETLANDS ARE 
NOT WITHIN PARCEL 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   COUNTY PROPERTY INFORMATION WHICH INDICATES WETLANDS ON PARCEL  
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   MAINTAIN USE AS AN IMPROVED PARK; PURSUE CORRECTION 
OF WETLAND DATA WITH COUNTY 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/12/2014
Parcel 12-18-101-074 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218101074

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
         NWS-PD-3 - LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT'S SANCTUARY PARK              LOCATED IN SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION UNIT 1 (OUTLOT F)

grussell
Text Box
Sanctuary Lane

grussell
Text Box
Sanctuary HomeownerAssociation's Outlot H

grussell
Callout
Parcel PD-3Sanctuary Park 

grussell
Text Box
Sanctuary Park Outlot G

grussell
Text Box
Atkinson Ave.

grussell
Callout
Birch Ave.

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: PD-3 (SANCTUARY PARK – WESTERN PARCEL) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PD-3 
 
LOCATION:   IN SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION OF ATKINSON AVENUE  
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NO. 131; PARCEL PIN 12-18-101-074 
 
OWNERSHIP:   LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    4.6 ACRES 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-6  
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   WOODLAND PARK AREA WITH WALKING PATH 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  ______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   SURROUNDED BY RESIDENTIAL AND WETLANDS TO NORTH 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  COUNTY RECORDS INDICATED APPROXIMATE 4.6 ACRES OF WETLANDS ON 
PARCEL – THAT DATA IS NOT CORRECT 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   COUNTY PROPERTY INFORMATION WHICH INDICATES WETLANDS ON PARCEL  
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   MAINTAIN USE AS A WOODLAND PARK WITH PATH; PURSUE 
CORRECTION OF WETLAND DATA WITH COUNTY 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014
Parcel 12-18-317-024 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218317024

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                 NWS-PD-4 - Lake Bluff Park District's Knollwood Ball Fields                        (Between Foster and Muir East of Waukegan Road) 

grussell
Callout
Parcel PD-4

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Parcel Shown In Blue Believed to Be Part of PD-4 - Lake County Records Indicate Ownership Not Known (See U-1)

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET (PARK DISTRICT BALL FIELDS) 
 

SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   PD-4 
 

LOCATION:   Adjacent to the former West School, between Foster and Muir 
Avenues, east of Waukegan Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  12-18-317-024 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Lake Bluff Park District 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    2.85 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Ball fields 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Former West School building to the west 
(offices/school); residential to north, east, and south 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   No change 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/12/2014
Parcel 12-18-101-001 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218101001

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
      NWS-PP-6 - SANCTUARY HOMEOWNER ASSOCIATION'S  UNIT 1 - OUTLOT H                                     (WETLAND - OPEN SPACE PARCEL)

grussell
Callout
PP-6SANCTUARY HOAUNIT 1 - OUTLOT H

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT'S SANCTUARY PARK PARCELS

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: PP-6 (SANCTUARY HOA’S – UNIT 1- OUTLOT H) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-6 
 
LOCATION:   IN SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION NORTH OF ATKINSON AVENUE  
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NOS. 131 AND 132;  PARCEL PIN 12-18-101-001 
 
OWNERSHIP:   SANCTUARY HOMEOWNERS AREA ASSOCIATION 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    21.0 ACRES 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-6  
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   OPEN SPACE CONSERVATION AREA – PRIMARILY WETLAND 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  ______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   SURROUNDED BY RESIDENTIAL  
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   NO CHANGE  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/12/2014
Parcel 12-18-101-081 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218101081

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   NWS-PP-7 - SANCTUARY HOMEOWNER ASSOCIATION'S UNIT 2 - OUTLOT H                             (WETLAND AND OPEN SPACE PARCEL)

grussell
Callout
PP-7SANCTUARY HOAUNIT 2 - OUTLOT H

grussell
Callout
LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT'S SANCTUARY PARK PARCELS

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
US HIGHWAY 41

grussell
Callout
ATKINSON AVE.

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: PP-7 (SANCTUARY HOA’S – UNIT 2- OUTLOT H) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-7  
 
LOCATION:   IN SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION NORTH OF ATKINSON AVENUE  
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NO 132;  PARCEL PIN 12-18-101-081 
 
OWNERSHIP:   SANCTUARY HOMEOWNERS AREA ASSOCIATION 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    12.4 ACRES 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-6  
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   OPEN SPACE CONSERVATION AREA – PRIMARILY WETLAND 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  ______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   SURROUNDED BY RESIDENTIAL  
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   NO CHANGE  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014
Parcel 12-18-100-023 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218100023

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
            NWS-PP-8: Privately Owned Wetland And Open Space Parcel                              (Gregory and Sarah Marshall Property - North)                

grussell
Callout
PARCEL PP-8

grussell
Text Box
IDOT-2

grussell
Callout
US ROUTE 41

grussell
Text Box
SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION

grussell
Text Box
IDOT

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: PP-8 (PRIMARILY ADID WETLAND) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-8  
 
LOCATION:   NORTH OF SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION  
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NO. 130;  PARCEL PIN 12-18-100-023 
 
OWNERSHIP:   GREGORY & SARAH MARSHALL 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    18.0 ACRES 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   COUNTY ZONING _________________________ 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   OPEN SPACE – ADID WETLAND 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  ______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   WETLANDS TO NORTH, WEST, AND SOUTH; COMMERCIAL TO EAST  
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  ADID WETLANDS – DEVELOPMENT OF ANY TYPE VERY UNLIKELY; 
PARCEL SUBJECT TO PROVISIONS OF NORTH CHICAGO/LAKE BLUFF BOUNDARY AGREEMENT 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   COUNTY ADID WETLAND MAP 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   NO CHANGE  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014
Parcel 12-18-100-024 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218100024

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
      NWS-PP-9 - Privately Owned Wetland and Open Space Parcel                      (Gregory and Sarah Marshall Property - South)   

grussell
Callout
PARCEL PP-9

grussell
Text Box
PP-8

grussell
Text Box
IDOT -2

grussell
Text Box
IDOT

grussell
Callout
US ROUTE 41

grussell
Text Box
SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET: PP-9 (PRIMARILY WETLAND) 
 
SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-9 
 
LOCATION:   NORTH OF SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION  
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  SHIELDS TAX MAP NO. 130;  PARCEL PIN 12-18-100-024 
 
OWNERSHIP:   GREGORY & SARAH MARSHALL 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    1.95 ACRES 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   COUNTY ZONING _________________________ 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   OPEN SPACE – ADID WETLAND 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  ______________________ 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   WETLANDS TO NORTH AND WEST; SANCTUARY SUBDIVISION TO 
SOUTH; AND COMMERCIAL TO EAST  
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  PRIMARILY WETLANDS – DEVELOPMENT OF ANY TYPE VERY UNLIKELY – 
PARCEL SUBJECT TO PROVISIONS OF NORTH CHICAGO/LAKE BLUFF BOUNDARY AGREEMENT 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   COUNTY ADID WETLAND MAP 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   NO CHANGE  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014
Parcel 12-18-317-024 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218317024

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                  NWS-PP-10 - Former Site of West Elementary School               Located between Foster and Muir - East of Waukegan Road

grussell
Text Box
Parcel PD-4

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Parcels PP-10

grussell
Callout
U-1Unidentified Ownership Parcel

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-10 
 

LOCATION:   Between Foster and Muir Avenues, east of Waukegan Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 139, 140 

12-18-317-012 

12-18-317-013 

12-18-317-019 

12-18-317-020 

12-18-317-023 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Korogluyan Family Trust 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    0.38 + 0.28 + 0.36 + 0.65 + 1.24 = 2.91 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Government offices, school 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Park District ball fields to east, residential to north, 
west, and south 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  Former site of West School. Owner applied for a change in 
zoning to commercial shortly after purchase in 2007-2008; request was denied. 
This limits uses of the building to those permitted in R-3 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:   Monitor for any changes in use 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

400 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                NWS-PP-11 - Wetland and Open Space Parcel                        Privately Owned - Within Village Limits 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-11Triangle ParcelZoned L-1 (Within Village)

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
QUADRANT:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-11 
 
LOCATION:   Northwest corner of intersection of U.S. Highway 41 and EJ&E 
Railroad 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 141; PIN 12-18-40-001 & 002 
 
OWNERSHIP:   Zero Skokie Valley HighwayLLC, 1301 Loch Lane, Lake Forest 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    Approximately 8.44 acres 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   L-1 Light Industrial 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Vacant 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   Borders U.S. Highway 41 to east, residential to west and 
north, EJ&E Railroad tracks to south 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  Originally annexed to the Village in 1988 for a proposed 
multifamily dwelling project. Most recent proposed project was an automobile 
parking facility. Parcel is severely encumbered with stormwater issues. Drainage 
from approximately 100 acres of land to west and north drains through this 
property through one box culvert under U.S. Highway 41. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
    NWS-PP-12 - Privately Owned Lot Adjacent to Knollwood Park                                (Improved Only With Shed) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-12

grussell
Callout
Knollwood Park 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
QUADRANT:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-12 
 
LOCATION:   West end of W. Washington Avenue just east of Lake Bluff Park 
District’s Knollwood Park 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 145; PIN 12-19-110-001 
 
OWNERSHIP:   Lucy M. Zender 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    0.36 acre 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 (County zoning) 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Vacant except for small shed 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   Knollwood Park immediately to west; residential in 
other directions 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  The Knollwood Park parking lot at the west end of W. 
Washington Avenue is constructed within the ROW of W. Washington Avenue 
and the ROW of Bayonne Avenue. The parking lot fronts approximately 75% of 
this lot on the north side. The property appears to be a buildable lot. Does the 
Park District have a right to maintain this parking lot if a single-family dwelling is 
constructed on this property? 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   See close-up aerial photo 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   NWS-PP-13- Privately Owned Park Adjacent To Knollwood Park              (Apparent New Home Construction Start June 2015) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Knollwood Park 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Parcel PP-13

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
QUADRANT:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-13 
 
LOCATION:   West end of W. North Avenue just east of Lake Bluff Park District’s 
Knollwood Park 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 145; PIN 12-19-110-007 
 
OWNERSHIP:   Marco Bommarito, 21 N. Skokie Hwy., Lake Bluff 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    0.36 acre 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 (County zoning) 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Vacant 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   Knollwood Park immediately to west; residential in 
other directions 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  The playground in Knollwood Park is immediately to the 
west of this vacant parcel. The parcel was sold in 2013 for $65,000 and appears 
to be a buildable lot. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   See close-up aerial photo 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
 NWS -T-1 - Township of Shields Highway Commissioner Facilities 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
T-1Township of ShieldsHighway Commissioner Facilities 

grussell
Callout
Jenkisson Ave.

grussell
Callout
Birch Ave. 

grussell
Text Box
Quassey Ave.

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
QUADRANT:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   T-1 
 
LOCATION:   South of EJ&E Railroad, north of Jenkisson Avenue, east of Birch 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 140; PIN 12-18-335-001 & 002 
 
OWNERSHIP:   Shields Township 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    0.50 acre 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 (County zoning) 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Shields Township Highway Department facilities 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   Railroad to north; residential in other directions 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     NWS-T-2 - Primarily Unimproved Northern and Atkinson Avenue                    Right-Of-Ways (Potential Bike/Ped Path) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
T-2 - Unimproved Atkinson ROW

grussell
Callout
T-2 - Primarily Unimproved Northern Avenue ROW

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Route 176

grussell
Callout
Railroad Tracks

grussell
Callout
U.S. Route 41

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
QUADRANT:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   T-2 
 
LOCATION:   Northern Avenue ROW extending from Route 176, up to Atkinson 
Avenue ROW and Atkinson Avenue ROW extending from Birch Avenue to 
Atkinson Avenue ROW 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 138, 140, and 146 
 
OWNERSHIP:   Shields Township 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    Approximately 4,650 feet of roadway ROW 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 (County zoning) 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Several blocks are improved residential roadway; 
however, most (more than 80%) of the property is unimproved. 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential and crossing of EJ&E railroad tracks 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  A feasibility study was conducted in 2002 to construct a bike 
path along the full length of this mostly unimproved ROW. Canadian National 
would not allow an at-grade crossing in 2002-03 and funding limitation 
prevented the project from going forward. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/26/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Tax Parcels: 7777777777

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       NWS-T-4 - Knollwood Memorial Park 

grussell
Callout
T-4

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015

grussell
Text Box
Foster Ave. 

grussell
Callout
Birch Ave. 



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
QUADRANT:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   T-4 
 
LOCATION:   North edge of Foster Avenue, south of Muir Avenue and east of 
Birch Avenue 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 140; no PIN assigned 
 
OWNERSHIP:   County records incomplete; believed to be Shields Township 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    1,765 square feet (0.04 acre) 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 (County zoning) 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Memorial park established to honor former 
resident Lynn DeWulf, who died in 2003. 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  Family performed 
maintenance for several years 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   Surrounded by residential 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  County records do not assign a PIN or identify ownership. It 
is believed to be considered public ROW – additional vacant ROW around parcel. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   See close-up aerial photo 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 08/13/2014
Parcel 12-18-317-024 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218317024

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                   NWS-U-1 - Portion of Former West Elementary School        (Park District Ownership Not Documented In Lake County Records) 

grussell
Text Box
 PD-4

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
U-1Unidentified Ownership Parcel

grussell
Text Box
PP-10

grussell
Text Box
Muir Ave

grussell
Callout
Foster Ave. 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
QUADRANT:  NORTHWEST 
 
MAP REFERENCE NO:   U-1 
 
LOCATION:   North edge of Foster Avenue, south edge of Park District ball fields 
 
TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 140; no PIN assigned 
 
OWNERSHIP:   County records incomplete; believed to be Park District 
 
PARCEL SIZE:    2,500 square feet (0.06 acre) 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 (County zoning) 
 
CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Triangular parcel is partially a parking lot and 
partially a ball field. 
 
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 
ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential to north, east, and south; office use to west 
 
ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  County records do not provide any information on 
ownership of this parcel, nor is there a PIN assigned. It is believed to be owned 
by the Park District. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   See close-up aerial photo 
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐4  Commercial Park Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact 

Sheets 

  Sector Summary Review Form 2 Pages 

  Sector Map 2 Pages 

  Parcel Maps and Fact Sheets 8 Pages 

   



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels
Com-Ed Parcels

IDOT Parcels

JAWA Parcels

NSSD Parcels

Private Owner

Rockland Fire Dist.

3 Parcels

1 Parcel

Summary

8 Parcels
1 Parcel

2 Parcels

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

               SECTOR SUMMARY REVIEW FORM: Commercial Park Sector

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix C-4 Commercial Park Consolidated



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

COMED-2 13.4 acres CED

LCDT

LB

ComEd ROW along US 41               

Bike Path I A RR

No change; Bike Path.

LCDT major maintenance

LB minor maintenance

Assess if LB needs more 

control

IDOT-6 3.6 acres IDOT

LCDT

LB

S of 176 , US 41 to Waukegan  Bike 

Path I A RR

No change; Bike Path.

LCDT major maintenance

LB minor maintenance

Assess impact on bike path 

and limit such as 176 project 

progresses.

IDOT-7 3 acres IDOT

LCDT

LB

S of 176, E of US 41                          

Bike Path I A RR

No change; Bike Path.

LCDT major maintenance

LB minor maintenance

Assess impact on bike path 

and limit such as 176 project 

progresses.

JAWA-1 5.6 acres LC JAWA

Water Treatment Plant    Access to 

Skokie Preserve I A RR & S No change

NSSD-1 2.9 acres NSD NSD S of 176, W of Mariani's U/I P/A S No change Mariani's leases 

PP-17 18.9 acres P P

E of 41; N of EJ&E RR                     

Open Space U P County

Light Industrial.

Preserve  mature Oak 

woods In North Chicago

PP-18 4.5 acres P P

E of 41; S of EJ&E RR                       

Open Space U P L-1

Light Industrial.

Preserve  mature Oak 

woods

PP-17 and PP-18 

under common 

ownership

RFPD-1 .6 acres P P

Rockland Fire Protection District 

Fire Station I A County Fire Station

41/176 interchange 

changes may modify 

use

Commercial Park Sector

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 09/23/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       COMMERCIAL SECTOR OVERVIEW MAP - NORTH HALF

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Sector Boundary 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-17

grussell
Callout
PP-18

grussell
Callout
RFPD-1

grussell
Callout
Lake Bluff Park District Northern Boundary

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 09/23/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  COMMERCIAL SECTIOR OVERVIEW MAP - SOUTH HALF

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Sector Boundary

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
City of Lake Forest Limits

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
CLCJAWA -1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
NSSD - 1

grussell
Callout
   COMED - 2

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
IDOT - 6 

grussell
Callout
  IDOT - 7

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Sector Boundary 

grussell
Text Box
6/6/2015



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     CS-SH-COMED-2 -  Electrical Substation                  and Distribution Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Southern Limit of Village of Lake Bluff

grussell
Callout
   COMED - 2

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  Commercial South Half 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   COMED-2 
 

LOCATION:   Immediately to the east / adjacent to north / south railroad track 
line crossing over Route 176 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1219200020, 122030001 
 

OWNERSHIP:   COMED 
 

PARCEL SIZE:   13.4 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   RR - Railroad 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Open space and Bike Path 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Railroads to the west and open space to the east 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

Commonwealth Edison ROW (Route 176 to Southerly limit of Lake Bluff) – 
Primarily Transmission Corridor with Electric Substation at North End. – LCDOT’s 
Skokie Valley  bike path runs through this easement extending southerly into 
Lake Forest and further south.   LCDOT bike master plan envisions path 
extending northerly to Route 137. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
              CS-SH-IDOT-6 - Former Electric   Railroad ROW - North Shore Bike Path Location

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
IDOT - 6

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
 

SECTOR:  Commercial South Half 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO: CS-SH- IDOT-6 
 

LOCATION:   Immediately to the south of Route 176 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1229200018 
 

OWNERSHIP:   IDOT 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    3.6 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   RR - Railroad 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Bike Path 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  Immediately to the south of 176 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

Former site of electric railroad (Waukegan Road to U.S. Route 41) – property 
now owned by IDOT.  LCDOT’s North Shore Bike trail runs along this corridor. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
 CS-SH-IDOT-7 - Former Electric Railroad ROW                   North Shore Bike Path Location

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
IDOT - 7

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
 

SECTOR:  Commercial South Half 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   IDOT - 7 
 

LOCATION:   Immediately to the south of Route 176 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1220100004 
 

OWNERSHIP:   IDOT 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    3 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   RR – Railroad District 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Bike Path 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Route 176 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

Former site of electric railroad ( U.S. Route 41 to eastern limit of Commercial 
Quadrant planning boundary)   – property now owned by IDOT.  LCDOT’s North 
Shore Bike trail runs along this corridor. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
              CS-SH-CLCJAWA-1            Water Filtration Plant Site 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
CLCJAWA -1

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  Commercial South 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   CS-SH-CLCJAWA 
 

LOCATION:   Most of the open land is immediately west of the JAWA building 
and serves as the entrance to the nature preserve 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1220100007 and 1220100012 and 1220107021 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Lake County 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    5.58 Acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   RR – Railroad and S – Service District 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:  Vacant and / or access point to Skokie Preserve 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential to the south and railroad tracks to the 
north. The JAWA facility is to the east and Mariani’s landscaping is the west.  
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

Site of Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency water plant and 
administrative offices.   Far western portion of site is in flood plain.   CLCJAWA 
provides easement for the Village’s Skokie Preserve parking lot and connecting 
trails at north end. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014
Parcel 12-20-100-004 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Tax Parcels: 1220100004

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     CS-SH-NSSD-1 - North Shore Sanitary District      Owned Parcel - Leased to Marianni Landscape             

grussell
Callout
NSSD - 1

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  Commercial South Half 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   CS – SH - NSSD - 1 
 

LOCATION:   South of Route 176 and west of power station / railroad tracks 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1220100004 
 

OWNERSHIP:   North Shore Sanitary District 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    2.9 Acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   S – Service District 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Site is currently part of Mariani’s Landscaping 
Property 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  Need to confirm but would 
assume that Mariani’s Landscaping maintains the site as part of their ground 
lease.  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   ComEd Easement and Mariani’s Landscaping Nursery 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

Parcel owned by North Shore Sanitary District – along side of major sanitary 
interceptor sewer carrying wastewater from North Chicago and Lake Bluff down 
to treatment plant in Highland Park.  Land was acquired by NSSD many decades 
ago and being held in the event a Pumping Station is needed.  Land currently 
leased to Mariani Landscape. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014
Parcel 12-18-403-003 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Tax Parcels: 1218403003

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     CS-NH-PP-17 -  Privately Owned 4.4 Acre Vacant Parcel                               (Continental X Fund) 

grussell
Callout
PP-17

grussell
Text Box
6/6/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  COMMERCIAL NORTH 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   CS-NH-PP-17 
 

LOCATION:   Immediately to the east of HWY 41 and to the south of the Elgin 
Joliet East West railway 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1218403003 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Centerpoint Properties Trust 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    4.534 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   L-1 Light Industrial 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Open Space 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:  HWY 41 to the West and railroad tracks to the east. The 
south and north are industrial / commercial uses 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

Approx 20 acre vacant privately owned parcel owned by Centerpoint Properties 
- Industrial properties to the north under the same ownership. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
         CS-NH-PP-18 - Private Vacant Parcels              (Centerpoint Properties Trust)

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
     PP-18

grussell
Text Box
6/6/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
 

SECTOR:  Commercial North 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   CS-NH-PP-18 
 

LOCATION:   Immediately North of Elgin East West Railway, West of Union 
Pacific Railway, and East of HWY 41. 
 

THIS PROPERTY APPEARS TO BE LOCATED IN NORTH CHICAGO 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1218400108 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Centerpoint Properties 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    18.9 Acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   L-1 Light Industrial 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:  Open space 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Industrial and Rail 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

4.4 acre vacant privately owned parcel owned by Continental  X Fund.  Same 
owner own land to north and south of this parcel 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014
Parcel 12-19-206-019 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1219206019

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   CS-NH-RFPD-1 - Rockland Fire Protection District                       (Knollwood Fire Station) 

grussell
Callout
RFPD-1

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 
 

SECTOR:  Commercial North Half 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   CS-NH-RFPD-1 
 

LOCATION:   On west side of HWY 41 just north of HWY 41 and Rte 176 
Intersection 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1219206008 
 

OWNERSHIP:  Rockland Fire Protection District 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    .59 ACRES 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   Unincorporated 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Fire station / surface parking lot 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Light industrial 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

Fire Station owned by Rockland Fire Protection District. This property appears to 
be a surface parking lot 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐5  South Central Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets 

  Sector Summary Review Form 4 Pages 

  Sector Map 1 Page 

  Parcel Maps and Fact Sheets 31 Pages 

   



����������	��
��� ���������
��

�����������
�� ����������� ���������

�������	���	��
 ������������� �������������

��������������
��

��
  ���� !��"�����	���! #��#	

���

���$���%%�$�	�
����� #����&�#	�����
�����

'�(���'�!��������(	�����)��!

�&��*�%%	)������	���&%��� �����"��%���
�!�+,-

�&����	���&%������.�	�/ $���"��%�
�$���
"��

�&�����&�������	��
 ����������

���$������������$�	�
�� �#��������#	�����

��0#���	������0���
��#��


$��	%�#	���%


�����#	���%


���$�#	���%


�	���&%���

�&���

�	��������/

�	�����/�0��!�#��
����

#	�����
�����

#���	��������

���


������������������

1�#	���%

1�#	���%

12�#	���%


1�#	���%

1�#	���%

2�#	���%


2�#	���%


����	�/

31�#	���%


3�#	���%


2�#	���%


,�#	���%


�����������������

�����������������$�4���55�46�4*�(�0�45������"������	%�������

������� �����
"��75	�����	����

�#�������#	�� ������	��������/

 ��� ���"������	% �0�����/��	���0���
�

 �� ���"�	
�

 (�� ���"�(�
�

��������"������	% #��#���	��

�������"�	
�



��� 5��� ��	��
 �
� 8����) 4������������
�

������


4�
��������
 4�����������

����� ���	
���� �� �

�����
�����
����
��
��
������
�
��


��������� !����� � " ���

#���
���$%
&�������


�����$��

���'���
���$
()�*�

+�
�#����
�#�	
��&
��

+

���'���
()�*�+�
�#����


�#�	�
��+�
�����
��
���

'���
���$

���,)�� �-./
���� �,) �,)

"���
�������
��
�,
����
��


0���
#�1
��&
2�
�����
34� ( 3 ��+ ��
�$��5�

����4�&
���$


����
��������
��6�$


$���
��
���
����


�����4�
�����

()�*�+ ��-.
���� ()�* �#

3'��&���&
��
��2%
!�����
7


������1
���&�%
����
�����5 �
��


��������� � " ��

#���
���$
���
2
#��&5���


��
2
�������%
6���������



�#��3
&�
���4��
��


��4���4�
������
��&
�����


����

���'���
���$
�#����


�#�	�
��+
��&
�����

���'���
()�*�+�
�#����


�#�	�
��+�
�����
��
���

'���
���$�

"����1
�4���
��


������
��
�����5
���

()�*�� 8�.
���� ��)*

��)*

�#

�
��&�
��
�.8%
�$��&��
��
0���


#�1 
#���
���$�

()�*
����
���&�


��)*
����
'���
���$� ( 3 ��

��
�$��5�%
!����5�
�6�6�


96��&��������
�������



�#��3
���4��
5���
��


����4�
�������5��

������1
���������%


3&9�����
��
�#�.

!����5�
�'����
������
��

'���
���$
7
�&9������

��)*


�6����1
�������'��
��


��9�
��&
�#
��
����


�����������

()�*�	 8��
����
:���; ��)*

��)*

�#

�
��&�
��
�.8%
�$��&��
��
0���


#�1 
#���
���$�

()�*
����
���&�


��)*
����
'���
���$� ( 3 ��

��
�$��5�%
!����5�
�6�6�


96��&��������
�������



�#��3
���4��
5���
��


����4�
�������5��

������1
���������%


3&9�����
��
�#�.

!����5�
�'����
������
��

'���
���$
7
�&9������

��)*


�6����1
�������'��
��


��9�
��&
�#
��
����


�����������

�#���

�</
����
:�++


����
�
����


� "(��
��-
����


��2
��
"(�; �# �#

3'��&���&
��
��2 !�����
7


������1
���&�%
�
��
��������� � "

��

��&
���

#���
���$
2
#��&5���
��
2


�������%
��������


6���������

����
��
��$���

���'���
���$
()�*�

+�
�#�	�
��+
��&
����

�

#���
���$
��&
������
��


�����5
���

�#��� ��-/<
���� �# "

���
����&�����1
���$
��
�#


���������
��$���
'�&5
��&
�����


�����5
���
'������
���
��$���


'6��&��5� ( 3 ��� ��
�$��5�

(���4�&
���$
���$��



�����&
'1
�#
��


��$����

���������&


'1
��$��� ��4���
�����
�5������

�#��/

/
������

��		
���� �# �#

2���
����
�����5
���
����&�����1


����
��
���������
��$����

()�*�+


$��
�2
����
��
�����5
��� ( 3 ��� ��
�$��5�

6��&
'1
����6����


��$���
��&
��


�4���5$�
�����5

����"������	%��������31�#	���%


#	���%

�� ��9�

�������

���������
��������

���������
�

�������



��� 5��� ��	��
 �
� 8����) 4������������
�

������


4�
��������
 4�����������

����"������	%��������31�#	���%


#	���%

�� ��9�

�������

���������
��������

���������
�

�������

�#�/

�/��	
����

:-��8
����
��


�����
/�8-
����


6�����4�&


��2; �# �#

�
��
�.8�
,
��
=323�
2
��


*���� ����
����� � " ��/

����
������
5�&���
�����


$�6���5�
���&�������
����

��5�
�#
����&


6�&�4�����&
�����

)�������
'���
6��
��
�$��
��


���
��
���
��5�
����
�������



���
�������
�.8
5�����1�


�����
$�6���5>
"��>


����6���1
0�&��>
��$�>

�#�+

��5�

3���5�

�# �#�� ������
��4�
���6�
"���4� ( 3 ���

�����
#���
"��$
���


�������
����
��
������


��4�

�����
��
(�������


���6�
���&
7
2���


����4�%
���
""��8
7


�#��3�/

�#�+/ �/
?
�	�
��� �# �#

��2
��6�$
��
����
'������


$����
��
������
��&
�������& � (

��+

���

(�
����
4����5�
$��


�������&�&
4�������
��


�&9�����
�����1
����� ����%
������&
6��

!�����
��
������
�����$��


���

!����5�
��
���&����

�#�+<

88
?
�	�
���

:��/
���; �# �#

��2
���$����
��&
��
������

4�����
���$
4����5�
��&
���$ ( ( ��+

!����5�
$��
�������&�&


��
�$��5�

!����5�
6��������
��


�����

�#�� ��	
���� �# �#

�,
����
��
2
�����
7


������ �#
�6����5
������� ( ( ��+ ��
�$��5�

@��
�6'���
6�������


��&
'���
���$�

�#�	 � �# �#

#��&5���
�&
��2 !�����%
�����1


6�����4�& � ( " ,�/

#���
���$
���
0���
#�1


�&
��
�$��&��
�&�

���'���
���$
()�*�

+�
�#����
��+
��&


�����

���'���
()�*�+�
�#����


�#�	�
��+�
�����
��
���

'���
���$

�#�8 � �# ")

"�� �$��&��
"����
��2
�$�65$


������
"�� ( 3 ���

��
�$��5�%
")
�����&�


�6�$���

�����1
�����������%


��&
'�&5�>

*�����
���
!����5�
��


�#")%
������
������

"�&
'�&5�>

�#�. � �# �#

�
��
�.8
'���
���$ '���
���$
7


����
����
����� ( 3 �� ��
�$��5� 3&9�����
��
()�*��

�#�- � �# "

������1
��2
��
2���
*����%


6�����4�&
���$
�?�������
��


6��������
'����
5�&� � " �

"�& '���
���$�

(�
��
���$�


�����
��
5�&��


����� ������&

���������&
'1
�&9�


�����1
�����

��������4��1
�����'�&5�

���$
��
�.8
���$

�#��3�/

+
����

��./
���� �#�� �#�� ������
��4�
���6�
����4� ( 3 ��� ��
�$��5�

�����
��
(�������


���6�
���&
7
2���


����4�%
���
""��8
7


�#�+

��A"�� ���/
���� ��A" ��A" �����
0�4�
A����
"���4��
���$ ( 3 ,�� ��
�$��5�

����&
'1
()��%
���&


'���5
�����&



��� 5��� ��	��
 �
� 8����) 4������������
�

������


4�
��������
 4�����������

����"������	%��������31�#	���%


#	���%

�� ��9�

�������

���������
��������

���������
�

�������

")�	 ��-
���� ") ") ������
"�� ( 3 ��+

��
�$��5��

��6�&
�����
$�4�
�#��3


�����
��
���&���&�


������5
���$
��
�6���


'���
���$

���
�#�8�
����
�#��


��&










""���

���$
�������


����
��
$����%
���
�����$��

")�8 8�+
���� ") �#��

����1�
0���B
2�����&


"���4� ���6�
����4� ( 3 ,�/

��
�$��5�%
���&
�#�� ")


�����������
�5�������



����
��������


�����4���1�

��
&��&
����������%


���
��
�����4���1

��4���
����������
7
���

�����
������
35������

""��	 ��
���� " "

����'�&5�
�����4�����


3�� "���4�&
���&����� ( " ,��

��
�$��5�%
&�������


�����4���1
��6��6�
��&


������
�����4���1


����������

����&
'1
&�4�����%


��1
'�
�������&


��
�#

����
��
����������5

"����1%
������
��
'���


���$

""��8 �-�
���� " "

A�4�
4�����
������
��
������
��4�


���6�
"���4� � " ���C

�#
'61
������%
4�����


������%
���'���
���$
�#�+ ���
�#�+
7
�#��3�/

!����5�
������6�
�6�6��

��
�6�$����5
����
��&
�$��


4�����
��2�
��
���5��
��5�


����
�����

""�/� � " " �
��&�
��
�����'�&5� � " ,�� #���
���$

*��������
���
"
��


�#

3�����
������
��&
����

���� '���
���$

""�/	 ���/��
�D�
��� " "

"�����&
�����'�&5�


��� �6'&�4�����
�6�
���
� � " ,��

")
��6&1
����
��&


�����������

*��������
���


&�4�����
��
")

�����&�
�����������

����
'����
��������5

""�/8 � " "

�����'�&5�
���&
����&�����1
����


��
����
@�6�� ( " ,��

)�������
6�� ����
��


�������&
��
�#")

����&
'1
&�4�����%


������
��
")>

�����&�
6��
��&
�����

'����
�����5
��

""�/. -�+
���� " "

������
���&����
��6�$
��


�����'�&5� ( 3 ,�� ��
�$��5�

������
��
���� �6'�

&�4����� ������
�����
6��
7
B����5

��+ ��	
���� � �

�,
����
��
0���
#�1
�)
7
2


2��$��5���
34� !����� � " ��+

*����6�
��
������&


#��&5���
'���
���$�

�#��3


����
��4���4�
������
7


�����
���&���&


6�&����1�

(���6&�
�#
����&


�����
��
�%
����
��


'�&5� �6����>

)�������
�����
����
����


�����
0#
���&�

���'���
()�*�+�
�#����


�#�	�
��+�
�����
��
���

'���
���$

��� <���
�D�
��� � � !�����
�����
�
��
������
"�� � " ��+

")
�6�$���%
�&&
��
���
�


����
��
�&9�����
�����1�


�#��3
����
��4���4�
������


��&
�����

#6���$��

����
�����4����5�


���&�
������

&�������
�����$��

&�������
��
�#")
�����

�
���&�
��
������

2�@3�� ��<
���� @�3 @�3

2��'��&��
��6�
@�3 ����


����
&�������� � " ,�/ ��
�$��5�

"�&
'�&5�
������5
2


*����
��
�$��&��


�&> �����&�
��
��&
'�&5�

2�@3�/ !���6�
���� @�3 @�3

����
�����
����
�������
��


2��'��&��
,������� � " ,�/ ��
�$��5�

�6��
'�
������&
��


����
������



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J F B J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y Xy z { | } ~ � � | � � �y � � | z �

� � � � � �
� � � �

� � �
~ � � � �

� � � � �



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > J K > 9 K F > 9 A L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t un a v X w ^ b f \ d x ^ c ] X cV a i y a c [ X Z Y



PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET:  COL � 1 

LAST UPDATED SEPTEMBER 16, 2014 

SECTOR:   SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER:  COL � 1 

LOCATION: IMMEDIATELY WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS NORTH OF THE LAKE BLUFF MONTESSORI             

SCHOOL. VACANT PROPERTY TO THE SOUTH IS OWNED BY THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1220205069 

OWNERSHIP:  LAKE COUNTY 

PARCEL SIZE:  .045 

CURRENT ZONING:  R � 4 (B RESIDENCE DISTRICT) 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY: 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENT FOR CURRENT USE: 

ADJACENT LAND USES: RESIDENTIAL AND RAIL ALSO ADJACENT TO VILLAGE RIGHT OF WAY             

REMAINING FROM FORMER RAIL LINE  

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS:  

COL-1 (County of Lake -1) - Unclear how the County of Lake came to own this very small triangular                   

shaped parcel of land. This area on the east side of Mawman is one of the earliest subdivisions in the                    

Village. There are several miscellaneous parcels owned by the Village on both sides of the abandoned                

electric railroad ROW now owned mostly by IDOT. The parcel just below the COL parcel is owned by                  

the Village. This could be a record keeping error at the County.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + 9 > J 9 F J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E F > > E > > ? ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t uV a i v a c [ X Z Y w x y y z y z z z z {n a | X } ^ b f \ d ~ ^ c ] X cV a i v a c [ X Z Y



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-COMED� 1 

LOCATION: Northeast corner of intersection of Green Bay Road and West 

Center Avenue  

 

TAX PIN: 12-20-200-005 

OWNERSHIP: Commonwealth Edison 

PARCEL SIZE: 1.0 Acres 

CURRENT ZONING: R-3 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Site of a Commonwealth Edison Electrical Substation 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single Family Residential 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Commercial/Industrial site in the middle of a residential area. 

However substation is believed to be a critical component of the 

electrical supply for the area.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E F > ? E > ? ? ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t uV a i v a c [ X Z Y w x y y z y z { z { {n a | X } ^ b f \ d ~ ^ c ] X cV a i v a c [ X Z Y

� � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

 

UPDATED:     7-22-15 
 

SECTOR: South Central Sector 

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-IDOT-3 

LOCATION: Along the Abandoned Section of Electric Railroad ROW located 

east of Mawman Avenue and west of the active Union Pacific 

Passenger tracks and north to south between West Blodgett 

Avenue ROW and West Scranton Avenue  

 

TAX PIN: 12-20-205-055 

OWNERSHIP: Illinois Department of Transportation  

PARCEL SIZE: Seven individual parcels with same PIN number totaling 1.97 

Acres.  

CURRENT ZONING: RR Railroad Zoning 

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Vacant Property used as a utility corridor for CLCJAWA Water 

Main and Village of Lake Bluff Sanitary Sewer Force Main and 

other miscellaneous utilities 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Residential to west; Railroad to east; and Montessori School 

and Village West Train Station Parking Lot in vicinity 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

A portion of the Village�s west train station parking lot is located 

on one of the IDOT owned parcels. Village should pursue a 

jurisdictional transfer.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E F > > E > > A ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t uV a i v a c [ X Z Y w x y y z y z z z z {n a | X } ^ b f \ d ~ ^ c ] X cV a i v a c [ X Z Y

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-IDOT-4 

LOCATION: Bike Path Right-Of-Way along the south side of West Scranton 

Avenue between Sheridan Road and Green Bay Road  

 

TAX PIN: 12-20-200-004 

OWNERSHIP: Illinois Department of Transportation  

PARCEL SIZE: 6.7 Acres 

CURRENT ZONING: RR � Railroad District 

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Parcel is the site of the portion of the abandoned electric 

railroad now improved with the North Shore Bike Path 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single Family  

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Land is owned by IDOT however bike path is owned by the 

Lake County Department of Transportation (LCDOT).  LCDOT 

is responsible for major maintenance of the bike path however 

the Village is responsible for minor maintenance of the bike 

path. The ROW area is maintained by the Village.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X

y z { { | } ~ � � � ~ �� � � � | � � � � � � � { � � �
� � � � � � �



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-IDOT-5 

LOCATION: Bike Path Right-Of-Way along the south side of West Scranton 

Avenue between Green Bay Road easterly limit of CLCJAWA 

water plant property  

 

TAX PIN: 12-20-200-002; 12-20-200-003; 12-20-200-013; 12-20-100-008;  

and far easterly portion of 12-20-100-001 

 

OWNERSHIP: Illinois Department of Transportation  

PARCEL SIZE: 6.1 Acres Total (Approximate)  

CURRENT ZONING: RR � Railroad District 

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Parcel is the site of a portion of the abandoned electric railroad 

now improved with the North Shore Bike Path 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single Family  

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Land is owned by IDOT however bike path is owned by the 

Lake County Department of Transportation (LCDOT).  LCDOT 

is responsible for major maintenance of the bike path however 

the Village is responsible for minor maintenance of the bike 

path. The ROW area is maintained by the Village.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X

y z y { | } | ~ � � � � � � � � � � � �

~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � } � ~ � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED:     7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-LB-2 (Village Owned Vacant Parcel East of CLCJAWA) 

LOCATION: Directly east of the Central Lake County Joint Action Water 

Agency water plant and along the south side of Il. Route 176.  

 

TAX PIN: The total property is a combination of many underlying 

recorded lots with a total of 12 different PIN�s and 3 unimproved 

Village Right-Of-Ways. The PIN�s are as follows:  

12-20-108-002, 005, 006, & 008 

12-20-110-002, 005, 006, 007, & 011 

12-20-113-002, 003, & 016 

 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff  

 

PARCEL SIZE: Total size is approximately 12.15 acres consisting of 9.46 acres 

in recorded lots and approximately 2.69 acres in unimproved 

ROW. 

 

CURRENT ZONING: R-2 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Vacant Land � Portions of the land have been used several 

times over the past 20 years by CLCJAWA for construction 

staging areas.  

 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Residential to the east and south; CLCJAWA to the west and 

Blair Park to the west 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

This area is part of the Terrace Subdivision originally platted in 

the 1920�s but never developed.  In recent years the Village has 

considered this site for senior housing.  LBOLA has in the past 

recommended that this area become a restored prairie area 

and possibly connected to the Skokie Preserve.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X
y z { | }

~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � y � � �

� � z  � � � � y � � �

� � � � � � � � � � |  �

| � � � � � �  ! " � � � �| � � � �  # $ ! % � � �  & ' � � | � � � � (| � � � � � � � ) *� � � � � �  y + " y ,| � � � �  � , � � ' � �� � � � �



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR: South Central Sector 

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-LB-3 - Skokie Preserve (Illinois Land and Water Reserve) 

LOCATION: Preserve area is south the CLCJAWA water treatment plant: 

west of the developed West Terrace Area, east of the East 

Skokie River and north of the Lake County Forest Preserve 

District Oriole Grove 

 

TAX PIN: The Skokie Preserve is not a consolidated Tax Parcel. There 

are several dozen PIN�s associated with this 34 acre parcel.  

 

OWNERSHIP: The Village of Lake Bluff owns 33.3 acres of the property 

comprising the Skokie Preserve and Lake Bluff Open Lands 

Association owns 0.7 acres. There are five separate privately 

owned parcels within the Skokie Preserve area. These are not 

yet officially part of the Preserve. The private lots total 

approximately 1.05 acres in size.  

 

PARCEL SIZE: Overall Skokie Preserve size is 34.0 acres. This area does not 

include the 1.05 acres of private lots. 

  

CURRENT ZONING: R-1 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Skokie Preserve (Illinois Land and Water Preserve) is 

maintained by Lake Bluff Open Lands Association � primarily 

as prairie. This area is improved with walking paths.  

 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single Family to the east; CLCJAWA water plant to the north; 

LCFPD Oriole Grove to the south and East Skokie 

River/Commonwealth Edison ROW and RR tracks to the west.  

 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Village policy is to acquire remaining 5 privately held lots. There 

are Village Utilities, a North Shore Water Reclamation District 

sanitary sewer, and buried electric lines through portions of the 

property, all of which must be maintained.  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

 q q r sm ` t W u ] a e [ c v ] b \ W bU ` h w ` b Z W Y X

x y z ! y { | y } ~
x y z ! y { " � � { # �

� � � � � � � } � � y { | $ �� � % � � � & � y '

( { ~ { � z { | y } � � $ )* � $ $ y % � � � � } !� � z � } � { | y } � � $

� � # � � + , -� � � � { � � } " � � �



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-LB-4 

LOCATION: Northeast corner of the intersection of West Center Avenue and 

Mawman Avenue  

 

TAX PIN: 12-20-215-001 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE: 1.5 Acres 

 

 

CURRENT ZONING: R-3 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Majority of the parcel is wooded.  A Village bike path runs north 

to south along the eastern side of the parcel connecting the 

West Center Avenue and Mawman Avenue intersection with 

the North Shore Bike Path. The parcel is also the site of a 

Village Sanitary Sewer Bypass Pump Station. The parcel is 

encumbered with several types of utilities.  

 

 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single family residential to the south and west; railroad to the 

east; and North Shore Bike Path ROW to the north 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Several public utilities on parcel and a public bike path 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

 q q r sm ` t W u ] a e [ c v ] b \ W bU ` h w ` b Z W Y X

x ! y z { y | " } ~ { � z
� ~ � � # $ % & & x $ � ' � | { ~ � (

# $ ~ y � } ~ � �

� � �   ! ! " " # $ # ! % "  



PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET LB-5 

 

LAST UPDATED SEPTEMBER 16, 2014 

SECTOR:   SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER:  LB-5 

LOCATION:   BLODGET ROW BETWEEN THE RAILROAD TRACKS AND GREEN BAY ROAD 

TAX MAP AND PIN:   N/A 

OWNERSHIP:   Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:   N/A 

CURRENT ZONING:  E � 2 (AAAA Residential District) 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:  MOSTLY UNIMPROVED RIGHT OF WAY 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENT FOR CURRENT USE: 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   TANGLEY OAKS IMMEDIATELY TO THE NORTH 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS:  

LB-5 � This strip of land is the West Blodgett Avenue ROW running between Green Bay Road and the 

Union Pacific.   About 50% of the ROW is unimproved.  It is a site most recommended for an east to 

west connector ped/bike path that would route users to Blair Park and the Lake Bluff Elementary 

School.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

 q q r sm ` t W u ] a e [ c v ] b \ W bU ` h w ` b Z W Y X

x y z ! y { | y } ~
x y z ! y { " � � { # �

$ { ~ { � z { | y } � � % &' � % % y ( � � � � } !� � z � } � { | y } � � %

� � # � � ) * +



PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET LB-6 

 

LAST UPDATED SEPTEMBER 16, 2014 

SECTOR:   SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER:  LB-6 

LOCATION:  AREA IN BETWEEN TWO SECTIONS OF MAWMAN PARK 

TAX MAP AND PIN:   N / A 

OWNERSHIP:  LAKE COUNTY 

PARCEL SIZE:   N / A 

CURRENT ZONING:  R � 1 (AAA Residential District) 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:  UNDERGROUND SEWER  

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENT FOR CURRENT USE: 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   RAILROAD TO THE EAST, RESIDENTIAL TO THE WEST 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS:  

LB-6 � This little piece of land in the middle of Mawman Park is platted as part of the West Sheridan 

Place ROW and has been so since the time of the approval of the Terrace subdivision in the 1920�s. 

On the ground surface it is use as a playground facility in the park.  Under the ground the Village has 

water and sanitary sewer lines that connect to the Wimbledon Estates and Bath & Tennis Club Area. 

This parcel has also been identified as a possible ped/bike bridge crossing of the tracks to provide a 

direction connection to the Lake Bluff Middle School.     With a little money we could make Lake Bluff 

the most walkable town in America.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E F > > E > > = ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I  K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tU ` h u ` b Z W Y X ! " # # $ # $ $ $ $ %m ` v W w ] a e [ c x ] b \ W bU ` h u ` b Z W Y X

y z { | } z ~ | z � & � z � � � � ' � ~ & � z ~ ( z

) � � � ( | z * + ,



South Central Sector Parcel Write-Up 

Property:  LB-7 

LB-7 is a 15-foot wide by approximate 1,650 foot long strip of land owned by the Village running along 

the rear of the residential properties on the north side of West Center Avenue.  An overhead Com Ed 

Line runs down this parcel from the Com Ed Substation at West Center and Green Bay.  It is south of 

and parallel to the North Shore Bike Path but not immediately adjacent to the path. 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > 9 J F = J F > 9 ? K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR: SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER: LB - 9 

LOCATION: Continuation of Sunset Terrace from Hawthorne Ct. to Prospect Ave.  

TAX MAP AND PIN: No Pin numbers available 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE: Approximately 1.5 acres 

CURRENT ZONING: U 

CURRENT USE OF THE PROPERTY: Open space 

ADJACENT LAND USES: All residential  

ISSUES COMMENTS: 

LB-9 is three sections of 60-foot wide unimproved Village ROW (Sunset Terrace) extending from West 

Prospect Avenue on the North to West Hawthorne Court on the south. These ROW sections even 

though vacant on the surface have Village underground utility lines running through them.  Plans have 

been discussed for a future walking path along this corridor.   This ROW was part of the pedestrian 

plan that would have fed into the Ped Tunnel under Route 176 to allow for West Terrace Residents to 

access Blair Park and the elementary school. 

 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > J K > 9 K F > 9 A L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t un a v X w ^ b f \ d x ^ c ] X cV a i y a c [ X Z Y

z { | } ~ � { � � � � �� � � � � � � } � � � � � { � � �� � � z � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

LB-10 

LOCATION: Various Small Parcel Along and immediately adjacent to the 

section of abandoned electric railroad right-of-way located east 

of Mawman Avenue, west of the active Union Pacific Railroad 

Passenger line, north of West Scranton Avenue and south of 

West Blodgett Avenue ROW 

 

TAX PIN: Four parcels with three PIN�s as follows:  12-20-205-033, -043, 

& -064;  also four areas of ROW with no PIN�s assigned 

 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE: The four small parcels with PIN�s assigned total 0.33 Acres; the 

four sections of ROW with no Pin�s assigned total 0.49 Acres 

for a grand total of  0.82 Acres.  

 

CURRENT ZONING: R-4 Single Family and RR (Railroad District)  

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

The majority of the parcels are along or immediately adjacent to 

the former electric railroad and are now vacant property through 

which several utilities run.   One long narrow ROW parcel of 

approximately 3,700 SF is part of the easterly edge of the 

Village�s west train station parking lot.  

 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single family to the west; active railroad to the east and in 

vicinity of Montessori School and Village�s west train station 

parking lot.  

 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Some of the parcels have important utilities through them � 

CLCJAWA�s water main and Village�s Tangley Oaks sanitary 

force main. 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + 9 > J 9 F J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E F > ? E > A : ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

 ! ! " #$ % & ' % ( ) * + , - . / / 0 / 0 1 0 2 34 % 5 * 6 7 8 9 : ; < 7 ( = * ($ % & ' % ( ) * + ,



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR: SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER: LB-11 

LOCATION: Immediately to the north of the Lake Bluff Montessori school between the main school 

and the parking lot to the North.  

TAX MAP AND PIN: 1220205048 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE: Approximately .2 acres 

CURRENT ZONING: R-4 

CURRENT USE OF THE PROPERTY: It is part of the Montessori school campus � improved with walking 

paths 

ADJACENT LAND USES: Surrounded by the school and school campus 

ISSUES COMMENTS: 

This is a Village owned parcel measuring 66-feet x 132-feet. It is has been leased to the Montessori 

School since the School was constructed in the early 1990�s. Lease by Village rather than purchase by 

the school was likely necessitated by lack of financial resources by school to purchase the property. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + 9 > J 9 D J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-LB-12 

LOCATION: Portion of Village�s West Train Station Parking Lot located on 

the north side of West Scranton Avenue, east of Mawman 

Avenue and west of Montessori School 

� 

TAX PIN: 12-20-205-046 and -053 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE: Two parcels totaling 0.55 Acres 

CURRENT ZONING: R-4 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Village�s West Train Station Parking Lot 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single Family Residential to west and north; Montessori School 

to immediate east.  

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

These Village owned parcels are only a portion of the Village�s 

West Train Station Parking lot. A portion of the parking lot is on 

property owned by IDOT. See SCS-IDOT-3 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > F J > : J F > 9 ? K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X



 

 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR: SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER: LB-32 

LOCATION: ROW South of Main between homes on Mawman and Rockland 

TAX MAP AND PIN: Not available 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE: 1,800 square feet 

CURRENT ZONING: R-3 / R-4 

CURRENT USE OF THE PROPERTY 

ADJACENT LAND USES: Residential 

ISSUES COMMENTS: 

County records show that this parcel of land measuring 12-feet in width by about 150-feet in length is 

an unimproved Village ROW. This parcel is being used as part of rear yards by the adjacent private 

property owners.   A past Village study recommended vacation of this parcel to the adjacent property 

owners with easements created for existing utilities.      

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > F J > : J F > 9 ? K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X

y z { | } z ~ | z  ! " z #



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-22-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-LB-38 

LOCATION: Due north of the intersection of West Center Avenue and 

Mawman Avenue  

 

TAX PIN: No PIN Assigned � Parcel is an unimproved section of the 

Mawman Avenue Right-Of-Way 

 

OWNERSHIP: Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE: Approximately 0.2 Acre (66-feet x @ 150-feet)  

CURRENT ZONING: R-3 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Parcel is unimproved and wooded with the exception of the far 

southeasterly corner where a section of bike path is installed. 

There are public utilities within the parcel. 

 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Primarily Single Family Residential; Village owned open space 

lot is located due east of this parcel 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Parcel does have some public utilities.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

 q q r sm ` t W u ] a e [ c v ] b \ W bU ` h w ` b Z W Y X
! x " # $

% & y z ' ( ) ( * { + * , { -

| . | * z / 0 1 ) ) 2 ! & } {

3 / x 4 & - { } ! & } {

| . ' 0 { - * 2 & } # 4 .



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

UPDATED 7-23-15 

 

SECTOR: South Central Sector  

MAP REFERENCE 

NO: 

SCS-LBOLA-2 

LOCATION: Three small lots within the area known as the Skokie Preserve 

which is located east of the East Skokie River and south of the 

CLCJAWA water plant. 

 

TAX PIN: 12-20-301-008, 12-20-304-009, and 12-20-306-009 

OWNERSHIP: Lake Bluff Open Lands Association 

PARCEL SIZE: Three parcels totaling 0.72 Acres in Size 

CURRENT ZONING: R-1 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 

PROPERTY: 

Open Space - Part of Skokie Preserve (Illinois Land and Water 

Reserve) 

ADJACENT LAND 

USES: 

Single family residential to the east, CLCJAWA water plant to 

the north, Lake County Forest Preserve District to the south, 

and East Skokie River and Railroad to west 

 

 

ISSUES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS 

COMMENTS (DEED 

RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

See Skokie Preserve (SCS-LF-3) for general issues with the 

area.  

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

 q q r sm ` t W u ] a e [ c v ] b \ W bU ` h w ` b Z W Y X

x ! y " # $ % & ' z( # ) z { y * # ) y + z ) , "% ! - ! y

% x ( . / 0 1
% & '   ! " # #$ % & % '  ( )  !  ) *  

+ " , ( - ' #+ . %  , & )  ! $

" & / / 0 1 ( . ) 2  ! !
+ " - 3 4  ' %  ( . $ 5



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  SOUTH CENTRAL 

 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   SCS-LCFPD-1 

 

LOCATION:   South of Skokie River Prairie Reserve, immediately west of 

Stonebridge development, east of Skokie River; bordered by Lake Forest on the 

south 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 171; 12-20-300-007 

 

OWNERSHIP:   Lake County Forest Preserve District? (per County tax bill) 

 

PARCEL SIZE:   44.2 acres 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   E-1 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Lake County Forest Preserve 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  

 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Nature preserve to the north, forest preserve to the 

south, Stonebridge residential development to the east, railroad and highway to 

the west 

 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  This was the back yard to Stonebridge with a landscape 

design by Jens Jensen. This parcel is the northern half of the Oriole Grove Forest 

Preserve. The southerly portion of Oriole Grove is located within the City of Lake 

Forest.  This parcel is actually partially owned by the IDNR and managed by Lake 

County Forest Preserve District. The land was acquired by the IDNR in the early 

1980s as part of plan to construct a large stormwater detention facility along the 

East Skokie River.  The detention facility was to extend as far north as the land 

on which CLCJAWA is now located.  The IDNR has yet to relinquish rights to the 

land.  Some people want the Forest Preserve District to acquire full ownership to 

help further ensure that a large detention facility is never constructed. LBOLA 

has done extensive restoration work in the past; ongoing restoration work has 

been privately funded with matching funds from Lake County Forest Preserve 

District. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

 q q r sm ` t W u ] a e [ c v ] b \ W bU ` h w ` b Z W Y X

! " # $ " x % & y x ' y
z y { | ( ) y * + , " x - . /0 + 1 ) | 2 3 z " 4

5 x 6 x 2 # x - " * 7 y . 89 + . . " 1 y ( | 2 * $( y # y * + x - " * 7 y .

0 2 ' | y : ; <



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  SOUTH CENTRAL 

 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   SCS-PD-5 

 

LOCATION:   East end of East Terrace subdivision, adjacent to Union Pacific 

Railroad tracks 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 168 and 174; 12-20-215-003 and 12-20-404-001 

 

OWNERSHIP:   Lake Bluff Park District 

 

PARCEL SIZE:   2.76 + 2.14 = 4.9 acres 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Mawman Park 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  

 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  Mawman Park was created when the Terrace Subdivision 

was approved in the 1920s. When originally approved, the park land also 

included the now Village-owned parcel identified as LB-4.  The Sheridan ROW 

that splits the park land in two has existed since the time of subdivision 

approval. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F 9 E D 9 > E > > ? ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t uV a i v a c [ X Z Y w x y y x z x { { { |n a } X ~ ^ b f \ d � ^ c ] X cV a i v a c [ X Z Y

� � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � �



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  SOUTH CENTRAL 

 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   SCS-PD-6 

 

LOCATION:   East of Wimbledon Court in Bath and Tennis Club subdivision, 

adjacent to Union Pacific Railroad tracks 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 185; 12-21-310-005 

 

OWNERSHIP:   Lake Bluff Park District 

 

PARCEL SIZE:    6.3 acres 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   E-2 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Nature preserve 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  Managed by LBOLA and 

Lake Bluff Park Dist. with an updated agreement pending. 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  This property was saved from development by Carolyn 

Goetz, a former Village resident and founder of Lake Bluff Open Lands, in 1981, 

earning her the nickname Swamp Witch. Since that time LBOLA has funded 

restoration and maintenance of the site. Currently it is in a maintenance phase. 

All of this land is part of the former Bath and Tennis Club. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E A 9 : E > > 9 ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t uV a i v a c [ X Z Y w x y y z { x | z z xn a } X ~ ^ b f \ d � ^ c ] X cV a i v a c [ X Z Y

� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  SOUTH CENTRAL 

 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   SCQ-PP-15 

 

LOCATION:   Stonebridge development on west side of Green Bay Road (Outlots 

A, B, and a portion of D) 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 173, 170, 175;  

12-20-418-001, 12-20-416-003, part of 12-20-308-001 (this PIN includes 

perimeter of parcels to be developed � Outlot D) 

 

OWNERSHIP:   SB 2011, LLC 

 

PARCEL SIZE:    Approx 10 acres 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   E-1 (Estate Residence District) 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Undeveloped 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  

 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  These parcels constitute approximately 10 acres of open 

space that is proposed to be dedicated woodland conservation area to be 

owned by the Village.  The land is currently still owned by Stonebridge 

developer.  Both the original plan and the current plan envisioned this to be a 

woodland conservation area. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X
y z { | }

~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � y � � �

� � z � � � � � y � � �

� � � � � � � � � � | � �

� � � � � � | � � � � � � �



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  South Central 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   PP-16 

 

LOCATION:   Skokie River Prairie Reserve (LBOLA) � south of JAWA on Rt. 176, 

east of East Skokie Drainage Ditch 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Tax Maps 163 and 169; PINs: 

12-20-106-004 (0.14 acre) 

12-20-301-010 (0.24 acre) 

12-20-304-008 (0.24 acre) 

12-20-304-015 (0.24 acre) 

12-20-304-003 (0.15 acre) 

 

OWNERSHIP:   Private individuals 

 

PARCEL SIZE:    See above 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-1 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Vacant 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  None 

 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Skokie Land and Water Reserve 

 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  These five parcels are located within the limit of the Skokie 

Land and Water Reserve. Each parcel has a different owner. Village policy for 

many decades has been to acquire all of these lots. When all of the lots have 

been acquired, the Village-owned ROWs will most likely be vacated and become 

a formal part of the Reserve. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [ i j k W l ^ X [ W b W \ m ` e \ n a b o W c ] b X V ] a Y \ p W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c p ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W l b ] a e \ i U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W l a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` p ` X W _ ] b W e l ^ e W W b ^ e l \ W X ^ l e i U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] p W o ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b i

q r r s tm ` u W v ] a e [ c w ] b \ W bU ` h x ` b Z W Y X

y z { { | } ~ � � � ~ �� ~ � � ~ z { | � ~ | {
� � � � � � � � � � � � ~ | { � ~ � { � { | � � � z� � � � � � � { � ~ | � � ~ � �



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR: SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER: PP-24 

LOCATION: The northern edge of the Stonebridge subdivision running immediately south of 

Witchwood Lane 

TAX MAP AND PIN: 1220308001 and 1220416001 

OWNERSHIP: SB 2011 LLC 

PARCEL SIZE: Approximately 1 acre  

CURRENT ZONING: E-1 

CURRENT USE OF THE PROPERTY 

ADJACENT LAND USES: Residential / Stonebridge development 

ISSUES COMMENTS: 

PP-24 consists of two proposed 30-foot wide outlots along the north edge of the Stonebridge 

Subdivision. These parcels are proposed to be dedicated to the Village for an open space corridor to 

be improved with a pedestrian/bike path. The path would extend easterly through the conservation 

area encumbered with a utility easement to Green Bay road along the old service road for the original 

Stonebridge Estates. 

 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E A 9 = E > > F ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t uV a i v a c [ X Z Y w x y y z { x | z z yn a } X ~ ^ b f \ d � ^ c ] X cV a i v a c [ X Z Y

� � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � �



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  SOUTH CENTRAL 

 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   SCS-PP=25 (fka PD-7) 

 

LOCATION:   Stonebridge subdivision, Outlot M; on west side of Green Bay Road 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 173; part of 12-20-416-003 

 

OWNERSHIP:   SB 2011, LLC 

 

PARCEL SIZE:    11,200 sq ft 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   E-1 (Estate Residence District) 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Undeveloped 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  

 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  Outlot M in the Stonebridge Subdivision - The originally 

approved Stonebridge subdivision included a 2,500-square-foot parcel in the 

middle of the proposed conservation area on the east side of the subdivision. 

The subdivision was foreclosed and the land was never transferred to the Park 

District.  The conservation area is proposed to be dedicated to the Village.    The 

new developer of Stonebridge is proposing a 11,200-square-foot parcel to be 

dedicated to the park district. Both the original plan and the current plan 

envision a small playground area in the middle of the woodland conservation 

area. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 AH % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E A 9 = E > > F ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \ j k l X m _ Y \ X c X ] n a f ] o b c p X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] q X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d q ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X m c ^ b f ] j V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X m b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a q a Y X ` ^ c X f m _ f X X c _ f m ] X Y _ m f j V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ q X p _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c j

r s s t uV a i v a c [ X Z Y w x y y z { x | z z yn a } X ~ ^ b f \ d � ^ c ] X cV a i v a c [ X Z Y

� � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � �



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR: SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER: PP-26 

LOCATION: Immediately south of the existing manor home within the Stonebridge development 

TAX MAP AND PIN: 1220417005  

OWNERSHIP: SB 2011 LLC 

PARCEL SIZE: ½ acre 

CURRENT ZONING: E-1 

CURRENT USE OF THE PROPERTY 

ADJACENT LAND USES: Located in the Stonebridge subdivision immediately south of the manor home  

ISSUES COMMENTS: 

PP-26 is an Outlot parcel of the Stonebridge Subdivision located south of the existing manor home.  

The parcel is approximately ½ acre in size and is proposed to be donated to the Lake Bluff Park District 

and service as an open space parcel. 

 

 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > 9 J F ? J F > 9 ?H % $ ) ! 8 9 F E F > E A > > E > > A ( 1 " 5 . 8 ( + ! I K L
M N O P Q R N S T U V W X Y X Z X [ \ X ] Y ^ _ Z ` X a \ b c X Z a d X c e a d f ^ \ ^ [ [ b c a f d g W X c X _ f \ W X [ b c c X f \ e a h X i \ X f \  ! " X # _ Y \ X c X ] $ a f ] % b c & X d ^ c Y W ^ b Z ] ' X [ ^ f Y b Z \ X ] \ ^ ] X \ X c e _ f X \ W X h c X [ _ Y X Z ^ [ a \ _ ^ f ^ ` h c ^ h X c \ d ' ^ b f ] a c _ X Y^ f \ W X # c ^ b f ]  V W _ Y e a h ] ^ X Y f ^ \ [ ^ f Y \ _ \ b \ X a c X # b Z a \ ^ c d ] X \ X c e _ f a \ _ ^ f a f ] _ Y f ^ \ a ' a Y X ` ^ c X f # _ f X X c _ f # ] X Y _ # f  V W _ Y e a h _ Y _ f \ X f ] X ] \ ^ ' X & _ X g X ] a f ] h c _ f \ X ] _ f [ ^ Z ^ c  

( ) ) * +V a i , a c [ X Z Y - . / / 0 1 0 0 0 0 1$ a 2 X 3 ^ b f \ d 4 ^ c ] X cV a i , a c [ X Z Y



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR: SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NUMBER: PP-27 

LOCATION: Directly south of the Stonebridge Subdivision 

TAX MAP AND PIN: 1220400004 

OWNERSHIP: Paul Litzinger 

PARCEL SIZE: 9.3 acres 

CURRENT ZONING: E-1 

CURRENT USE OF THE PROPERTY: Estate house on the Stonebridge campus 

ADJACENT LAND USES: Residential and open space 

ISSUES COMMENTS: 

PP-27 is an approximate 9.3 acre residential estate located directly south of the Stonebridge 

Subdivision.  The parcel is improved with an estate house an detached garage with apartment above 

the garage.  The parcel is heavily wooded and a portion of the parcel includes the very southerly trip 

of the pond located along the east side of the Stonebridge Estate.  

 

 



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [  ! " W # ^ X [ W b W \ $ ` e \ % a b & W c ] b X V ] a Y \ ' W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c ' ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W # b ] a e \  U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W # a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` ' ` X W _ ] b W e # ^ e W W b ^ e # \ W X ^ # e  U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] ' W & ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b  

( ) ) * +U ` h , ` b Z W Y X - . . . . . . . . . .$ ` / W 0 ] a e [ c 1 ] b \ W bU ` h , ` b Z W Y X

2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 : 7 ;
< 7 = 4 6 > ? @ @ A > 4 B 4 5 C 7 3 8D E F : : > G 7 3 E 4 > H

I J > > 7 K 4 L M 5 4 ; G 7 3 E 4 >

N 4 H C N 7 H F J 5 K C : 5O P 4 5 ? 4



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  South Central 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   U-3 

 

LOCATION:   Northeast corner of Green Bay Road and West Washington Avenue 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 165; no PIN 

 

OWNERSHIP:   Unknown 

 

PARCEL SIZE:    0.45 acre 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Vacant 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  None 

 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   The Village owns the small vacant parcel immediately to 

the north, which appears to be a vacated ROW for Blodgett Avenue The rest of 

the area is residential. 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  This vacant parcel was created when the Knollwood Heights 

subdivision was approved in 1924.   Knollwood Heights includes the land 

bordered on the south by Route 176, on the west by Green Bay Road, on the 

north by West Blodgett Avenue and on the east by Rockland Avenue. This parcel 

is noted on the plat as a �Public Park.� The term �Public Park� is also used on the 

plat to designate the small triangle of land to the southwest in the middle of the 

junction of West Washington Avenue and Garfield Avenue. County records do 

not indicate whether the Village or the Lake Bluff Park District owns this land. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D > J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [  ! " W # ^ X [ W b W \ $ ` e \ % a b & W c ] b X V ] a Y \ ' W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c ' ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W # b ] a e \  U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W # a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` ' ` X W _ ] b W e # ^ e W W b ^ e # \ W X ^ # e  U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] ' W & ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b  

( ) ) * +$ ` , W - ] a e [ c . ] b \ W bU ` h / ` b Z W Y X

0 1 2 3 1 4 5 1 6 7
0 1 2 3 1 4 8 9 : 4 ; :

< = > ?@ : A B C D : 6 E F 1 4 5 G HI E J D B K L @ 1 M

I K ; B : N O ?



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  NORTHWEST 

 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   U-4 

 

LOCATION:   South end of Mawman Park 

 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 174, no PIN 

 

OWNERSHIP:   Unknown 

 

PARCEL SIZE:    Approx. 210 x 40 feet (8400 sq ft) 

 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-3 

 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   None; adjacent to park, full of buckthorn 

 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  None 

 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Park to north, residential to south 

 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  Current county mapping records show this small piece of 

land at the far south end of Mawman Park to be a separate parcel but no 

ownership is identified.   It was likely created when land was subdivided just to 

the southwest of this parcel.  A storm sewer serving the land to the southwest 

runs through this parcel. The land is dominated primarily by buckthorn. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + , " $ - % . ( " + / 0 1 . ! -2 % 3 ! 4 " 5 + . 0 6 ! & % $ . - ! + ." , * + , " $ - % . ( " + 7 ! ) ' + " 8 " # 09 : ; 4 " 5 + . 0 / .< % 5 3 ! # % + * 2 = > > : ?@ : A B C D B B E F D B DG % & H $ ( + . ! I " + > : J D 9 J F > 9 A K
L M N O P Q M R S T U V W X W Y W Z [ W \ X ] ^ Y _ W ` [ a b W Y ` c W b d ` c e ] [ ] Z Z a b ` e c f V W b W ^ e [ V W Z a b b W e [ d ` g W h [ W e [  ! " W # ^ X [ W b W \ $ ` e \ % a b & W c ] b X V ] a Y \ ' W Z ] e X a Y [ W \ [ ] \ W [ W b d ^ e W [ V W g b W Z ^ X W Y ] Z ` [ ^ ] e ] _ g b ] g W b [ c ' ] a e \ ` b ^ W X] e [ V W # b ] a e \  U V ^ X d ` g \ ] W X e ] [ Z ] e X [ ^ [ a [ W ` b W # a Y ` [ ] b c \ W [ W b d ^ e ` [ ^ ] e ` e \ ^ X e ] [ ` ' ` X W _ ] b W e # ^ e W W b ^ e # \ W X ^ # e  U V ^ X d ` g ^ X ^ e [ W e \ W \ [ ] ' W & ^ W f W \ ` e \ g b ^ e [ W \ ^ e Z ] Y ] b  

( ) ) * +U ` h , ` b Z W Y X - . / / 0 1 0 2 0 0 2$ ` 3 W 4 ] a e [ c 5 ] b \ W bU ` h , ` b Z W Y X

6 7 8 9 7 : ; 7 < =



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

 

SECTOR:  SOUTH CENTRAL 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   WCHA - 1 

LOCATION:   North end of Wimbledon Court subdivision, between branches of the Union Pacific 

Railroad tracks 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Shields 174; 12-20-412-001 

OWNERSHIP:   Wimbledon Court Homeowners Association 

PARCEL SIZE:    1.8 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  E-2 (AAAA Residence District) 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Dry storm-water detention basin 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 

EASEMENTS, ETC):  It is essential that this parcel continue to serve as a dry storm-water detention 

basin. 

ATTACHMENTS:    

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐6  North Central Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets 

  Sector Summary Review Form 3 Pages 

  Sector Map 1 Page 

  Parcel Maps and Fact Sheets 21 Pages 

   



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels

ComEd Parcels

Great Lakes

Lake Bluff

Lake County

Park District

Private Owner

HOAs

School District

Township

1 Parcel

2 Parcels

4 Parcels

4 Parcels

2 Parcels

1 Parcel

Summary

21 Parcels

2 Parcel

1 Parcel

4 Parcels

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

               SECTOR SUMMARY REVIEW FORM: North Central Sector

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix C-6 North Central Consolidated



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

AWHOA-1 ~9.5 acres HOA HOA Armour Woods out lots U/I P/A R2 No change

Tennis court on one 

out lot

BFHA-1 1.2 acres HOA HOA Belle Foret open space with pond U P E1 No change

BFHA-2 4 acres P LBOL Belle Foret Prairie U P E1 No change; prairie

owned by BFHA PD 

has 99 year lease; 

site is not protected

Get control beyond 99 yrs.

Pursue transfer from HOA to 

PD and est. conservancy

COMED-3 6.1 acres CED CED

N of 176, N/S along RR                  

Com Ed transmission corridor U P C-E, RR

Extension of Skokie Valley 

Bike Path

Support LCDT plan for bike 

path expansion Assess if LB 

needs more control

COMED-4 0.5 acres CED U

N of 176; W of Village Public Works 

Dept. U P R2, C-E

Joint municipal uses; 

storage, etc.

Not in but 

completely 

surrounded by the 

Village

Change border.  Consider 

for storage capacity

GLNTC-1 Unknown US US

Recreational facilities in Forrestal 

Village; in Park Dist. I A ? No change

Determine Park Dist. 

policy on use of 

facilities Determine border issue

LB-13 ~22 acres LB LB Public Works Facility I A O&R

No change; develop addtl 

storage facilities.

LBOLA tour and make 

recommendations

Potential for shared 

facilities

Consider expanding

storage capacity

LB-14 ~0.2 acres each LB LB

4 unimproved ROWs bordering Blair 

Park off 176 U P

3 in R2, 1 in 

R1

No change.  Remove 

invasive plants and restore 

via LBOLA

Potential public 

access to golf course 

area

LB-15 ~8 acres total LB LB

Small parcels N of 176; W of Green 

Bay Road.  Open space U P R2

No change.  Remove 

invasive plants and restore 

via LBOLA

Portions managed by 

LBOLA

LB-33 12 x 465 ft. LB LB

ROW behind homes on west side of 

Campbell Ct. some improvements 

with driveways and use of 

backyards I I R-2

No change based on village 

expressed desire

west border 

unincorporated

LCDT-2 1.1 acres LCDT LCDT

W of Sheridan; adj Tangley Oaks.  

former electric RR ROW U P C-E Bike Path

Bank path connectivity

Owner change needed?

PD-10 ~170 acres PD PD Blair Park I A E1, R1 No change Special Study Area

Golf plan? Ice rink? Land

use for tennis when done

PD-11 0.4 acres PD PD 2 parcels N of 176 I A R2

Open space; transfer to 

Village?

LBOLA clear invasive and 

restore

Current homes being 

removed

Integrate with plan for 

golf and 176 corridor

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

North Central Sector 21 Parcels



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

North Central Sector 21 Parcels

T-3A 0.8 acre T LBOL

Open space, Arden Shores N;  Near 

Lk Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 No change Wetlands

PP-20 0.17 acre P P

Open space; single lot; Near Lk 

Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 No change

PP-21 0.25 acre P P

Residence; near Elementary  School 

and Blair Park I A R1

Public purchase of 

property.

LBOLA could restore to 

prairie. Potential for facilities

provides control to Blair

Park entrance. Gives full 

control of N. side of 

Washington to school/PD

PP-22 0.17 acre P P Residence; N of 176 on Eva Terrace I A R2

Public purchase of property

Use TBD, LBOLA could 

restore

PD has right of first 

refusal

LBPD acquire when can

to control area.  Consider best 

owner as part of 176 Gateway

PP-29 16.2 acre P P

Large estate north of LBES and east 

of golf course I A E-1

No change but monitor for 

change in use. Various/open space

Monitor change of use/sale.  

Assess impact on nearby 

school and golf course

SD-1 10.2 acres S S Lake Bluff Elementary School I A E1 No change

T-3 13 acres T LBOL

Arden Shores N;                              

Lake Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 No change

Formal protection 

agreement in place

TOHA-1 42.3 acres total P P

Tangley Oaks out lots;                                    

open space U P E1 No change



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 09/23/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
    NORTH CENTRAL SECTOR OVERVIEW MAP 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
COMED - 3

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
GLNTC - 1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
 T-3

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-19

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
 PP-20

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
TOHA-1

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
 BFHA - 2

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
  SD - 1

grussell
Oval

grussell
Callout
BFHA - 1

grussell
Text Box
PD-10

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-21

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-13

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
COMED-4

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB- 14: Four Village ROW Parcels Shown In Yellow Along Route 176 And Green Bay 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PD-11: Two Park District Lots Along Route 176

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-22

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB - 15 - Multiple Lots Owned by Village Shown In Green Fronting Route 176 and Green Bay Road 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LCDOT-2

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  6/16/2015

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Text Box
 AWHA-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-33

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-29

grussell
Line



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  NCS-AWHA - 1 - Open Space Parcels Owned by   Armour Woods Homeowner's Association 

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Text Box
AWHA - 1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-AWHA-1 
 

LOCATION:   Armour Woods subdivision 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Armour Woods Homeowners Association 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    Several small parcels 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Open space 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC): Not all parcels have been called out on map. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   NCS-BFHA-1 -  Open Space Parcels Owned By         Belle Foret Homeowner's Association 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
        BFHA - 1 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-BFHA-1 
 

LOCATION:   Belle Foret subdivision 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Belle Foret Homeowners Association 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Open space with pond 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014
Parcel 12-17-301-011 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Tax Parcels: 1217301011

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
      NCS-BFHA - 2 - Belle Foret Prairie - Open Space Parcel           Owned by BFHA and Leased To Park District 

grussell
Callout
         BFHA-2

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-BFHA-02 
 

LOCATION:   West end of Belle Foret subdivision, west side of Green Bay Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1217301011 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Park District 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   E-1 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    4.0 acres 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Prairie 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential, golf course 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Per LBOLA: 

Historical records reveal that the Prairie Preserve once was the back yard of an 
estate on Green Bay Rd. It was never farmed and never had drain tiles installed. 
It was proposed for development along with with the Belle Foret subdivision, 
but Carolyn Goetz discovered rare prairie plants that indicated the property was 
likely a remnant of earlier times and worthy of preservation. The land is owned 
by Belle Foret Homeowners Association and is leased to Lake Bluff Park District. 
LBOLA does some maintenance. 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
        NCS-COMED-3 - Commonwealth Edison       Transmission ROW East of Union Pacific RR

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
COMED - 3

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-COMED-3 
 

LOCATION:   East of Union Pacific Railroad, near Rt. 41 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1219200005, 1218400008, 1218200004 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Commonwealth Edison 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    4.8 + 7.0 + 10.3 = 22.1 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   Southern parcels are in Lake Bluff C-E (Country Estate) 
zoning; northern parcel is in Lake County LI zoning 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Right-of-way 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Railroad, various 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Primarily transmission corridor. 
LCDOT bike master plan envisions Skokie Valley Bike path extending north to 
Route 137. Path currently exists south of Route 176. 
 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
 NCS-COMED-4 - Commonwealth Edison Parcels    In Front of Village's Public Works Facility

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
COMED - 4

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-COMED-4 
 

LOCATION:   In front of Lake Bluff Public Works facility on Rt. 176 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Commonwealth Edison 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Vacant 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Public works 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC): Not in Village boundaries but completely surrounded by 
Village 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/15/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  NCS-GLNTC-1 - Recreational Facilities On GLNTC Property Within      or Very Close To Lake Bluff Park District's Northern Boundary

grussell
Callout
LB Park District Northern Boundary

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
1

grussell
Text Box
2

grussell
Text Box
3

grussell
Text Box
4

grussell
Text Box
5

grussell
Text Box
6

grussell
Text Box
8

grussell
Text Box
7

grussell
Text Box
9

grussell
Text Box
10

grussell
Text Box
11

grussell
Text Box
 1.  Playground & Open Space 2.  Large Open Space  3.  Playground & Open Space 4.  Large Sled Hill 5.  Small Baseball Field 6.  Baseball Field 7.  Baseball Field 8.  Picnic Table Area 9.  Large Open Space & Trails10. Large Community Center 11. Playground & Open Space  *  Many Small Open Space      Parcels Not Called Out    

grussell
Text Box
  GLNTC-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-GLNTC-1 
 

LOCATION:   Great Lakes Naval Training Center 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  Portions of 121710001 and 1207401001 
 

OWNERSHIP:   US Government 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    Can’t be estimated 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   Unknown; North Chicago; military use 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Recreational facilities 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Military 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Forrestal Village portion of Great 
Lakes Naval Training Center within and close to Park District boundaries.  Many 
various recreational facilities exist in this area.  See legend in map. 
 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   NCS-LB-13 - Village Owned Public Works Facility Site        and Park District Maintenance Facility (Leased) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
    LB-13

grussell
Oval

grussell
Callout
Park District Maintenance Facility On Village's Public Work's Site

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-LB-13 
 

LOCATION:   North side of Rt 176, east of Rt. 41 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1218400032, 1220101100, 1219200006, 1219200015, 
1220101100 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Village of Lake Bluff 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    7.6 + 5.2 + 9.4 + 9.4 + 1.7 =  23.9 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   R2, O & R (Office & Research) 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Public works facility 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Railroad, golf course 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Village of Lake Bluff’s Public Work’s 
Facility. Portion of land is used by Park District for a maintenance facility (one 
building in middle of site). 
 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
 NCS-LB-14 -  Four Unimproved Village ROW's Off of Route 176 and Green Bay Road Bordering Blair Park 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-14

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-LB-14 
 

LOCATION:   North side of Rt 176, west of Green Bay Road; one parcel on Green 
Bay Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Village of Lake Bluff 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Unimproved 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Open space, park, golf course 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC): Four unimproved rights-of-way bordering Blair Park and golf 
course, adjacent to strip of Village-owned lots on Rt 176. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
         NCS-LB-15 - Village Owned Lots Along Route 176 and                   Green Bay Road Bordering Blair Park 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-15

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-LB-15 
 

LOCATION:   North side of Rt 176, west of Green Bay Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Village of Lake Bluff 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    Many small, mostly contiguous parcels 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Open space 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential, golf course 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC): Village owns all parcels along this strip except for two lots 
owned by the Park District (where two houses are currently being demolished) – 
see PD-11. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 02/08/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       NCS-LB-33 -  Unimproved Village Alley                    West of Campbell Court 

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Text Box
LB-33

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



NCS-LB-33 
This is a 12-foot wide x 465 foot long Village ROW.  Portions of this parcel are utilized by 
adjacent private property owners for driveways and rear yards.  A past Village study 
recommended that the Village hold onto this parcel given the unknowns associated with the 
unincorporated area to the west of the parcel.  
 
 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   NCS-LCDOT-2 - Former Electric Railroad       Right-Of-Way Now Owned By LCDOT

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
       LCDOT - 2

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LCDOT ROW Leased to Great Lakes Naval Training Center 

grussell
Callout
West Blodgett ROW

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-LCDOT-2 
 

LOCATION:   West side of Sheridan Road, north of Rt 176 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  No PIN assigned 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Lake County Department of Transportation 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    Unknown 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   RR 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Right-of-way 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential, Sheridan Road 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Former site of Electric Railroad. Site 
is located along east side of Tangley Oaks Subdivision and west of Union Pacific 
Railroad.  Parcel shown extends from West Blodgett Avenue on south to Great 
Lakes on north.  Site encumbered with Tangley Oaks sewage force main and 
various other utilities. 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  NCS-PD-10 - Lake Bluff Park District's Blair Park 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
 PD-10

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-PD-10 
 

LOCATION:   North side of Rt. 176, west of Green Bay Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
1218400009 27.8 acres 
1217301001 15.0 
1217300022 54.0 
1220101009 49.2 
1220102001 5.8 
1220206005 1.2 
1220206014 0.5 
1220211001 1.3 
1220211002 1.3 
1220211012 1.2 
1220105001 0.3 
1220105002 1.2 
1220212001 1.0 
1220105007 0.2 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Park District 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    160 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   E-1, R-1 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Blair Park, Lake Bluff Golf Course 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential, school, open space 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS:  
 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   NCS-PD-11 - Park District Owned Parcels      On Route 176 - Former Home Sites

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
  PD-11

grussell
Text Box
Houses Have Been Removed Since Photo Taken

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-PD-11 
 

LOCATION:   North side of Rt. 176, west of Eva Terrace 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1220101098, 1220101081 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Park District 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    0.25 + 0.17 = 0.42 acre 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-2 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Houses have been removed 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Golf course, Blair Park, open space 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS:  
 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       NCS-PP-20 - Private Parcel In           Lake Genevieve Area 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
       PP-20

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-PP-20 
 

LOCATION:   Arden Shores North, adjacent to Lake Genevieve Conservation Area 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Private 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:  
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential; Lake Genevieve Conservation Area 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC): See Lake Genevieve Conservation Area, Parcel T-3 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Tax Parcels: 1217205007

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
 NCS-PP-21 - Privately Owned Parcel Bordered by         Both School District and Park District 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP - 21

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-PP-21 
 

LOCATION:   West end of Washington Ave., west of Green Bay Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1220102002 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Private 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    0.2 acre 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-1 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Residential 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Park District; School District 65 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Privately owned parcel improved 
with house.  Property bordered on west by golf course maintenance facilities 
and on north and east by School District 65’s Lake Bluff Elementary School. 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014
Parcel 12-20-101-097 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Tax Parcels: 1220101097

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   NCS-PP-22 - Privately Owned Parcel Bordered       by Park District and Village Owned Parcels

grussell
Callout
         PP-22

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-PP-22 
 

LOCATION:   North side of Rt. 176, west side of Eva Terrace 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1220101097 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Private 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    0.17 acre 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   R-2 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Residential 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Park District; Village-owned parcels 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Privately owned parcel improved 
with house; only remaining privately owned home along the north side of Route 
176 between Union Pacific freight line and Green Bay Road.  Bordered on the 
north by Blair Park. 



Lake County, Illinois

Lake County
Department of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

400 ft

Map Printed on 5/18/2015

Geographic Information System

Tax Parcels

Parcel 1217300017 is outlined.

¯
 

Disclaimer: The selected feature may not occur anywhere in the current map extent.  A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design.  This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

grussell
Text Box
      NCS-PP-29 - Privately Owned Parcel Improved with Estate   House and Several Smaller Dwellings - Primarily Open Space

grussell
Callout
PP-29 

grussell
Callout
Lake Bluff Elementary

grussell
Text Box
Green Bay Road

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-PP-29 
 

LOCATION:   North of Lake Bluff Elementary School, west side of Green Bay Road 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  1217300017 
 

OWNERSHIP:   Private 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    16.2 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:   E-1 
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Residential 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Park District; elementary school; residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS: Parcel is improved with a 
single-family estate residence and several smaller dwellings and accessory 
structures.  The entire westerly portion of the property is open space. Property 
is on well and septic.  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  NCS-SD-1 - Lake Bluff Elementary School District Parcel 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
SD - 1

grussell
Text Box
Stormwater Detention Leased From Park District

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-SD-1 
 

LOCATION:   West side of Green Bay Road, north of Rt. 41 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Lake Bluff Elementary School District 65 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Elementary school and grounds 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential; Park District 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC): 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     NCS-T-3 - Shields Township Parcels     (Lake Genevieve Conservation Area)

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  T- 3

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-T-3 
 

LOCATION:   Arden Shores North 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Shields Township 
 

PARCEL SIZE:    19 parcels 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Lake Genevieve Conservation Area 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential; military to the north 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  Per LBOLA: 
This 13-acre site was once 19 lots, plus a wetland that in real estate hype 
became Lake Genevieve. Neglected for years, it became a dumping ground for 
everything from broken concrete to household junk and yard waste. In the early 
90's a couple of neighbors got together to save the lots and wetland from 
development. The circle of concerned people grew and today Lake Genevieve is 
owned by Shields Township and managed by LBOLA. 
Serious restoration work started in 2008; since then 75 volunteers have given 
thousands of hours of labor. Today it is 95% complete and has a wood-chip trail 
and two bridges and has been the site of high school biology work. This site now 
boasts a beautiful wetland and scores of mature oaks that some how survived 
the last 200 years. 
The first woodland burn was completed in 2010 and the woodland understory is 
maturing in a spectacular fashion. Some time in the distant past Shields 
Township allowed the Navy to run a sewer line through the roadway of 
Bayshore Dr.; this resulted in the causeway that now bisects the wetlands. At 
some later date an illegal ditch was dug that partially drained the wetlands. A 
formal agreement exists between LBOLA and Shields Township and this site is 
protected. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 



RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/12/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
    NCS-PP-19 - Private Parcel In          Lake Genevieve Area

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
    PP-19

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-T-3A 
 

LOCATION:   Arden Shores North, adjacent to Lake Genevieve Conservation Area 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Shields Township 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  0.8 acres  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:  
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  Managed by LBOLA 
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential; Lake Genevieve Conservation Area 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC): See Lake Genevieve Conservation Area, Parcel T-3 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/14/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  NCS-TOHA-1 - Open Space Parcels Owned by      Tangley Oaks Homeowner's Association 

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Oval

grussell
Text Box
TOHA - 1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 
 

SECTOR:  NORTH CENTRAL 
 

MAP REFERENCE NO:   NCS-TOHA-1 
 

LOCATION:   Tangley Oaks 
 

TAX MAP AND PIN:  
 

OWNERSHIP:   Tangley Oaks Homeowners Association 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  
 

CURRENT USE OF PROPERTY:   Open space 
 

MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CURRENT USE:  
 

ADJACENT LAND USES:   Residential 
 

ISSUES AND MISCELLANEOUS COMMENTS (DEED RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC):  
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION:  



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐7  South East Sector: Sector Map, Parcel Maps, and Parcel Fact Sheets 

  Sector Summary Review Form 5 Pages 

  Sector Map 1 Page 

  Parcel Maps and Fact Sheets 35 Pages 

   



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels

IDOT Parcels

Lake Bluff

Lake Bluff Library

LBOLA

Lake Forest

Park District

Private Owner

HOAs

School District

Union Pacific

1 Parcel

5 Parcels

2 Parcels

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

Summary

35 Parcels

2 Parcel

20 Parcel

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

               SECTOR SUMMARY REVIEW FORM: South East Sector

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix C-7



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

IDOT-8 70 ft. wide IDOT LB

S. of E Blodgett to Scranton

Bike Path west of Sheridan Rd. I A RR

Bike Path owned/maint.

Surrounding land owned

by IDOT.  More control if LB 

owns all 

W. edge improved 

with

Village's train lot

Village obtain via 

jurisdictional transfer to 

control

parcel with influence on bike 

path, main train lot and 

adjacent CBD

IDOT-9 70 ft. wide IDOT LB

Continuation of IDOT-8

Bike Path from Scranton

to south Village border I A RR

Bike Path owned/maint.

Surrounding land owned

by IDOT.  More control if LB 

owns all 

Village obtain via 

jurisdictional transfer to 

control

bike path & adjacent

LB-16 50 x98 ft. LB LB

Just South of train station

sidewalk connecting lower

Scranton with upper bike

path along Sheridan I A E-1 No change

LB-17

.07, .12, .14, .28, 

.21, .31, .45 

acres south to 

north LB LB

7 lots east of Sheridan between 

North and Blodgett Aves. U P

R-4

CBD

Consolidate maint w/ S. 

Green Strip? No change in 

use; any change to consider 

former gas station site.  

Consult LBOLA and native 

planting potential

Some donated by 

Blair family.  Some 

maintain by LB 

Garden Club?

LB-18

2 lots

1 @ .7 acres all 

VG 1 @ 1.9 that 

is equal split 

between VG, 

Pub Safety and 

LB-24 LB LB Village Green I A R-3 No change Two parcels

LB-19 < 50 ft. wide LB LB

sidewalk between

36 E. North & 100 E. North I A R-5

No change if resident use 

continues

was larger but some 

land sold to 

residences

LB-20 .14 acres LB LB

Parking lot SW corner of Walnut 

and North I A CBD No change

LB-21 .15 acres LB LB

Walnut House SE corner Walnut 

and North Ave I A R-5

Evaluate in context of other 

storage sites, also in 

conjunction with plan for 

CBD

former home now 

used as storage.  2/3 

open with mature 

Oak trees

Is storage highest & best

use?  Sale potential? 

Consolidate with adjacent

to develop project?

LB-22 .29 acres LB LB Village Hall I A R-5 No change

South East Sector 35 Parcels

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

South East Sector 35 Parcels

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

LB-23

2 lots

1 @.9 and 1 @ 

1.9 split 

between here, 

VG, and LB-24 LB

LB

IDOT Village Public Safety Building I A R-3 No change

Roadway on west 

end maintained by 

IDOT. 

LB-24

part of 1.9 acres 

see LB-23, LB-18 LB LB

Open space between Sheridan Rd 

on west and IDOT connector road 

(Sheridan to Scranton) U P R-3 No change

LB-25 .38 acres LB LB

open lot wooded ravine W. of Bluff 

Rd. & S. of Blodgett U P E-1 No change; not buildable

Need history on 

when Village took 

ownership and how 

and why ownership 

changed

LB-26 16 x 1000 ft. LB LB

Lillian Dells ravine path from Maple 

Ave/North to beach U I E-1

No change; costly to 

connect to Sunrise Beach

donated to Village 

1909 with stipulation 

to be maintained as 

pleasure drive

LB-27

60' wide Sunrise-

water LB LB Forms part of park and beach. U/I A R-3 consider transfer to PD

Improved with paths 

to beach

Transfer ownership from

Village to LBPD

LB-28 190 ft. x 280 ft. LB

LB

NSD

Beach area: lease to NSSD and also 

house LB Yacht Club I A R-3 No change

majority is NSD 

pump station leased 

from LB, also LB 

Yacht Club and beach

Consolidate ownership

with LBPD?  Formalize use

by Yacht Club

LB-29 12 x 320 ft. LB LB

Alley from south of LBMS and north 

edge of Circle Dr. Used to walk to 

LBMS I I R-4 consider transfer to School

improved with path.  

Portion to Vincent 

Ct. sold to 

homeowners.  Also 

public utility 

easement

Change ownership from 

Village to School or vacate 

one half to school and 

residents.

Need legal opinion on 

neighboring resident rights

LB-30 12 ft. wide LB LB

Alley between Newman Ct. and 

Briar Ln. U I R-4 transfer to homeowners

one private drive on 

north end.  Mainly 

backyards of 

residences

Change ownership from

Village to homeowners



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

South East Sector 35 Parcels

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

LB-31 55 x 250 ft. LB LB

South of intersection Sheridan Rd 

and Oak Terrace I I R-2 no change

improved with path 

connecting to path 

maintained by LF.  

Part of path to LFHS.

LB-34 60 x 120 ft. LB LB

ROW Washington Ave east of 

Moffett I I R-2

Village desires maintain in 

current state

Improved with 

walking path

LB-35

irregular shape

large parcel LB LB

wooded Ravine west and north side 

of Mountain Ave U P R-4

Village has rejected 

purchase offer from 

resident to purchase 

portion for addition to 

backyard None

LB-36 U LB LB

Gurney ROW between Ravine and 

E. Sheridan Ave I I R-2 Village desires no change

Improved with 

bridge

LB-37 U LB LB

Glen Ave ROW between E. Prospect 

and Sylvan I I R-4 Village desires no change

Improved with 

bridge

LBL-1 .43 acres 3 lots LBL LB

Site of LB Library & History

Museum I A R-4

No change, both may need 

more space

History Museum 

leases

from Library

LBOLA-1 2 lots 1.5 acres LBOL LBOL NE corner Moffett & Lakeland Dr. U P E-1 no change

donated by owner of 

adjacent north parcel

LF-1 Unknown LF LF north edge of LF Cemetery I A E-1

no change; highlight border 

issue

border issue N. edge 

of cemetery in LB.

Establish recognition of

situation by LF & LB

LHA-1 1.9 acres HOA HOA

Two open parcels in Landsowne 

subdivision U P E-1 No change

Developer owns but 

will transfer to HOA  

West parcel has 

walking path for 

continued public use

PD-12 11.3 acres PD PD Artesian Park I A R-3

No change; consider bldg. 

modification for expanding 

meeting space alternatives

Extend path thru park to 

connect to Sheridan Rd.

5 ball fields, warming 

house, ice rink, 5 

tennis courts.  Also 

active use by LBMS

Modify warming house for

meeting space and storage

PD-14

2 parcels

West 3.2 acres

East 2.7 acres PD PD

Two parcels forming west end of 

Ravine Park U I R-4 no change

Village owns Gurney 

Ave ROW and ped. 

Bridge



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

South East Sector 35 Parcels

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

PD-15

2 parcels

West 3.2 acres

East 2.7 acres PD PD

Two parcels forming east end of 

Ravine Park U I E-1 no change

Village owns Moffett 

Rd ROW and bridge 

crossing

PD-13

Nor. to sou. .7, 

.5, .4, 2.0 (N/S 

Rav Forest), .8 

(N/S 

Hawthorne), .13, 

.47 (N/S Sunset), 

.36 PD PD

Green Strip east side of Sheridan 

Rd. from south Village boundary to 

E. Sheridan Place U I R-2, 3, 4

same party doing maint as 

LB-17.  Transfer two lots 

west of LBMS to school? 

Develop portion of larger 

lots--retaining green strip.  

Could restore to praire and 

buffalo grass allowing 

periodic use for parking

11 lots open mowed 

space.  Assumed 

most donated by 

Blair family. Need 

review on 

restrictions.

Is LBPD most appropriate

owner? Maintainer?  Can

select lots be developed

w/o altering character?

Can maintenance change

to lower costs? Improve

drainage?

PD-16 10.7 acres PD PD

Parcels forming majority of Sunrise 

Park and Sunrise Beach I A R-3

assess state of current 

plans

LB owns LB-27 and 

LB-28 in park.  So. 

end encumbered w/ 

pvt. park (PP-23).  

Village rd extends 

into SW corner for 

access to 2 homes.  

More study needed.

Are beach improvements

funded with new money

outside PD budgets?  

Quantify maintenance

cost new improvements.

PD evaluate ownership

of LB-27 & LB-28.

PP-23 20 x 210 ft. P P Private park S. end of Sunrise Park U P R-1

document current 

encroachment, limit further 

encroachment and clarify 

access

Lake Park subdiv. 

doc. (1891) est. pvt 

park.  More research 

needed

LBPD review to clarify

border issues & uses

PP-28 7,375 sq. ft. P P

wooded parcel South of Lillian Dells 

Drive. U P R-2

Village has expressed 

interest in purchasing from 

owner 700 Mountain None

Recommend Village buy

to protect as open space

SD-2

2 parcels

5.3 & 1.1 acres S S LBMS and former East school U/I P/A R-4 no change

LBMS improved.  

East school site 

unimproved.

School reviewing LBMS

School will lead on East

School site usage

UP-1

12.8 acres from 

north edge of 

this prop to 

South border of 

town UP

UP

LB Train lot and station I A RR no change

LB does routine 

maintenance.  UP 

does major repairs.



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 10/20/2014

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

1000 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
        SOUTH EAST SECTOR OVERVIEW MAP 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Oval

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
IDOT-8

grussell
Callout
LBL-1

grussell
Callout
   LB-16

grussell
Callout
LB-17

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-18

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-19

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-20

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-21

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-22

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-23

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-24

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-25

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-27

grussell
Text Box
LB-28

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-29

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LHA-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LF-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PD-12

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PD-13

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PD-14

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  PD-16

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-23

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
SD-2

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  UP-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-31

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
IDOT - 9

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-30

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
PP-28

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-35

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LB-26

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Text Box
 LB-34

grussell
Line

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Text Box
LB-36

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box

grussell
Text Box
LB-37

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015

grussell
Text Box
PD-15

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
LBOLA-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
R - 7/8/2015

grussell
Line

grussell
Line



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/13/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

User Graphic:

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       SES-IDOT-8 - Vacated Electric RR ROW - Now Owned by IDOT and           Improved with McClory Bike Path and Train Station Entrance    

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
IDOT - 8 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESIDOT8 

LOCATION:  Approximate 1,400 long x 70foot wide parcel along the west 
side of Sheridan Road extending from East Blodgett Avenue on 
the north to West Scranton Avenue on the South.   
 

TAX PIN:  Northerly Portion of 1221100001 

OWNERSHIP:  Illinois Department of Transportation  

PARCEL SIZE:  Approximate 2.25 Acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  (RR) Railroad Zoning 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Parcel is primarily open space along the west side of Sheridan 
Road. It is improved with the Robert McClory Bike Path and the 
Village’s main train station entrance.  Far west side of parcel 
may be improved with Village’s main train station lot.  
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Railroad to the west; open space and bike path to north and 
south; residential, commercial, and Village Green to east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Site of former electric railroad.  Parcel became IDOT ownership 
following abandonment of Railroad.  Similar parcels in Lake 
Forest are under City of Lake Forest ownership.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

600 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
            SES-IDOT-9 - Vacated Electric RR ROW Now Owned By IDOT and                                    Improved With McClory Bike Path 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
      IDOT-9 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESIDOT9  

LOCATION:  Group of parcels along the west side of Sheridan Road 
approximately 3,580 feet in total length, varying in width from 
100feet to 70feet, and extending from West Scranton Avenue 
on the north to the southerly Village limit.  
 

TAX PIN:  Southerly Portion of 1221100001  

OWNERSHIP:  Illinois Department of Transportation  

PARCEL SIZE:  Approximate 6.8 Acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  (RR) Railroad Zoning 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Parcels are primarily open space along the west side of 
Sheridan Road. It is improved with the Robert McClory Bike 
Path.   
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Railroad to the west; open space and bike path to north and 
south; and residential to the east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Site of former electric railroad.  Parcels became IDOT 
ownership following abandonment of Railroad.  Similar parcels 
in Lake Forest are under City of Lake Forest ownership.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  SES-LBL-1 - Lake Bluff Library and History Museum Parcel

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LBL-1

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLBL1 

LOCATION:  Southeast corner of East Scranton Avenue and Oak Avenue  
 

TAX PIN:  1221116001, 002, & 003 

OWNERSHIP:  Parcel is owned by the Lake Bluff Library – Lake Bluff History 
Museum leases portion of structure. 

PARCEL SIZE:  150feet x 125 feet or about 0.43 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Lake Bluff Library and Lake Bluff History Museum 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential to east and south; Commercial to 
north and west 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/25/2015
Parcel 12-21-402-069 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Tax Parcels: 1221402069

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  SES-LBOLA - 1   Open Space Wooded Parcel Owned by Lake Bluff Open               Lands Association - Parcel is Known as Moffett Woods

grussell
Callout
Cambridge Lane

grussell
Callout
Moffett Road 

grussell
Callout
LBOLA-1

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLBOLA1 

LOCATION:  Northeast corner of Moffett Road and Cambridge Lane 
 

TAX PIN:  1221402068 & 069 

OWNERSHIP:  Lake Bluff Open Lands Association 

PARCEL SIZE:  Odd shaped parcel of approximately 1.45 acres in size.  

CURRENT ZONING:  E1 and E2 Estate Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Open Space – Heavily Wooded Parcel 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  SES-LF-1 - Northern End of Lake Forest Cemetery         Within Limits of Village of Lake Bluff 

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
South Limit of Village of Lake Bluff 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
       LF-1 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLF1 

LOCATION:  Extreme Southeastern portion of Village 
 

TAX PIN:  Extreme northerly portion of large parcel with PIN  
1228202048 
 

OWNERSHIP:  City of Lake Forest 

PARCEL SIZE:  Approximately 2 acres is within the Village of Lake Bluff  

CURRENT ZONING:  E1 Estate Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Northerly portion of Lake Forest Cemetery – The vast majority 
of the portion of the parcel within Lake Bluff is wooded ravine.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential to north and west.  Lake Forest 
Cemetery to south and Lake Michigan to east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Small burial ground portion of cemetery appears to be within 
limits of the Village of Lake Bluff  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015
Parcel 12-21-402-099 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1221402099

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       SES-LHA-1 - Lansdowne Homeowner Association                              Open Space Parcels

grussell
Oval

grussell
Callout
LHA-1

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLHA1 

LOCATION:  Open Space Parcels within Lansdowne Subdivision  
 

TAX PIN:  1221402099 – Larger Open Space Parcel at Northwest 
Corner of Subdivision 
1221410002 – Smaller CulDeSac Island at East End of 
Road 
 

OWNERSHIP:  Lansdowne Subdivision Homeowner’s Association 

PARCEL SIZE:  Larger Outlot “A” parcel at northwest corner of subdivision is 
81,483 square feet.   Small Culdesac parcel is 1,963 square 
feet for a total of approximately 1.9 acres.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  E1 and E2 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Open Space – Large Outlot is wooded with public walking path. 
Smaller parcel is landscaped are in middle of culdesac 
 
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015
Parcel 12-21-100-005 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1221100005

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
           SES-PD-12 - Artesian Park 

grussell
Text Box
PD-12

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESPD12 

LOCATION:  Northwest corner of Sheridan Road and East Sheridan Place 
Known as Artesian Park 
 

TAX PIN:  1221100005 

OWNERSHIP:  Lake Bluff Park District 

PARCEL SIZE:  Acreage from deed is 11.38 acres.  

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Artesian Park – Improved with ball fields, playground,  tennis 
courts, shelter and warming facility, hockey rink in winter, and 
open space areas.   
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single family to east; Public Safety Building to north; Lake Bluff 
Middle School to south and Sheridan Road, bike path and RR 
tracks to west.  
 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Fields used by Lake Bluff Middle School.  Portion of Tennis 
Court Parking Lot is on Village property. Various utilities run 
through parcel including the large NSSD sanitary force main. 
Open drainage swale also runs through parcel and must be 
maintained.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
           SES-PD-13 - Eleven Park District Owned           Open Space Parcels Along Sheridan Road

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PD-13

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESPD13 

LOCATION:  Eleven Open Space Parcels, (12 Separate PINS) primarily 
maintained as lawn areas located along the east side of 
Sheridan Road between East Sheridan Place on the north and 
East Sheridan Road on the south. 
 

TAX PIN:  1221300002, 1221300008, 1221301001, 1221301006, 
1221304001, 1221304027, 1221304048, 1221304078, 
and 1221304050 
 

OWNERSHIP:  Lake Bluff Park District 

PARCEL SIZE:  The combined acreage of all the parcels is 5.3 acres per Lake 
County GIS records.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R2, R3 and R4 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Serves as part of Village open space corridor along both sides 
of Sheridan Road as southerly entrance to Village. Lawn areas 
serve as passive park areas for adjacent residents to the east.  
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential to east and south; Artesian Park to 
north; Lake Bluff Middle School to northeast; and railroad, bike 
path and Sheridan Road to west 
 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Some parcels have Village water mains.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015
Parcel 12-21-124-016 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1221124016

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
    SES-PD-14 - Ravine Park Parcels Owned by Park District              Between Evanston Avenue and Gurney Avenue 

grussell
Callout
PD-14

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
East Prospect Ave.

grussell
Callout
Evanston Avenue

grussell
Callout
Gurney Avenue

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East  

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESPD14 

LOCATION:  Westerly portion of Ravine Park between Evanston Avenue and 
Gurney Avenue (Two Parcels)  
 

TAX PIN:  1221124016 

OWNERSHIP:  Lake Bluff Park District  

PARCEL SIZE:  These two parcels located between Evanston Avenue and 
Ravine Park are shown to be 140,698 square feet or 
approximately 3.23 acres in size in Lake County GIS data base.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Zoning  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Westerly end of Ravine Park – Wooded ravine improved with 
walking path from Evanston Avenue to several hundred feet 
west of Gurney Avenue  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Stormwater Erosion and invasive trees and plants are issues of 
concern. Walking path now terminates east of Gurney Avenue 
due to decades of erosion and steeper side slopes in ravine.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015
Parcel 12-21-222-015 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Tax Parcels: 1221222015

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
            SES-PD-15 - Ravine Park Parcels Owned by Park District                      Between Gurney Avenue and Simpson Avenue

grussell
Callout
PD-15

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
Gurney Ave. 

grussell
Callout
Moffett Rd. 

grussell
Callout
Simpson Ave. 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESPD15 

LOCATION:  Portions of Ravine Park Between Gurney Avenue ROW and 
easterly end of Park adjacent to approximately Simpson 
Avenue extended southerly  
 

TAX PIN:  1221222015 

OWNERSHIP:  Lake Bluff Park District 

PARCEL SIZE:  Two parcels serving as easterly end of Ravine Park between 
Gurney Avenue and Simpson Avenue are shown to be 116,209 
square feet or approximately 2.66 acres.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Easterly Portion of Ravine Park – Wooded Ravine – no walking 
paths exist through this portion of Ravine Park due to steep 
side slopes  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Stormwater Erosion and invasive trees and plants are issues of 
concern.   

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
          SES-PD-16 - Sunrise Park Parcels                    Owned by Park District

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PD-16

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
See PP-23

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015

grussell
Text Box
Village Owned Parcels 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East  

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESPD16 

LOCATION:  Sunrise Park and Beach Along Lake Michigan 
 

TAX PIN:  Three parcels owned by Park District: 1221200010; 
1221217001 and 1221217002 

OWNERSHIP:  Lake Bluff Park District  

PARCEL SIZE:  The three parcels owned by the Lake Bluff Park District that 
constitute Sunrise Beach and Park total approximately 10.7 
acres. The two Village owned parcel total approximately 1.65 
acres.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Sunrise Beach and Park  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Village owns two parcel within the functional limits of Sunrise 
Beach and Park – Refer to SESLB27 and SESLB28.  The 
North Shore Sanitary District operates a sanitary sewer 
pumping station on SESLB28. Lake Bluff Yacht Club is 
located on SESLB28.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   SES-PP-23 - Private Parcel at South End of Sunrise Park 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-23

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESPP23 

LOCATION:  Extreme southwest corner of Sunrise Park  
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax PIN Assigned 

OWNERSHIP:  County Tax Records Indicate Parcel is part Sunrise Park, 
however deed creating subject parcel indicates it may be 
private 
 

PARCEL SIZE:  20foot wide x approximately 200foot long “private park”  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Zoning 
 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

20foot wide private park area is improved with portions of two 
residential driveways adjoining the east end of Ravine Avenue  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single family residential to south and west and Sunrise Park to 
north and east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Referenced 20foot wide private park was created in 1891 as 
part of the Lake Park Subdivision. The plat of subdivision 
indicates it is for access for the private property owners to the 
south.  Records need to clarified.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 02/08/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  SES-PP-28 - Privately Owned Parcel South of Lillian Dells Drive                   Westerly Portion of 700 Mountain Avenue 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
PP-28

grussell
Callout
Lillian Dells Drive

grussell
Text Box
#700

grussell
Callout
Mountain Ave. 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESPP28 

LOCATION:  South of west end of Lillian Dells Drive and northwest of 
northwest corner of Mountain Avenue ROW  
 

TAX PIN:  1221207007 

OWNERSHIP:  Privately Owned  

PARCEL SIZE:  Approximately 330feet east to west and variable 40feet and 
less in north to south direction – total area is 7,374 square feet 
or 0.17 acres. 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R2 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Parcel is a wooded ravine slope on the north side of Lillian 
Dells Drive and the far westerly portion of the property known 
as #700 Mountain Avenue  
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Lillian Dells Drive directly to north and single family residential 
in other directions 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Village previously sought to acquire parcel to improve access to 
Lillian Dells Drive and to control this land located between 
Lillian Dells Drive and the wooded portion of the Mountain 
Avenue ROW.  Two Village storm sewers run through parcel.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       SES-SD-2 - Lake Bluff Middle School Property

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
SD - 2

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESSD2 

LOCATION:  Lake Bluff Middle School Property located at southeast corner 
of East Sheridan Place and Sheridan Road 
 

TAX PIN:  1221301035 and 1221300003 

OWNERSHIP:  Lake Bluff School District 65 

PARCEL SIZE:  The two parcels combined total 6.52 acres per Lake County 
GIS mapping system 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Zoning 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Property is the site of the Lake Bluff Middle School and 
adjacent open space to east. 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single family residential to south and east; Artesian Park to the 
north; and railroad, bike path and Sheridan Road to the west. 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/13/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

User Graphic:

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
     SES-UP-1 -  Portion of Union Pacific Parcel Occupied by Lake Bluff's                            Train Station and Train Station Parking Lot 

grussell
Callout
UP - 1

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESUP1 

LOCATION:  Parcel on which Train Station is Located, Train Parking Lot 
North of Station,  and Union Pacific Maintenance Area North of 
Train Parking Lot – All West of Sheridan Road 
 

TAX PIN:  Northerly portion of property with PIN 1221300009 

OWNERSHIP:  Union Pacific Railroad 

PARCEL SIZE:  Approximately 3.75 Acres and about 1,300 feet in length 
between East Blodgett Avenue ROW and West Scranton 
Avenue  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  RR Railroad Zoning 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Improved with Train Station, Train Station Parking Lot, Union 
Pacific Maintenance Area to north of Parking Lot.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential and Commercial Uses to east and 
Single Family and Private School (Montessori) to west 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/13/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

User Graphic:

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
  SES-LB- 16 - Villlage Owned Parcel South of Train Station 

grussell
Callout
LB - 16 



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB16 

LOCATION:  West of Sheridan Road and immediately south of the Village’s 
train station.  
 

TAX PIN:  1221100002  

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  50feet east to west and varying in length north to south at 
approximate average length of 95feet.  Total area is 4,842 
square feet or approximately 0.11 acres.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  (RR) Railroad Zoning 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Open Space Parcel on south side of Village’s train station.  A 
portion of the switchback path connecting Robert McClory Bike 
Trail with the sidewalk along the north side of the W. Scranton 
Avenue underpass is located on this parcel.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Village’s train station is to the north; Union Pacific railroad line 
and train station platform to the west, West Scranton Avenue to 
the south and Robert McClory Bike Path parcel to the east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/13/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

User Graphic:

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
    SES-LB-17 -  Seven Village Owned Vacant Open Space Parcels                       Along East Side of Sheridan Road 

grussell
Callout
      LB - 17 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB17  

LOCATION:  Numerous parcels along east side of Sheridan Road between 
East Blodgett Avenue on the north and East Scranton Avenue 
on the south.  
 

TAX PIN:  1221101001,002, and 010; 1221104010; 1221107001, 
017 and 018; and 1221109001 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  Parcels vary in size from 3,300 square feet on up to 25,740 
square feet based on parcel frontage off of side streets along 
Sheridan Road.    Total land area equals approximately 1.8 
acres.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  Southerly parcel is in Central Business District (CBD). 
Northwesterly most parcel is zoned R3 Single Family; all 
remaining parcels are zoned R4 Single Family.   
 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

All parcels are open space primarily with lawn and trees. 
Parcels on the northeast corner of E. Washington and Sheridan 
and southeast corner of E. North and Sheridan are improved 
with various ornamental landscaping and actively maintained.  
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Overall group of parcels is bordered on the north by open 
space in Crab Tree Farm, by residential on the east, by 
commercial/retail on the south and Sheridan Road on the west.  
 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Parcel at southeast corner of E. North Avenue and Sheridan is 
a former gas station and may have environmental issues.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/13/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

300 ft

User Graphic:

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
 SES-LB-18 - Village Owned Parcels - Village Green

grussell
Callout
LB - 18 Village Green 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East  

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB18 

LOCATION:  Village Green parcels bordered on the north by E. Scranton 
Avenue, on the west by Sheridan Road, on the east by E. 
Center Avenue and on the south by W. Scranton Avenue.  
 

TAX PIN:  1221114001 and northerly portion of 1221100003 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  Parcel is over 1 acre. Exact size not determined. Parcel 
1221100003 also includes Public Safety Building Propety  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Village Green – Used for a variety of community activities 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Sheridan Road to the west; Central Business District uses to 
the north and east; Public Safety Building to southwest. 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Portions of Village Green area on the west and south sides are 
slightly within IDOT ROW.   

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/13/2015
Parcel 12-21-107-051 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

User Graphic:

Tax Parcels: 1221107051

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
  SES-LB-19 - Village Owned Parcel For Pedestrian Walk 

grussell
Callout
LB - 19 

grussell
Text Box
 East North Avenue 

grussell
Callout
Walnut Avenue 

grussell
Callout
Oak Avenue 

grussell
Text Box
E. Washington Avenue 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB19 

LOCATION:  North side of East North Avenue between 36. E. North and 100 
E. North. 
 

TAX PIN:  1221107051 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  123 feet north to south and varies in width at less than about 
20feet.   Small parcel to accommodate sidewalk. 1,272 Square 
feet total.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 and R5 Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Property is improved with a public sidewalk extending north to 
south.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Residential uses surround property.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Property owners are either side of parcel are responsible for 
vegetative maintenance.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
         SES-LB-20 - Walnut Avenue Public Parking Lot

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-20

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East  

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB20 

LOCATION:  Southwest corner of E. North Avenue and Walnut Avenue 
 

TAX PIN:  1221109006 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  50feet x 125 feet (@ 0.15 acres)  

CURRENT ZONING:  Central Business District (CBD) 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Village’s Walnut Avenue Parking Lot 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Commercial uses to south; Village owned lot to east with 
storage facility and open space; and residential uses to west 
and north.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     SES-LB-21 - Village Owned Parcel - Open Space and Storage Building

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-21

grussell
Callout
Walnut Avenue

grussell
Text Box
North Avenue 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB21 

LOCATION:  Southeast corner of E. North Avenue and Walnut Avenue 
 

TAX PIN:  1221110001 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  49.25 feet x 125 feet or about 0.14 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  R5 Multiple Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Improved with a small older home on the south end used as a 
Village storage facility and open spaces with mature trees on 
the north end.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Commercial to south; public parking to west; and residential to 
north and east 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       SES-LB-22 - Village Hall Property 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-22 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB22 

LOCATION:  40 E. Center Avenue – Village Hall property 
 

TAX PIN:  1221115005 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  Parcel is approximately 0.29 acres  

CURRENT ZONING:  R5 Multiple Family Zoning 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Village Hall 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Village Green to west; Public Safety Building to south; 
Commercial to north and northwest; and multiple family 
dwelling to east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
      SES-LB-23 - Public Safety Building Property 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-23

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB23 

LOCATION:  45 E. Center Avenue (Public Safety Building Property) 
 

TAX PIN:  1221119001 and 007; also southerly portion of 
1221100003 which also includes south portion of Village 
Green and open space to west of PSB (SESLB24)  
 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  85,517 square feet or about 1.96 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Village’s Public Safety Building Property for Police and Fire 
Departments.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Artesian Park to south; residential to east, Village Hall to north; 
Village Green to northwest.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

A very small southeasterly portion of the property is improved 
with the Lake Bluff Park District’s Artesian Park Parking lot. The 
far westerly portion of the recorded parcel is improved with a 
public road that has not been formerly dedicated.   

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
      SES-LB-24 - Village Owned Open Space Parcel           (West of Public Safety Building Property) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Pencil

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-24

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB24 

LOCATION:  East of Sheridan Road and due west of Public Safety Building 
Parcel 
 

TAX PIN:  Portion of PIN 1221100003 – This PIN also assigned to south 
end of Village Green and portion of Public Safety Property 
 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  Less than 1/3 acre – Exact Size not known  

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Open parkway maintained as lawn area – bounded  by 
Sheridan Road to the west; Village Green to north and Public 
Safety Building to east 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

This open space parcel is surrounded by State of Illinois 
improved roadways. 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Pedestrian access is very problematic 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015
Parcel 12-21-203-013 is outlined.

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Tax Parcels: 1221203013

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
             SES-LB-25 - Village Owned Ravine Parcel                       Between Bluff Rd. and Birch Rd. 

grussell
Callout
Bluff Rd. 

grussell
Callout
East Blodgett Ave.

grussell
Callout
LB-25

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB25 

LOCATION:  Southwest corner of East Blodgett Avenue and Bluff Road 
 

TAX PIN:  1221203013 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  Parcel is approximately 0.38 Acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  E1 Estate Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Unimproved wooded ravine parcel 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Residential on all sides with exception of CLCJAWA Raw Water 
Pump Station to northeast. 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   SES-LB-26 - Lillian Dells Drive - 16-Foot Wide Village Owned Parcel            Extending From E. North Avenue to Lake Michigan

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-26

grussell
Callout
E. North Ave.

grussell
Callout
Maple Ave. 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB26 

LOCATION:  Lillian Dells Drive – 16foot wide parcel at bottom of wooded 
ravine running easterly to Lake Michigan from the intersection 
of E. North Avenue and Maple Avenue 
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax PIN has been assigned to this parcel  

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  16feet wide by approximately 1,000 feet in length or about 
1/3RD of an acre.  
 

CURRENT ZONING  E1 Estate Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Public walking path in base of ravine extends to Lake Michigan. 
 
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Surrounded by single family residential with Lake Michigan on 
the east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Parcel was donated to the Village in 1909 when the adjacent 
property was subdivided.   The Village was required to maintain 
the parcel as a “pleasure driveway”, or the land would revert 
back to the dedicator, his successors or assigns.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     SES-LB-27 - Village Owned Parcel Extending Easterly From                    East Center Avenue to Lake Michigan

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-27

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB27 

LOCATION:  60foot wide parcel extending easterly to Lake Michigan from 
the intersection of Sunrise Avenue and E. Center Avenue  
 

TAX PIN:  1221217003 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  Parcel is 60feet wide north to south and approximately 
230feet in length for a total area of approximately 1/3rd acre.  

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

This parcel functions as part of Sunrise Park and Beach. 
Walking path and NSSD road to beach cross this parcel.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Residential to west – within limits of Sunrise Park and Beach to 
north and south and Lake Michigan to the east 
 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Village owns this parcel however it functions as part of Sunrise 
Park and Beach. Village may wish to retain ownership for water 
rights access.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                SES-LB-28 - Village Owned Parcel Leased to the                          North Shore Sanitary District

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-28

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB28 

LOCATION:  Approximate 200foot wide parcel extending easterly to Lake 
Michigan from the intersection  of E. Prospect Avenue and 
Sunrise Avenue  
 

TAX PIN:  1221200008 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  200feet north to south and varying depth east to west 
averaging about 250 feet.  Parcel size is indicated as 1.35 
Acres in Lake County GIS database.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R3 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Portions of property are leased to the North Shore Sanitary 
District (NSSD) for their operation of a sanitary sewer pump 
station serving the easterly portion of the Village.  Portion of 
property is occupied by the Lake Bluff Yacht Club facilities and 
remainder functions as portions of Sunrise Beach and Park. 
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Residential to the west; within limits of Sunrise Beach and Park 
to north and south and Lake Michigan to the east.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Lease between NSSD and Village is a formal lease; however it 
has not been determined if there is a formal lease agreement in 
place for Yacht Club facilities or any written agreement between 
the Village and the Lake Bluff Park District.   

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       SES-LB-29 - Village Unimproved Alley            South of Middle School Property

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-29

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB29 

LOCATION:  Village unimproved alley (ROW) on the south side of the Lake 
Bluff Middle School property.  
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax Number Assigned – Village ROW 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  12feet x 310 feet or about .085 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Unimproved open space RightOfWay along south side of 
Lake Bluff elementary school. 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single family residential to south and Lake Bluff Middle School 
to the north.  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

ROW has existing overhead utilities which must be maintained. 
Former Village water main within ROW has been abandoned. 
If action is taken to vacate should ensure that public access is 
maintained between Circle Drive and the Lake Bluff Middle 
School.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
   SES-LB-30 - Unimproved Village Alley Between Briar Lane and                   Newman Court South of East Sheridan Place 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-30

grussell
Callout
Briar Lane 

grussell
Text Box
E. Sheridan Place

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East  

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SES–LB–30 

LOCATION:  Largely unimproved Village ROW extending southerly from 
midblock of East Sheridan Place between Newman Court and 
Briar Lane 
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax Number Assigned – Village ROW 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  12 feet wide x 306 feet long or about 0.085 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Unimproved with exception of driveway extending off of East 
Sheridan Place which serves one residential property. Active 
overhead utilities extend down ROW 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential in all directions 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Property serves as part of adjacent rear yards with exception of 
portion at north end which serves as a driveway to the 
residence at 327 E. Sheridan Place. Overhead utilities must be 
maintained.  No Village owned utilities in parcel.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 01/14/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

200 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
     SES-LB-31 - Village ROW Parcel Improved With Walking       Path -  Connects to Lake Forest Owned Parcel to South 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
 LB-31

grussell
Callout
Oak Terrace

grussell
Text Box
East Sheridan Road

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB31 

LOCATION:  55foot wide parcel located south of the intersection of East 
Sheridan Road and Oak Terrace 
 

TAX PIN:  No PIN Number Assigned – Apparently Village ROW 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  55feet x 250feet or about 0.30 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  R2 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Improved with a walking path on pedestrian/bicycle route to 
Lake Forest High School. Connects directly with path 
maintained by City of Lake Forest 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Owned by Village of Lake Bluff but documents not clear as to 
whether it is a Village ROW or Village lot.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 02/08/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
       SES-LB-34 - Portion of East Washington Avenue ROW                       Improved with Ped/Bike Path 

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Callout
  LB-34

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SES–LB34 

LOCATION:  East Washington Avenue ROW easterly of  Moffett Road 
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax PIN assigned – Village ROW 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  60feet x @121feet or about 0.16 acres 

CURRENT ZONING:  R2 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

ROW is improved with a walking/bike path only.  

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Maintain as bike/pedestrian path.   Village storm, sanitary, and 
water mains run through parcel.  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 02/08/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
         SES-LB-35 - Unimproved Portion of Mountain Avenue ROW                                      (Open Space Ravine Area) 

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-35

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB35 

LOCATION:  West side of north to south portion of Mountain Avenue ROW 
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax Number Assigned – Village ROW 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff  

PARCEL SIZE:  Parcel is part of extremely wide Mountain Avenue ROW 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Residential  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Wooded Ravine Open Space Parcel 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential 

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

Part of very side Village ROW – Wooded Ravine. Village storm 
sewers run through parcel – maintain as public open space  

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 02/08/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
          SES-LB-36 - Sections of Gurney Avenue ROW            Improved with Footbridge and Wallking Path 

grussell
Rectangle

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-36

grussell
Line

grussell
Text Box
Ravine Ave

grussell
Callout
Gurney Ave. 

grussell
Text Box
Sylvan Lane

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East  

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB36 

LOCATION:  Gurney Avenue ROW extending Between Ravine Avenue and 
East Sheridan Place 
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax PIN Assigned – Village ROW 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  Portions of ROW improved with pedestrian bridge and walking 
path are about 0.4 acres 
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Residential 

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Northerly portion is wooded ravine improved with a 
pedestrian/bicycle bridge and southerly portion is open space 
improved with a pedestrian walk.  
 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

In addition to bridge and walking path this portion of ROW is 
improved with a Village Watermain and storm sewers.   

 



Lake County, Illinois

LakeCounty
Geographic Information System

Lake County Department
of Information Technology
18 N County St
Waukegan IL 60085
(847) 377-2373

Map Printed on 02/08/2015

N

Disclaimer The selected soil feature layer may not occur anywhere in the current map extent. A Registered Land Surveyor should be consulted to determine the precise location of property boundaries
on the ground. This map does not constitute a regulatory determination and is not a base for engineering design. This map is intended to be viewed and printed in color.

100 ft

Lake County Border

Tax Parcels

grussell
Text Box
                   SES-LB-37 - Glen Avenue ROW Section          Improved With Glen Avenue Footbridge Across Ravine

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Line

grussell
Callout
LB-37

grussell
Callout
Glen Avenue 

grussell
Text Box
6/16/2015



 

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 
PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

PARCEL FACT SHEET 

SECTOR:  South East 

MAP REFERENCE 
NO: 

SESLB37 

LOCATION:  Glen Avenue ROW extending through Ravine Park 
 

TAX PIN:  No Tax PIN Assigned – Village ROW 

OWNERSHIP:  Village of Lake Bluff 

PARCEL SIZE:  Portion of ROW extending through Ravine Park is 80feet wide 
x approximately 200feet in length improved with a foot bridge, 
walking path and staircase down to ravine. Total land area 
about 1/3rd of an acre.  
 

CURRENT ZONING:  R4 Single Family Zoning  

CURRENT USE OF 
PROPERTY: 

Improved with a pedestrian bridge, walking path, staircase 
across and through Ravine Park 

ADJACENT LAND 
USES: 

Single Family Residential  

ISSUES AND 
MISCELLANEOUS 
COMMENTS (DEED 
RESTRICTIONS, 
EASEMENTS, ETC.)  

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

C‐8  Parcel Summary By Owner and Maintenance 

  Parcel Listing 10 Pages 

   



Current Status:  

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved

HOA: Homeowners Assocs

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept.

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen. Current Use:

LB: Village of Lake Bluff A: Active

LBL: Lake Bluff Library I: Infrequent

LBOL: LB Open Lands P: Passive

LCDT: LkCo Dept. Transit

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels
Owned & Maintained By PD

PD Owned/LBOLA Maint.

Owned Others/LBOLA Maint.

Owned Twsp/PD Maintain

Unknown Owner/PD Maintain

Owned & Maintained By LB

Owned By LB/Maintain PD

Owned By LB/Maintain LBOLA

Owned By LB/Maintain Others

Owned By Others/LB Maintain

Owned By Others/LB partly Maintain

Owned & Maintain By School Dist

Owned & Maintain By LBOLA

Owned by Twsp/Maintain By LBOLA

Owned & Maintain by Others

Owned By Others/Maintain Unknown

Owned & Maintained Unknown 2 Parcels

4 Parcels

1 Parcel

31 Parcels

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

4 Parcels

7 Parcels

1 Parcel

2 Parcels

2 Parcels

2 Parcels

50 Parcels

1 Parcel

SE: South East S: School Dist. #65

T: Shields Township

U: Unknown

UP: Union Pacific

US: US Government

SUMMARY

123 Parcels
12 Parcels

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

NE: North East NSD: N. Shore Sanit.

NW: North West PD: LB Park District

SC: South Central P: Private

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

SECTOR SUMMARY REVIEW FORM: By OWNER & MAINTENANCE

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

SE PD-16 10.7 acres PD PD

Parcels forming majority of Sunrise Park 

and Sunrise Beach I A R-3

LB owns LB-27 and LB-28 in park.  So. end encumbered w/ 

pvt. park (PP-23).  Village rd extends into SW corner for access 

to 2 homes.  More study needed.

NW PD-1a 2.36 acres PD PD

Knollwood Park owned by Park 

District/Park I A County

Pursue vacation of portions of W Washington and Bayonne 

Ave

SE PD-12 11.3 acres PD PD Artesian Park I A R-3

5 ball fields, warming house, ice rink, 5 tennis courts.  Also 

active use by LBMS

NC PD-10 ~170 acres PD PD Blair Park I A E1, R1 Special Study Area

NC PD-11 0.4 acres PD PD 2 parcels N of 176 I A R2 Current homes being removed

SC PD-5 4.9 acres PD PD Mawman Park I A R-3 See LB-6, U-4, LB-4 and           PP-14

SE PD-13

Nor. to sou. 

.7, .5, .4, 2.0 

(N/S Rav 

Forest), .8 

(N/S 

Hawthorne), 

.13, .47 (N/S 

Sunset), .36 PD PD

Green Strip east side of Sheridan Rd. from 

south Village boundary to E. Sheridan 

Place U I R-2, 3, 4

11 lots open mowed space.  Assumed most donated by Blair 

family. Need review on restrictions.

NW PD-2 2.52 acres PD PD Sanctuary Park eastern parcel/Park I A R-6 Correct wetland acreage in Lake Co records

NW PD-3 4.6 acres PD PD Sanctuary Park western parcel/Park I A R-6 Correct wetland acreage in Lake Co records

NW PD-4 2.85 acres PD PD Park District baseball fields I A County Clarify PD ownership of Parcel U-1

SE PD-14

2 parcels

West 3.2 

acres

East 2.7 

acres PD PD

Two parcels forming west end of Ravine 

Park U I R-4 Village owns Gurney Ave ROW and ped. Bridge

SE PD-15

2 parcels

West 3.2 

acres

East 2.7 

acres PD PD

Two parcels forming east end of Ravine 

Park U I E-1 Village owns Moffett Rd ROW and bridge crossing

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

SC PD-6 6.3 acres PD LBOL

Carolyn Goetz Wetland Preserve/Nature 

preserve I A E-2 No deed restrictions; not in conservancy

NC BFHA-2 4 acres P LBOL Belle Foret Prairie U P E1 owned by BFHA PD has 99 year lease; site is not protected

NW PD-1b <1 acre T PD

Knollwood Park/Bayonne Ave ROW owned  

by Township I A County Area now outside of PD boundaries

NW U-1 .06 acres U PD Part of baseball field & parking lot I A County Clarify PD ownership

SC LB-10

.82 acres 

(.33 acres 4 

lots w/PIN, 

.49 acres 

ROW no 

PIN) LB LB

Abandoned RR ROW/Vacant & Utility 

corridor; N of Montessori U P

RR

R-4 Combine with IDOT-3, LB-5, U-3 and COL-1

SC LB-5 U LB LB

Blodgett Rd ROW/Vacant; mostly 

unimproved U/I P E-2 Combine with IDOT-3, LB-10, U-3 and COL-1

SE LB-27

60' wide 

Sunrise-

water LB LB Forms part of park and beach. U/I A R-3 Improved with paths to beach

NE LB-1 2.4 acres LB LB SW corner Crab Tree Farm/ Open Woods U P E-1 Potential deed restrictions: leave in natural state

NC LB-13 ~22 acres LB LB Public Works Facility I A O&R Potential for shared facilities

SC LB-2

12.15 acres

(9.46 acres 

of lots, 2.69 

acres 

unimproved 

ROW) LB LB

S of 176, E of JAWA, W of Terrace/Open 

space U P R-2 Large LB owned undeveloped parcel

SE LB-21 .15 acres LB LB

Walnut House SE corner Walnut and North 

Ave I A R-5

former home now used as storage.  2/3 open with mature 

Oak trees

SC LB-32 12 x 150 ft. LB LB

ROW South of Main between homes on 

Mawman and Rockland U I

R-3

R-4 None; limited use

SE LB-30 12 ft. wide LB LB Alley between Newman Ct. and Briar Ln. U I R-4

one private drive on north end.  Mainly backyards of 

residences

Owned & Maintained By Village

Owned By Park District, Maintained by LBOLA

Owned By Others, Leased to PD, Maintained by LBOLA

Owned by Township, Maintained by Park District

Unknown Owner, Maintained by Park District



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

SE LB-29 12 x 320 ft. LB LB

Alley from south of LBMS and north edge 

of Circle Dr. Used to walk to LBMS I I R-4

improved with path.  Portion to Vincent Ct. sold to 

homeowners.  Also public utility easement

SC LB-12

2 parcels

0.55 acres LB LB

West train parking lot immediately west of 

Montessori school.  IDOT-3 has NW corner 

of parking lot I A R-4 used by commuters, school and as overnight parking

SC LB-7 U LB LB

S of 176 bike path/bike path & some open 

space I A RR Adjacent to IDOT-4

SC LB-4 1.5 acres LB LB

NE corner of W Center & Mawman/LB 

pumping station I I R-3 Has public utlities and bike path.

SC LB-38

66 x 150 ft.

(0.2 acres) LB LB

ROW northwest end of Mawman

vacant with village ped path I I R-3 Village utilities on parcel

NC LB-14

~0.2 acres 

each LB LB

4 unimproved ROWs bordering Blair Park 

off 176 U P

3 in R2, 1 

in R1 Potential public access to golf course area

NC LB-15 ~8 acres total LB LB

Small parcels N of 176; W of Green Bay 

Road.  Open space U P R2 Portions managed by LBOLA

NC LB-33 12 x 465 ft. LB LB

ROW behind homes on west side of 

Campbell Ct. some improvements with 

driveways and use of backyards I I R-2 west border unincorporated

SE LB-16 50 x98 ft. LB LB

Just South of train station

sidewalk connecting lower

Scranton with upper bike

path along Sheridan I A E-1

SE LB-17

.07, .12, .14, 

.28, .21, .31, 

.45 acres 

south to 

north LB LB

7 lots east of Sheridan between North and 

Blodgett Aves. U P

R-4

CBD

Some donated by Blair family.  Some maintain by LB Garden 

Club?

SE LB-18

2 lots

1 @ .7 acres 

all VG 1 @ 

1.9 that is 

equal split 

between 

VG, Pub 

Safety and 

LB-24 LB LB Village Green I A R-3 Two parcels

Owned & Maintained By Village (cont'd)



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

SE LB-19 < 50 ft. wide LB LB

sidewalk between

36 E. North & 100 E. North I A R-5 was larger but some land sold to residences

SE LB-20 .14 acres LB LB

Parking lot SW corner of Walnut and 

North I A CBD

SE LB-22 .29 acres LB LB Village Hall I A R-5

SE LB-24

part of 1.9 

acres see LB-

23, LB-18 LB LB

Open space between Sheridan Rd on west 

and IDOT connector road (Sheridan to 

Scranton) U P R-3

SE LB-25 .38 acres LB LB

open lot wooded ravine W. of Bluff Rd. & 

S. of Blodgett U P E-1

Need history on when Village took ownership and how and 

why ownership changed

SE LB-26 16 x 1000 ft. LB LB

Lillian Dells ravine path from Maple 

Ave/North to beach U I E-1

donated to Village 1909 with stipulation to be maintained as 

pleasure drive

SE LB-31 55 x 250 ft. LB LB

South of intersection Sheridan Rd and Oak 

Terrace I I R-2

improved with path connecting to path maintained by LF.  

Part of path to LFHS.

SE LB-34 60 x 120 ft. LB LB ROW Washington Ave east of Moffett I I R-2 Improved with walking path

SE LB-35

irregular 

shape

large parcel LB LB

wooded Ravine west and north side of 

Mountain Ave U P R-4 None

SE LB-36 U LB LB

Gurney ROW between Ravine and E. 

Sheridan Ave I I R-2 Improved with bridge

SE LB-37 U LB LB

Glen Ave ROW between E. Prospect and 

Sylvan I I R-4 Improved with bridge

SC LB-6 U LB PD

Park/Sheridan Place ROW through 

Mawman Park I A R-1 Clarify maintenance; ped bridge?

SC LB-3 1.5 acres LB LBOL Skokie River Nature Preserve I A R-1

State of Illinois Nature Land & Water Reserve; see PP-16 & 

LBOLA-2

Owned & Maintained By Village (cont'd)

Owned by Village/Maintained by Park District

Owned by Village/Maintained by LBOLA



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

SE LB-23

2 lots

1 @.9 and 1 

@ 1.9 split 

between 

here, VG, 

and LB-24 LB

LB

IDOT Village Public Safety Building I A R-3

SC LB-11 .1928 acres LB P

Lot immediately north of LB Montessori 

school bldg and small parking lot between 

two school buildings I A R-4

Improved with paths.  Leased by LB to school.  Maintained by 

school

SC LB-9 U LB P

Utility ROW in West Terrace; unimproved 

with exception of utilities below grade U P U Maintained by adj. property owners

SE LB-28 190 ft. x 280 ft. LB

LB

NSD

Beach area: lease to NSSD and also house 

LB Yacht Club I A R-3

majority is NSD pump station leased from LB, also LB Yacht 

Club and beach

NE IDOT-1 80 ft. strip IDOT LB

Sheridan road bike path/ Bike path and 

open space I A C-E & RR Village owns bike path; IDOT owns open space

SC IDOT-3 1.97 acres IDOT LB

Abandoned RR ROW; Vacant & Utility 

corridor; some parking/N of Montessori U P RR Combine with LB-10, LB-5, U-3 and COL-1

SC IDOT-4 6.7 acres LCDT

LCDT

LB

S side of 176; Sheridan to Green Bay/ Bike 

path.  IDOT owns land, LCDT owns bike 

path. I A RR Utility easements; Adjacent to LB-7

SC IDOT-5 6.1 acres LCDT

LCDT

LB

S side of 176; Sheridan to Green Bay/ Bike 

path.  IDOT owns land, LCDT owns bike 

path. I A RR Utility easements; Adjacent to LB-7

SE IDOT-8 70 ft. wide IDOT LB

S. of E Blodgett to Scranton

Bike Path west of Sheridan Rd. I A RR

W. edge improved with

Village's train lot

SE IDOT-9 70 ft. wide IDOT LB

Continuation of IDOT-8

Bike Path from Scranton

to south Village border I A RR

SE LBL-1 .43 acres 3 lots LBL LB

Site of LB Library & History

Museum I A R-4

History Museum leases

from Library

Owned by Village/Maintained by Others

Fully Owned by Others, Fully maintained by Village



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

SE UP-1

12.8 acres 

from north 

edge of this 

prop to 

South 

border of 

town UP

UP

LB Train lot and station I A RR LB does routine maintenance.  UP does major repairs.

NC SD-1 10.2 acres S S Lake Bluff Elementary School I A E1

SE SD-2

2 parcels

5.3 & 1.1 

acres S S LBMS and former East school U/I P/A R-4 LBMS improved.  East school site unimproved.

SC LBOLA-2

3 lots

0.72 acres LBOL LBOL Skokie River Nature Reserve I A R-1

State of Illinois Nature Land & Water Reserve; see PP-16 & LB-

3

SE LBOLA-1

2 lots 1.5 

acres LBOL LBOL NE corner Moffett & Lakeland Dr. U P E-1 donated by owner of adjacent north parcel

NC T-3 13 acres T LBOL

Arden Shores N;                              Lake 

Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 Formal protection agreement in place

NC T-3A 0.8 acre T LBOL

Open space, Arden Shores N;  Near Lk 

Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 Wetlands

NE PP-1 25.5 acres P P

Former Arden Shore Child & Family 

Services/Vacant U P C-E Property is for sale

NE PP-2 5.1 acres P P Arbor Drive subdivision/Vacant U P C-E Property contains some wetlands

NE PP-5 154.9 ACRES P P Shoreacres golf course I A C-E Borders create mix of parcels in village and Park District

SE LF-1 Unknown LF LF north edge of LF Cemetery I A E-1 border issue N. edge of cemetery in LB.

SC WCHA-2 Various lots HOA HOA

Open space lots perimeter of Wimbledon 

Estates. U P E-2 Must be retained as open spaces

SC PP-27 9.3 acres P P estate residence south of Stonebridge I A E-1 Monitor for sale/sub-division

NW T-2a T T Unimproved ROW at east end of Atkinson U P County Size includes T-2b

NW T-2b 4650 ft. T T Generally unimproved Northern Ave ROW U/I P County Need bridge over EJ&E tracks

SC WCHA-1 1.8 acres HOA HOA

Wimbledon Court HOA/storm water 

detention U P E-2 Ped bridge linking W Terrace to Sheridan Rd?

Fully Owned by Others, Partly maintained by Village

Owned and Maintained by LB Schools

Owned and Maintained by LBOLA

Owned by Township and Maintained by LBOLA

Ownership & Maintenance by Entities other than Village, LB Schools, LB Park District, LBOLA



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

SC PP-24 U P P N side of Stonebridge U P E-1 Transition from P to LB

CP COMED-2 13.4 acres CED

LCDT

LB ComEd ROW along US 41               Bike Path I A RR

NC COMED-3 6.1 acres CED CED

N of 176, N/S along RR                  Com Ed 

transmission corridor U P C-E, RR

NC LCDT-2 1.1 acres LCDT LCDT

W of Sheridan; adj Tangley Oaks.  former 

electric RR ROW U P C-E

NW PP-12 .36 acres P P Private lot east of Knollwood park/Vacant U P County Parking lot north of parcel is in ROW

NW PP-13 .36 acres P P Private lot east of Knollwood park/Vacant U P County New Construction?

NC PP-21 0.25 acre P P

Residence; near Elementary  School and 

Blair Park I A R1 Potential for facilities

NC PP-29 16.2 acre P P

Large estate north of LBES and east of golf 

course I A E-1 Various/open space

NW PP-10 2.91 acres P P

Former West School/Gov. offices & 

schools I A County Is agreement in place with PD for use of parking lot?

SC PP-16 .91 acres P P

Five vacant parcels in Skokie River Nature 

Preserve U P R-1` See LB-3 & LBOLA-2

SE PP-28 7,375 sq. ft. P P wooded parcel South of Lillian Dells Drive. U P R-2 None

NC GLNTC-1 Unknown US US

Recreational facilities in Forrestal Village; 

in Park Dist. I A ? Determine Park Dist. policy on use of facilities

Ownership & Maintenance by Entities other than Village, LB Schools, LB Park District, LBOLA (cont'd)



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

SC PP-15 10 acres P P

Stonbridge Conservation Area/Preserved 

landscape I P E-1 Owned by developer; may be transferred to LB

SC PP-26 U P P

Stonebridge land immediately east of 

Manor House I P E-1 Owned by developer; transfer to PD?

SC PP-25 11,200 sq. ft. P P

Proposed Stonebridge park/subdivision 

Out lot M U P E-1 Transition from developer to PD

NC PP-22 0.17 acre P P Residence; N of 176 on Eva Terrace I A R2 PD has right of first refusal

SE PP-23 20 x 210 ft. P P Private park S. end of Sunrise Park U P R-1

Lake Park subdiv. doc. (1891) est. pvt park.  More research 

needed

NE LCDT-1 100 ft. strip LCDT GL

West of RR tracks & Storm water 

detention U P C-E Great Lakes has leased

NE PP-3a 4.1 acres P P Arbor Drive subdivision/Vacant U P C-E Connected to PP-3b

NE PP-3b 26 acres P P

Sheridan Rd access/Single family home at 

lake I A C-E PP-3a and PP-3b under common ownership

NE PP-4 220 acres P P

Crab Tree farm/Estates; Historic farm; 

Conservancy U/I P/A C-E & E-1 60% of property in conservancy

NW PP-6 21 acres HOA HOA

Sanctuary Homeowners Assoc                              

Unit 1 Out lot H/Wetlands U P R-6 Primarily wetland

NW PP-7 12.4 acres HOA HOA

Sanctuary Homeowners Assoc                               

Unit 2; Out lot H/Wetlands U P R-6 Primarily wetland

NW PP-8 18 acres P P

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to PP-9 & 

IDOT-2/Vacant U P County Development unlikely because of wetlands

NW PP-9 1.95 acres P P

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to PP-9 & 

IDOT-2/Vacant U P County Development unlikely because of wetlands

NW IDOT-2 40.1 acres IDOT IDOT

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to PP-8 & 

PP-9 U P County Development unlikely because of wetlands

NW PP-11 8.44 acres P P

"Triangle" property at Rt. 41 & EJE 

RR/Vacant U P L-1 Development proposals; storm water issues

NW T-1 .50 acres T T Shields Township Highway Department I A County

NW T-4 .04 acres T T

Knollwood Memorial Park; at Foster, Muir 

& Birch I I County

Community group

maintain as well

SC COMED-1 .972 acres CED CED

Power station at NE corner of Green Bay 

and W. Center Ave I A R-3

improved with power station, south half of lot open passive 

space

SC LCFP-1 44.2 acres LCFP LCFP Oriole Grove Forest Preserve, North I A E-1 Owned by IDNR; land being restored

CP PP-17 18.9 acres P P

E of 41; N of EJ&E RR                     Open 

Space U P County In North Chicago

CP PP-18 4.5 acres P P

E of 41; S of EJ&E RR                       Open 

Space U P L-1 PP-17 and PP-18 under common ownership

Ownership & Maintenance by Entities other than Village, LB Schools, LB Park District, LBOLA (cont'd)



Common Description/

Sect Parcel ID Size Own Mntn Current Use Status Use Zoning Comment/Restrictions

Current Current

Owned and Maintained by Park District

CP RFPD-1 .6 acres P P

Rockland Fire Protection District Fire 

Station I A County 41/176 interchange changes may modify use

CP JAWA-1 5.6 acres LC JAWA

Water Treatment Plant    Access to Skokie 

Preserve I A RR & S

CP NSSD-1 2.9 acres NSD NSD S of 176, W of Mariani's U/I P/A S Mariani's leases 

NC AWHOA-1 ~9.5 acres HOA HOA Armour Woods out lots U/I P/A R2 Tennis court on one out lot

NC BFHA-1 1.2 acres HOA HOA Belle Foret open space with pond U P E1

NC PP-20 0.17 acre P P

Open space; single lot; Near Lk Genevieve 

Cons Area U P R1

NC TOHA-1

42.3 acres 

total P P

Tangley Oaks out lots;                                    

open space U P E1

SE LHA-1 1.9 acres HOA HOA

Two open parcels in Landsowne 

subdivision U P E-1

Developer owns but will transfer to HOA  West parcel has 

walking path for continued public use

SC COL-1 .045 acres LC U

Small parcel west of RR tracks, N of 

Montessori/Vacant U P R-4 Combine with IDOT-3, LB-10, LB-5 and U-3

CP IDOT-6 3.6 acres IDOT

LCDT

LB S of 176 , US 41 to Waukegan  Bike Path I A RR

CP IDOT-7 3 acres IDOT

LCDT

LB

S of 176, E of US 41                          Bike 

Path I A RR

NC COMED-4 0.5 acres CED U N of 176; W of Village Public Works Dept. U P R2, C-E Not in but completely surrounded by the Village

SC U-3 .45 acres U U

NE corner of Green Bay RD & W 

Washington Ave/Vacant U P R-3 Include LB owned parcel to N; site for bridge/tunnel?

SC U-4 8400 sq. ft. U U Vacant parcel S of Mawman Park U P R-3

Buckthorn

Storm sewer-village needs access

Owned by Others, maintenance Unknown

Owner and Maintenance Unknown

Ownership & Maintenance by Entities other than Village, LB Schools, LB Park District, LBOLA (cont'd)



 

 

 

 

 

 

D  Guiding Principles and Themes 

  Document 2 Pages 

   



PROPERTY AND PUBLIC LAND USE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

Appendix D: Themes Guiding Integrated Sector Analysis 

 

Sense of Community 

• Community Defined: The greater Lake Bluff Community includes the residents, business 

and property owners within the boundaries of the Village of Lake Bluff, the Lake Bluff 

School District and the Lake Bluff Park District. 

• Connectivity: Proposed land uses facilitate safe movement (pedestrian, bike, auto) 

between the various segments of the greater Lake Bluff community and negate, to the 

degree possible, conflicts between these alternatives. 

• Linkage: Proposed land uses will strengthen the bonds that tie the Lake Bluff community 

together: education, recreation, open space, economic development, safety; etc. 

• Wants and Needs: Alternative land uses will be prioritized based on, among other 

considerations, community input. 

• Impact: Alternative (or continuing) land uses will be evaluated based on their real and 

perceived impact to the community and its residents. 

 

Efficiency and Feasibility 

• Financial Impact: Discussion of alternative (or upgraded) land uses will be cognizant of 

the dynamics of the current and future financial situations of the involved public entities 

and their taxpayers.   

• Financial Feasibility: A limited pool of resources is available to fund alternative land 

uses.  Given this limitation, the short- and long-term financial feasibility of alternatives 

will always be considered. The availability of alternative sources of revenue (grants, 

donations) should be explored.  However, short-term financial constraints should not 

constrain the development of long-term strategies. 

• Technical Feasibility and Development Timeline:  Some use changes are harder than 

others to complete.  The ‘do-ability’, timeline and duration of each proposed alternative 

will assist in prioritization.  

• Efficient Use of Resources:  Whenever possible, an effort will be made to identify 

increased resource efficiency between the involved public entities (maintenance, land 

swaps, etc.) 

  



Stakeholder Impact 

• Definition of Stakeholders:  Stakeholders include the greater Lake Bluff community (see 

above) plus the other groups that influence the community (library, social service 

organizations, non-profit organizations, clubs, etc.) 

• Fit with Strategic Plans of Public Entities: Future land use needs will be filtered through 

the strategic plans of the public entities. 

• Stakeholder Wants and Needs: The short- and long-term strategic land use needs of the 

public entities have been identified through interviews and reviews of their strategic 

plans.  In addition, the inputs of other stakeholders, in response to initial discussions of 

the Committee, are an important part of final analysis. 

• Coterminous Boundaries:  The boundaries of the involved public entities are not 

coterminous.  Interest in pursuing conterminous boundaries will be determined; impact 

of the status quo on the Lake Bluff community will be investigated. 

• Alternative Uses:  To the degree alternative uses are desired and feasible, a number of 

alternatives will be considered, including: 

o Recreation Options 

o Open Space 

� Active or Passive 

� What Uses 

� Intensity of Use 

o Storage Facilities 

o Alternative Housing 

o Retail/Commercial Development 

o Land Sales or Swaps to Other Entities 

o Other 

• Access to Amenities: Consideration of the ease to which the community can access 

existing and proposed amenities. 

• Safety:  Any change in use for a property should consider the safety of its users. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

E‐1   Parks and Properties Matrix 

  Matrix 2 Pages 

   



APPENDIX E-1

PAGE 1 OF 2

OTHER

Lake Bluff Park District, 

Village of Lake Bluff, 

and Unincorporated 

Knollwood

A
cr

ea
g
e 

- 
O

w
n
ed

 L
B
PD

A
cr

ea
g
e 

- 
O

w
n
ed

 B
y 

O
th

er
s

M
u
lti

-u
se

 T
ra

ils
 (

m
ile

s)
  
⑥

B
ik

e 
P
a
th

s 
(m

ile
s)

H
ik

in
g
 T

ra
ils

 (
m

ile
s)

In
d
o
o
r 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 /

 S
u
p
p
o
rt

 F
a
c.

R
es

tr
o
o
m

s

C
o
n
ce

ss
io

n
s

A
m

p
h
ith

ea
tr

e

D
o
g
 P

a
rk

Pi
cn

ic
 S

h
el

te
r 

/
 G

a
ze

b
o

Pl
a
yg

ro
u
n
d

B
a
sk

et
b
a
ll

B
a
se

b
a
ll 

/
 S

o
ft
b
a
ll 

Fi
el

d
s

D
is

c 
G

o
lf

Fo
o
tb

a
ll 

/
 R

u
g
b
y

G
o
lf
 C

o
u
rs

e

G
o
lf
 D

ri
vi

n
g
 R

a
n
g
e

La
cr

o
ss

e

Pi
ck

le
b
a
ll 

C
o
u
rt

 /
 P

a
d
d
le

 T
en

n
is

S
ka

te
 P

a
rk

S
o
cc

er

Te
n
n
is

  
C

o
u
rt

V
o
lle

yb
a
ll 

C
o
u
rt

S
w

im
m

in
g

S
p
la

sh
 P

a
d

Ic
e 

S
ka

tin
g

C
ro

ss
 C

o
u
n
tr

y 
S
ki

in
g
 (

m
ile

s)

S
le

d
 H

ill

B
o
a
t 
A

cc
es

s

C
re

ek
 /

 R
iv

er
 /

 O
p
en

 W
a
te

r

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a
 /

 G
a
rd

en
s

Pa
rk

in
g
 (

O
ff
-S

tr
ee

t)

TOTAL PARK, NATURAL AREAS & SPECIAL USE HOLDINGS

Mini Parks

0.0 0.0

Mini Park Acreage 0.0 0.0

Neighborhood Parks

① Knollwood Park 2.4 0.3 0.14 2 1 1 X

② Mawman Park 3.6 0.2 1 1 1 1

Sanctuary Park 7.2 0.0 0.15 1 1 1

Neighborhood Park Acreage 13.2 0.5

Community Parks

Artesian Park 11.3 0.0 0.34 X 1 1 1 3 1 5 1 X

Blair Park 11.1 0.0 0.25 X X 1 1 3 1 2 2 1 1 X

Sunrise Park and Beach 10.7 1.7 0.4 X 1 2 1 1 1 X X

Village Green 0.0 1.2 1

③ West School Park 2.9 0.0 1 3 X

Community Park Acreage 36.0 2.9

④ Natural Areas

Belle Foret Prairie Preserve 0.0 4.0 0.29

Carolyn Goetz Wetlands Preserve 6.3 0.0 0.28 X

Skokie Preserve 0.0 34.0 0.77 X

Ravine Park 5.9 0.9 0.28

Moffett Woods 0.0 1.4 0.07

Oriole Grove 0.0 44.2 1.09

Lake Genevieve 0.0 6.3 0.34

Natural Area Acreage 12.2 90.8

⑦ Special Use

Lake Bluff Golf Club 149.0 0.0 X 1 1 2.15 X

Special Use Acreage 149.0 0.0

210.4 94.2

0.73 0.00 3.67 1 4 0 0 1 6 8 3 8 0 0 1 1 0 3 1 5 7 1 2 0 1 2.15 1 1 1 0 7

TOTAL PARK, NATURAL AREAS, SPECIAL USE, TRAILS, CORRIDORS, LINEAR PARKS, & UNDEVELOPED PARK HOLDINGS

Trails, Corridors, and Linear Parks

Sheridan Road Greenstrip 5.3 1.8

Lillian Dells 0.0 0.3 0.19

⑤⑧ Community Bike Trail -- -- 5.40

Trails, Corridors and Linear Parks Acreage 5.3 2.1

Undeveloped Parks  

② Mawman Park - North End 1.3 0.0

Undeveloped Park Acreage 1.3 0.0

217.0 96.3

0.73 5.40 3.86 1 4 0 0 1 6 8 3 8 0 0 1 1 0 3 1 5 7 1 2 0 1 2.15 1 1 1 0 7313.3

TOTAL PARK, NATURAL AREAS, SPECIAL USE, TRAILS, 

CORRIDORS, LINEAR PARKS, & UNDEVELOPED PARK 

HOLDINGS

TRAILS  

TOTAL PARK, NATURAL AREAS & SPECIAL USE HOLDINGS 304.6

NATURAL 

FEATURES

0.0

13.7

38.9

DAY USE

ASSETS
SPORTS COURTS AND FACILITIES WATER-BASED FACILITIES / WINTER USE FACILITIESESTIMATED ACREAGE INDOOR FACILITIES

103.0

149.0

7.4

1.3



APPENDIX E-1

PAGE 2 OF 2

① ⑤

② ⑥

③ ⑦

④ ⑧

The Shore Acres Golf Club is not identified in the Special Use Classification because the club is privately 

owned and operated and not accessible for public use. The various paved paths around the Park District Golf 

Course Club House and other associated paved paths of the Park District Golf Course have not been 

included in the "Trails" categories.

Trails (typically paved and accessible) not designated specifically for bicycle traffic and intended for multiple 

user types are included in this category. Unpaved rustic trails have been included in the hiking trails 

category.

Acreage and facility data information was 

supplied by the Lake Bluff Park District Staff and 

Land Use Advisory Committee Members. Area 

information was primarily obtained from Lake 

County GIS 2014 data sets.

Trails are only tabulated by length in miles. Land areas associated with trails have not been included in the 

tabulated information unless they are part of a larger parcel.

The parking lot west of and serving West School Park is located almost entirely on privately owned property. The land area of 

the parking lot is not included in the tabulated information.

Community Bike Trail information includes the McClory Bike Path, North Shore Bike Path, Skokie Valley Bike 

Path, and small segments of trails connecting to local streets. The bike trail data does not include pathway 

segments internal to larger parks or natural areas, and does not include the Green Bay Road paved 

walkway north of Route 176.

Approximately 0.3 acres of the improved area of Knollwood Park is located on Shields Township Right-Of-Way along the east 

side of Knollwood Park. The gravel parking lot which serves Knollwood Park is located entirely on the Shields Township Right-

of-way. The land area of the parking lot is not included in the tabulated information.

The Lake Bluff Park District owns 4.9 acres in the area known as Mawman Park, however 1.3 acres of the 4.9 acres is located 

directly east of 5 private homes, located north of the ballfield. This area is referred to as "Mawman Park - North End" in the 

"Undeveloped Parks" classification. The 0.2 acres shown as "Owned - By Others" is Right-of-way owned by the Village of 

Lake Bluff. This area is the location of the playground.

Natural areas listed include readily accessible parcels and, as such, do not include conservation areas on private property or 

parcels owned by Homeowners Associations. Various very small areas of open space have been omitted from the tabulated 

information.



 

 

 

 

 

 

E‐2   Facility Needs Assessment 

  Worksheet 1 Page 

   



APPENDIX E-2

Date: 

Surplus / Deficit

Existing # 

of Facilities at current 

standards

Existing # of Facilities 

per 1,000 population

 Total # of Facilities 

needed to meet IL 

Average

IL Average # of 

Facilities per 1,000 

population

Surplus / Deficit

WATER-BASED FACILITIES

0.00 3.5 0.41 -3.47

1 0.12 1.0 0.12 -0.02

0.00 2.3 0.27 -2.32

1 0.12 0.2 0.03 0.76

1200.00 141.18 144.0 16.94 1,056

TRAILS ①

0.73 0.09 1.4 0.16 -0.66

5.40 0.64 0.9 0.10 4.53

② 3.86 0.45 3.9 0.10 -0.04

0.00 1.6 0.19 -1.62

0.00 1.9 0.22 -1.87

② 0.00 0.5 0.05 -0.46

0.00 0.1 0.01 -0.09

2.15 0.25 3.4 0.40 -1.25

0.00 0.9 0.11 -0.94

DAY USE FACILITIES

6 0.71 1.8 0.21 4.25

8 0.94 3.4 0.40 4.57

0.00 0.1 0.01 -0.09

SPORTS COURTS AND FACILITIES

7 0.82 4.2 0.49 2.84

3 0.35 2.1 0.25 0.88

1 0.12 1.4 0.17 -0.45

5 0.59 2.2 0.26 2.79

3 0.35 1.2 0.14 1.81

0.00 0.5 0.05 -0.46

5 0.59 1.5 0.18 3.49

1 0.12 0.1 0.01 0.93

0.00 0.0 0.01 -0.04

0.00 0.2 0.02 -0.17

0.00 0.1 0.01 -0.09

1 0.12 0.4 0.05 0.58

1 0.12 0.3 0.04 0.66

0.00 2.1 0.24 -2.05

Bocce Court 0.00 0.0 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.4 0.05 -0.38

0.00 0.3 0.04 -0.33

1 0.12 0.1 0.01 0.94

0.00 0.1 0.01 -0.07

1 0.12 0.1 0.02 0.86

0.2 0.03 -0.25

1

①

② "Nature Trails" are included in the "Hiking Trails" category.

Items in this category include mileage from property owned by others as well as by the Lake Bluff Park District

Hiking Trails (mi)

Soccer Fields

Golf Driving Range

Golf Course (18-Hole Course)

Archery Ranges

Field Hockey

Ice Rinks

Golf Course (9-Hole Course)

Dog Parks

Frisbee Golf

Shuffleboard courts

Ice Hockey (Indoor)

Snowmobile Trails (mi)

Playgrounds

Interpretive Centers

Fishing Pier / Docks / Access

Boat Access

Marina Slips

Swimming Pools

Swimming Beaches (linear ft.)

Rifle Pistol Ranges

Running Tracks

Football Fields

Multi--Use Trails (mi)

Softball Fields

Baseball Fields

Bicycle Trails (mi)

Horseback Trails (mi)

Physical Fitness Trails (Stations)

Multiple Use Court 

Spray Grounds / Splash Pads

Skate Park

Horseshoe Pits

Canoe only access areas

Badminton

Handball

Combo Skeet/Trap Field 8 stations

Nature/Interpretive Trails (mi)

Off-road Vehicle Trails (mi)

Cross-Country Trails (mi)

Basketball Courts

Volleyball Courts

Picnic Shelters

Tennis Courts

Outdoor Facility Need Worksheet

Illinois Facility AverageLake Bluff PD & Uninc. Knollwood

8500

8/3/2015

Lake Bluff Park District 
Population:



 

 

 

 

 

 

E‐3   Level of Service Analysis 

  Worksheet 1 Page 

   



APPENDIX E-3

Level of Service Analysis

Date: August 4, 2015

Lake Bluff Park District Population: 8500

Level of Service Analysis: Total Population

LBPD Est. Acreage 

(Total)

LBPD Existing

Level of Service

(acres / 1,000 population)

NRPA 

Recommended 

Acreage ①

NRPA Recommended Level of 

Service ①

(acres / 1,000 population)

Acreage deficiency 

/ surplus (acre)

0.00 0.00 4.25 0.50 -4.25

Neighborhood Park 13.20 1.55 17.00 2.00 -3.80

④ 36.00 4.24 63.75 7.50 -27.75

12.20 1.44 No Recommendation 12.20

149.00 17.53 No Recommendation 149.00

③ 5.30 0.62 No Recommendation 5.30

1.30 0.15 No Recommendation 1.30

217.00 25.53 85.00 10.00 132.00

Community Est. 

Acreage (Total)

Total Community Existing

Level of Service

(acres / 1,000 population)

NRPA 

Recommended 

Acreage

NRPA Recommended Level of 

Service

(acres / 1,000 population)

Acreage deficiency 

/ surplus (acre)

0.00 0.00 4.25 0.50 -4.25

13.70 1.61 17.00 2.00 -3.30

④ 38.90 4.58 63.75 7.50 -24.85

② 103.00 12.12 No Recommendation 103.00

149.00 17.53 No Recommendation 149.00

⑤ 7.40 0.87 No Recommendation 7.40

1.30 0.15 No Recommendation 1.30

313.30 36.86 85.00 10.00 228.30

①

②

③

④

⑤

Community Park

Natural Areas

Total Parks

Recommended acreage is based off the existing population of 8500

Trails, Corridors, and Linear Parks

National Recreation and Parks Association (NRPA) Recommended Acreage is derived from James Mertes and James Hall’s Book Park, Recreation, Open Space and Greenway 

Guidelines, 1995,  

Includes 44.2 acre Lake County Forest Preserve Holding within Park District Boundaries named Oriole Grove

The 149.0 acres of the Lake Bluff Park District Golf Course are tabulated separately as a "Special Use" and have not been included in the "Community Park" classification.

Trails are tabulated only by length in miles. Land areas associated with trails have not been included in the tabulated information unless they are part of a larger parcel. The 

7.40 acres shown represents the Sheridan Road Greenstrip (Village and Park District) as well as the area of Lillian Dell Drive.

Trails are only tabulated by length in miles. Land areas associated with trails have not been included in the tabulated information unless they are part of a larger parcel. The 

5.30 acres shown represents the Sheridan Road Greenstrip.

LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT

ALL LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT, VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, AND UNINC. KNOLLWOOD

Recommended acreage is based off the existing population of 8500

Undeveloped Parks  

Total Parks

Classification

Classification

Mini Park

Mini Park

Community Park

Special Use (Lake Bluff Golf Course)

Natural Areas

Special Use (Lake Bluff Golf Course)

Undeveloped Parks  

Trails, Corridors, and Linear Parks

Neighborhood Park



 

 

 

 

 

 

F   Draft Land Acquisition and Disposal Policy 

  Document 9 Pages 

   



Appendix F 

1 
 

 
 
 

THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT POLICY FOR THE ACQUISITION,  

INVENTORY, SALE, LEASE, AND RETENTION OF PUBLIC PROPERTY  

 

Section One:  PURPOSE 

 

The Lake Bluff Park District is the owner of real property that is used for various 
purposes.  As the needs of the community change, the status for these properties may be 
reviewed and revised, and on occasion, certain parcels may be found to be unnecessary 
for the Park District's current and reasonable anticipated future needs.   The Park District 
may also seek to acquire additional real property for the benefit of the Park District and 
its residents.  The purpose of this policy is to establish a framework whereby Park 
District-owned real estate is reviewed for its potential public or private use, and non-Park 
District-owned real estate is reviewed to determine the merits of its acquisition by the 
Park District. 
 

Section Two:  DISPOSITION 

 
A. Policy. 

 
The Park District Board or its designee will periodically review all Park District-owned 
real estate and determine the appropriate use of the property.   
 
The Park District shall evaluate the current use of, potential uses of, estimated market 
value of, cost of maintaining, and benefits to the community at large of the property when 
determining whether the property should be retained, leased, licensed, or disposed of. 
 
The Park District's goal is to optimize the use, sale price, or revenue generated from Park 
District-owned property. 
 

B. Procedures for the Disposition of Land. 

 
1. Real Estate Review and Classification of Use 

1.1 Inventory:  All Park District-owned real estate shall be inventoried with 
parcel files documenting current use, maintenance costs, public benefit 
of the property, and revenue generated by the property. An inventory and 
map of all Park District-owned real estate shall be maintained that will 
provide technical and historical data such as: acreage, improvements, 
year acquired, conditions on use, existing zoning, etc.  A schedule for 
periodic review of parcels shall be established taking into account 
changes expected material changes in use, revenue generation, expense 
and public benefit related to each parcel. 

  



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

2 
 

1.2 Classification:  Using the inventory, the Park District Board or its 
designee shall classify the intended use of all Park District-owned 
properties and shall categorize said properties as sell, retain for public 
purpose, lease, license, or other.  The Park District Board or its designee 
may then choose to act on this designation as described herein. 

 
2. Properties to be Retained.   Once a property is designated to be retained no 

further action is necessary other than to update the inventory, until the Park 
District Board or its designee determines a change in status is warranted. 

 

3. Properties to be Sold.   The following shall take place pursuant to a 
recommendation to sell surplus Park District property: 
 

3.1 Property Disposition File:  Staff shall create a file of all pertinent records 
pertaining to the property including:  information resulting from a title 
search, permit files, zoning actions, code enforcement actions, 
environmental reports, deed files, plats, utilities, easements, and any other 
relevant information.   

 
3.2 Property Value Determined:  The Park District shall optimize the sale price 

from Park District-owned real estate based on relevant factors including: (1) 
the value established by a certified, licensed, or MAI appraisal or valuation 
by an impartial real estate professional of the property conducted within six 
months of the time the sales agreement is presented to the Park District 
Board, (2) prevailing economic conditions and recent applicable trends, and 
(3) any special benefits to accrue from the sale or limitations to be placed 
upon the property.  

 
3.3 Report to Board:  A report shall be given to the Park District Board in 

executive session regarding the contents of the property disposition file 
and a determination shall be made whether to continue with the sale of 
surplus property.    

 
3.4 Notice of Intent:  The Park District Board shall provide a Notice of Intent 

to sell surplus property.   A notice shall be sent to the "adjoining property 
owners," and community.  For purposes of this notice, "adjoining property 
owners" shall be the property owners of all properties adjacent and 
contiguous to the surplus property, unless (a) rezoning of the surplus 
property is contemplated, in which case notice shall be sent to all property 
owners as identified under the Zoning Code, or (b) the Park District Board 
or its designee identifies a more expansive list of property owners to be so 
notified.  For purposes of this section, the "property owners" of an 
adjoining property shall be deemed to be the person(s) to whom real estate 
tax bills are sent.  The notice shall inform adjoining property owners of:  
1) the Park District’s intent to declare property surplus, 2) the current 
zoning classification of the property and the permitted density and type of 
development that may occur, and 3) if necessary, notice of the Park 



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

3 
 

District’s intent to modify the existing zoning of the property.  The notice 
shall invite the adjoining property owners and community to appear before 
the Board or the appropriate Board or Committee so concerns can be 
addressed. 

 
3.5 Park District Board Declares Property Surplus:  The Park District Board 

shall declare a decision whether to sell or not sell.  The Park District 
Board shall declare a decision whether to sell by Resolution. As part of the 
Resolution, the Park District Board may place conditions on the property 
sale.   The Park District shall declare a decision whether to not sell in a 
public meeting. 

 
3.6 Sale of Real Estate:  Park District-owned property may be sold by a 

negotiated sale with a developer and/or licensed real estate broker, at the 
discretion of the Park District Board. 

 
3.7 Park District Board Approval:  Notice of the property sale shall be 

published as required by the Park District Code and the final purchase 
price and contract shall be subject to approval by the Park District 
Board.  For the sale of land which is three (3) acres or less, the Park 
District shall file a petition with the court and follow the requirements of 
the Park Commissioners Land Sale Act, 70 ILCS 1235/1.  For the sale of 
land in excess of three (3) acres, the Park District shall conduct a 
referendum on the sale as required by the Park District Code, 70 ILCS 
1205/10-7, et seq. 

 
3.8 Payment for Park District Surplus Property: Sales of real property shall be 

on a cash basis, unless otherwise authorized by the Park District Board.  
 
4. Properties to Be Leased or Licensed: The Park District shall strive to obtain a 

fair market rate of return on Park District-owned or controlled property being 
considered for lease or license and negotiate terms and conditions that will 
continue to sustain a fair market rate of return through rent or use fee review, 
consumer price index adjustments, reappraisals, or the application of percentage 
rents or use fees to gross income.   

 

4.1 Legal Considerations:   Prior to the lease or license of any Park District-
owned property, the Park District shall consider whether a lease or license 
is the appropriate means of conveying a property or use interest, based on 
the use of the property, the length of the agreement, the tax status of the 
property and the user, and the proposed terms of the agreement. 

  



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

4 
 

4.3 Property Disposition File:  Staff shall create a file of all pertinent records 
pertaining to the property including:  information resulting from a title 
search, permit files, zoning actions, code enforcement actions, 
environmental reports, deed files, plats, utilities, easements, and any other 
relevant information.   

 
4.4 Report to Board:  A report shall be given to the Park District Board in 

executive session regarding the contents of the property lease file and a 
determination shall be made whether to continue with the lease of 
property.    

 
4.5 Notice of Intent:  The Park District Board shall provide a Notice of Intent 

to lease property.   A notice shall be sent to the "adjoining property 
owners," and community.  For purposes of this notice, "adjoining property 
owners" shall be the property owners of all properties adjacent and 
contiguous to the surplus property.  The notice shall inform adjoining 
property owners and community of the intent to lease.  The notice shall 
invite the adjoining property owners and community to appear before the 
Board or the appropriate Board or Committee so concerns can be 
addressed. 

 
4.6 Approval: The following procedure is to be followed for lease approval, 

depending upon the length of the lease. 
 
4.2.1 Leases or licenses of five years or less that do not exceed $20,000 

per year shall require Park District Board approval. 
 
4.2.2 Leases or licenses longer than five years, or those that exceed 

$20,000 per year shall require advance notice publication, which 
must include full information about the lease or license specifics, 
and Park District Board approval. 

 
 

4.7 Park District Board Lease:  The Park District Board shall declare a 
decision whether to lease or not lease.  The Park District Board shall 
declare a decision whether to lease by Resolution. As part of the 
Resolution, the Park District Board may place conditions on the property 
lease.   The Park District shall declare a decision whether to not sell in a 
public meeting. 

 
4.8 Lease of Real Estate:  Park District-owned property may be leased by a 

negotiated sale at the discretion of the Park District Board. 
 

4.9 Payment for Park District Surplus Property: Sales of real property shall be 
on a cash basis, unless otherwise authorized by the Park District Board.  

  



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

5 
 

4.10 Lease Term Guidelines:  The following are guidelines for the lease or 
license of Park District property.  These are guidelines only and market 
conditions may dictate alternate arrangements. 

 
4.10.1 Term:  Lease or license terms may range in length based on tenant 

or user demand and market realities.  Leases or licenses may 
include an option to extend the lease or license for similar periods 
at similar terms.  Upon termination or expiration of any lease or 
license that cannot be approved by the Park District Executive 
Director under this Policy, staff shall recommend to the Finance, 
Administration and Future Planning Committee whether to solicit 
bids for said lease or license.  If bids are solicited, the Finance, 
Administration and Future Planning Committee would recommend 
to the Park District Board approval or disapproval of the bids 
received.  The Park District Board shall make the final 
determination on such lease or license. 

 
4.11.2 Rates:  Lease or license rates shall be established based on a 

current appraisal, comparative studies, or past rents or user fees 
received.  The lease or license may include an increase each year 
equivalent to the Chicago Area Consumer Price Index (CPI) or an 
established market rate.  Such increase will be effective upon the 
anniversary date of the lease or license. 

 
4.11 Inventory:  An inventory of all Park District leases and licenses shall be 

maintained and shall periodically be reviewed in total by the Park District 
Board or its designee.   

 
5. General: 

 

5.1 Deliberation:  Since discussing the sale, license, or lease of Park District-
owned property in a public session may disadvantage the Park District in 
its negotiations, the Park District Board or its designee may discuss 
matters regarding the disposition of Park District-owned property in 
closed session in accordance with the requirements of the Open Meetings 
Act.  Any final action, however, shall occur in open session.    
 

5.2 Compliance with State Law: The Park District shall adhere to all state and 
local laws as they relate to the sale of public property. 

  



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

6 
 

Section Three:  ACQUISITION 

 
A. Policy. 

 
Because of the uniqueness of real estate in terms of its location, size, and physical 
characteristics, as well as the vagaries of the real estate market itself, the acquisition of 
real estate ordinarily cannot be planned with the same precision or consistency as the 
Park District plans the acquisition of rolling stock or other capital investments.  Further, 
the Park District does not seek out properties for acquisition unless there is a public 
purpose for which such property will be used.  Such need or use may be based on current 
or anticipated conditions, as well as long-term planning objectives.   
 
B. Planning Considerations. 

 

The Park District, as part of its comprehensive planning and its various narrower 
planning activities, should periodically review its current and long-term real property 
needs.  To the extent that real estate needs are identified, Park District staff and officials 
should be prepared to address the Park District's real estate needs as opportunities arise.  
It may be appropriate for the Park District Board to maintain a list of properties that it 
may have interest in acquiring in the future and update such list in conjunction with 
periodic updates to strategic plans. 
 
C. Procedures for Evaluating Land Acquisitions. 

 

The circumstances under which the Park District may seek to acquire real estate will 
often dictate the procedures that the Park District should follow in connection with any 
land acquisition.  In addition, whether the Park District is prepared to exercise its eminent 
domain powers in connection with a land purchase will also affect the manner that the 
Park District proceeds with an acquisition.  The procedure for evaluating any potential 
acquisition may vary depending on whether the acquisition is strategic, planned, or 
minor. 
 
1. Types of Property.   Generally Park District land acquisitions will fall into one of 

the following categories. 
 

1.1 Strategic Property.  Strategic Properties may be identified and prioritized 
based on the following criteria.   
 
1.1.1 Economic:  The property presents a unique economic 

opportunity for the community which has been determined to be 
unlikely to be achieved if the property is left to independent 
market forces. 
 

1.1.2 Use:  The highest and best use of the property, as envisioned by 
the Park District Board, is not likely to be achieved through 
independent market forces. 

  



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

7 
 

1.1.3 Location:  The property provides an opportunity for public 
infrastructure improvements, repair or enhancement.  Or, the 
property presents an opportunity for connection or contiguity of 
existing publicly owned land or rights-of-way which would 
support a public purpose.   
 

1.1.4 Significance:  The property or structures on the property hold 
special significance for the community and may be in danger of 
deterioration or loss without Park District intervention.    
 

1.1.5 Transitional:  The property is located between two distinct uses 
and the manner in which the property may be developed is 
determined by the Park District to have the potential to either be 
“additive”, enhancing  the surrounding uses or, a ”detractor” 
having the potential for a negative impact of surrounding and 
established uses.      
 

1.1.6 Need:  The property meets a need previously identified by the 
Park District or provides the opportunity for a use determined to 
be in the best interest of the community.   
 

1.1.7 Availability:   The property is available due to a unique set of 
circumstances which may not occur again.        
 

1.1.8 Other:  Such other factors that, under the circumstances, present 
a special advantage to the Park District or Lake Bluff community. 

 
1.2 Planned Property.  Planned Properties are those properties that the Park 

District has determined must be acquired to effect stated goals of the 
Park District Board.   
 

1.3 Minor Property.  Minor Properties are those properties that the Park 
District may from time-to-time seek to acquire for Park District 
easements or rights-of-way.  Minor properties are those that may be 
acquired by the Park District for under $20,000, or such higher limit as 
the Park District Board may authorize. 
 

2. Types of Acquisition.  The Park District may acquire property through eminent 
domain proceedings or other methods as further identified herein. 
 

2.1 Eminent Domain.  Eminent Domain acquisitions are those that are 
effected due to the Park District's statutory right to condemn land.   

 
2.2 Non-Eminent Domain.  Non-Eminent Domain transactions may include 

purchases on the open market, those resulting from bids at a land auction, 
gifts of property, and any other acquisition resulting from a negotiated 
agreement.  



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

8 
 

3. Process for Acquisition.  While the process for acquisition may vary based on 
circumstance, the following guidelines generally identify the process by which the 
Park District should acquire property. 
 

3.1 Strategic Property.  Strategic Properties should be identified and acquired 
through the following procedure.  Strategic Properties may be acquired for 
public use (in whole or in part),  to address a need that is beneficial to the 
community, or for other purposes  that will be beneficial or desirable for 
the Park District or the Lake Bluff community.   

 
3.1.1  Proposal.  Upon becoming aware of an opportunity for the Park 

District to acquire a Strategic Property, any member of the Board, 
or Staff may refer the matter to staff for a preliminary 
assessment.  Proposals shall be directed to the Executive 
Director.   
 

3.1.2 Preliminary Assessment.  Upon referral, Staff will conduct a 
preliminary assessment of the property to determine whether it 
meets the criteria identified in Section Three, C.1.1 above.  If 
Staff believes the criteria are met, it shall refer its finding on to 
the Board for preliminary review. 
 

3.1.3  Preliminary Review.  After receiving a preliminary assessment, 
the appropriate Board Committee will evaluate the Staff's 
recommendation and either seek a detailed review from the Staff 
or make a recommendation to the Park District Board regarding 
whether or not the property constitutes a Strategic Property that 
should be acquired by the Park District. 
 

3.1.4  Detailed Review.  If directed by the appropriate Board 
Committee, the Staff shall complete a detailed review of the 
property to determine whether or not it qualifies as a Strategic 
Property that should be purchased.  Such review may include, but 
is not limited to, obtaining appraisals, conducting inspections, 
preparing engineering plans or environmental reports, and 
seeking any additional relevant information regarding the 
property.    The degree of detail in this review may vary based on 
the property involved and the circumstances that have caused 
such property to be identified as strategic. 
 

 3.1.5 Recommendation to Park District Board.  After the 
appropriate review, staff will make a recommendation to the Park 
District Board regarding whether or not and under what terms the 
property should be purchased. 
 

3.1.6  Purchase Process.  Should the Park District Board wish to 
proceed with the acquisition, it shall direct the Park District 



Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

9 
 

Executive Director, in consultation with the Park District 
Attorney, to effect the acquisition under such terms and 
conditions as have been determined by the Park District Board.  
If the Park District makes a successful offer for the acquisition of 
land, then the contract for purchase must be presented to the Park 
District Board for formal approval. 
 

3.2 Planned Property.  Planned Property may be purchased on the open market 
or through eminent domain proceedings.  Prior to establishing the terms of 
the acquisition of any Planned Property, the Park District must seek an 
appraisal of the Planned Property.  The Finance, Administration and 
Future Planning Committee will review the appraisal and any other 
relevant materials regarding the Planned Property and make 
recommendations to the Park District Board regarding terms of 
acquisition.   

 
3.3 Minor Property. For acquisitions Minor Properties, the Park District 

Executive Director shall pursue such acquisitions in such manner as the 
Manager determines to be in the best interest of the Park District and in 
the most cost-effective manner.  The Executive Director shall only make 
such acquisitions as permitted by the budget approved by the Park District 
Board, and shall make a report to the Park District Board describing the 
nature and terms of the acquisition. 

 
4. General. 

 
4.1 Closed Meetings.  Unless and until a purchase offer is accepted, all 

meetings to consider such acquisition should be conducted in executive 
session to the extent permitted under the Open Meetings Act.   

 
4.2 Financing Plan.  As part of the procedures for evaluating any acquisition 

of land, the Park District shall give such consideration as is reasonable 
under the circumstances to: (a) the cost of the land (including acquisition, 
development, and maintenance costs); (b) the fiscal impact of the land 
acquisition, if any (e.g., the impact on taking property off the rolls of 
taxable properties); and (c) the funds available for the purchase (whether 
moneys are readily available or can be obtained through various financial 
avenues such as bonds or grants). 

 
4.3 Responsible Bodies.  In all cases, the Park District Board shall make final 

decisions on all property acquisitions.  Depending on the timing and 
circumstances surrounding a potential acquisition, the appropriate Board 
Committee should be the primary body for vetting an acquisition and 
making a recommendation to the Board.  Further, acquisitions that may 
result from private development activities, including subdivisions and 
planned unit developments, are not covered by this policy, as any new 
developments will be reviewed by the Park Board on a case by case basis. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

G‐1     Parcel Summary: Parcels Requiring No Further Action 

     Parcel Listing 6 Pages 

   



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels
HOAs

Armour Woods

Belle Foret

Tangley Oaks

Lake Bluff Govt.

Village

Library

School

Park District

Lake County Govt.
Dept. of Transport

Forest Preserve

State of Illinois DOT

Lake Bluff Open Lands

Jt. Action Water Agency

Shields Township

Rockland Fire Dist

North Shore Sanitary

Commonwealth Edison

Union Pacific

Private Owners

1 Parcel

2 Parcels

1 Parcel

11 Parcels

5 Parcels

2 Parcels
1 Parcel

1 Parcel

2 Parcels

1 Parcel

4 Parcels

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

2 Parcels

2 Parcels

1 Parcel

1 Parcel

29 Parcels

21 Parcels

Summary

59 Parcels
3 Parcels

1 Parcel

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

Exhibit G-1:  Parcels No Recommended Actions

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix G-1



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

NE LCDT-1 100 ft. strip LCDT GL

West of RR tracks & Storm water 

detention U P C-E

No change; potential 

rezoning

Great Lakes has 

leased

NE PP-3a 4.1 acres P P Arbor Drive subdivision/Vacant U P C-E Residential Connected to PP-3b

NE PP-3b 26 acres P P

Sheridan Rd access/Single family 

home at lake I A C-E

Residential; Monitor if use 

or density changes

PP-3a and PP-3b 

under common 

ownership

NE PP-4 220 acres P P

Crab Tree farm/Estates; Historic 

farm; Conservancy U/I P/A C-E & E-1 No change

60% of property in 

conservancy

NW PD-2 2.52 acres PD PD

Sanctuary Park eastern 

parcel/Park I A R-6

No change.  Restore via 

LBOLA to native woodland 

understory

Correct wetland 

acreage in Lake Co 

records

NW PD-3 4.6 acres PD PD

Sanctuary Park western 

parcel/Park I A R-6

No change.  Restore via 

LBOLA to native woodland 

understory

Correct wetland 

acreage in Lake Co 

records

NW PD-4 2.85 acres PD PD Park District baseball fields I A County No change

Clarify PD ownership 

of Parcel U-1

NW PP-6 21 acres HOA HOA

Sanctuary Homeowners Assoc                              

Unit 1 Out lot H/Wetlands U P R-6

No change; Open space 

conservation area Primarily wetland

NW PP-7 12.4 acres HOA HOA

Sanctuary Homeowners Assoc                               

Unit 2; Out lot H/Wetlands U P R-6

No change; Open space 

conservation area Primarily wetland

NW PP-8 18 acres P P

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to 

PP-9 & IDOT-2/Vacant U P County

No change; Wetland & 

open space

Development 

unlikely because of 

wetlands

Does private ownership

provide protection desired

NW PP-9 1.95 acres P P

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to 

PP-9 & IDOT-2/Vacant U P County

No change; Wetland & 

open space

Development 

unlikely because of 

wetlands

Does private ownership

provide protection desired

NW IDOT-2 40.1 acres IDOT IDOT

Parcel North of Sanctuary; adj to 

PP-8 & PP-9 U P County

No change; Wetland & 

open space

Development 

unlikely because of 

wetlands

NW PP-11 8.44 acres P P

"Triangle" property at Rt. 41 & EJE 

RR/Vacant U P L-1

No change; monitor if 

change of use proposed

Development 

proposals; storm 

water issues

NW T-1 .50 acres T T

Shields Township Highway 

Department I A County No change

NW T-4 .04 acres T T

Knollwood Memorial Park; at 

Foster, Muir & Birch I I County

No change; monitor for 

change in use

Community group

maintain as well

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (1 of 5)

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (1 of 5)

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

SC COMED-1 .972 acres CED CED

Power station at NE corner of 

Green Bay and W. Center Ave I A R-3 no change

improved with 

power station, south 

half of lot open 

passive space

SC LB-12

2 parcels

1.97 + .08 acres LB LB

West train parking lot immediately 

west of Montessori school.  IDOT-3 

has NW corner of parking lot I A R-4 no change

used by commuters, 

school and as 

overnight parking

SC LB-7 U LB LB

S of 176 bike path/bike path & 

some open space I A RR No change Adjacent to IDOT-4

SC LB-4 1.5 acres LB LB

NW corner of W Center & 

Mawman/LB pumping station I I R-3 No change

Used to be part of 

Mawman Park

SC LBOLA-2 3 lots? LBOL LBOL Skokie River Nature Reserve I A R-1 No change

State of Illinois 

Nature Land & 

Water Reserve; see 

PP-16 & LB-3

SC LCFP-1 44.2 acres LCFP LCFP

Oriole Grove Forest Preserve, 

North I A E-1 No change

Owned by IDNR; 

land being restored

SC LB-38 66 x 150 ft. LB LB

ROW northwest end of Mawman

vacant with village ped path I I R-4

Village has recommended 

no change

Village utilities on 

parcel

CP PP-17 18.9 acres P P

E of 41; N of EJ&E RR                     

Open Space U P County

Light Industrial.

Preserve  mature Oak 

woods In North Chicago

CP PP-18 4.5 acres P P

E of 41; S of EJ&E RR                       

Open Space U P L-1

Light Industrial.

Preserve  mature Oak 

woods

PP-17 and PP-18 

under common 

ownership

CP RFPD-1 .6 acres P P

Rockland Fire Protection District 

Fire Station I A County Fire Station

41/176 interchange 

changes may modify 

use

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (cont'd 2 of 5)



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (1 of 5)

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

CP JAWA-1 5.6 acres LC JAWA

Water Treatment Plant    Access to 

Skokie Preserve I A RR & S No change

CP NSSD-1 2.9 acres NSD NSD S of 176, W of Mariani's U/I P/A S No change Mariani's leases 

NC AWHOA-1 ~9.5 acres HOA HOA Armour Woods out lots U/I P/A R2 No change

Tennis court on one 

out lot

NC BFHA-1 1.2 acres HOA HOA Belle Foret open space with pond U P E1 No change

NC LB-14 ~0.2 acres each LB LB

4 unimproved ROWs bordering 

Blair Park off 176 U P

3 in R2, 1 in 

R1

No change.  Remove 

invasive plants and restore 

via LBOLA

Potential public 

access to golf course 

area

NC LB-15 ~8 acres total LB LB

Small parcels N of 176; W of Green 

Bay Road.  Open space U P R2

No change.  Remove 

invasive plants and restore 

via LBOLA

Portions managed 

by LBOLA

NC T-3A 0.8 acre T LBOL

Open space, Arden Shores N;  Near 

Lk Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 No change Wetlands

NC PP-20 0.17 acre P P

Open space; single lot; Near Lk 

Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 No change

NC T-3 13 acres T LBOL

Arden Shores N;                              

Lake Genevieve Cons Area U P R1 No change

Formal protection 

agreement in place

NC SD-1 10.2 acres S S Lake Bluff Elementary School I A E1 No change

NC TOHA-1 42.3 acres total P P

Tangley Oaks out lots;                                    

open space U P E1 No change

NC LB-33 12 x 465 ft. LB LB

ROW behind homes on west side 

of Campbell Ct. some 

improvements with driveways and 

use of backyards I I R-2

No change based on 

village expressed desire

west border 

unincorporated

SE LBL-1 .43 acres 3 lots LBL LB

Site of LB Library & History

Museum I A R-4

No change, both may need 

more space

History Museum 

leases

from Library

SE LB-16 50 x98 ft. LB LB

Just South of train station

sidewalk connecting lower

Scranton with upper bike

path along Sheridan I A E-1 No change

SE LB-17

.07, .12, .14, .28, 

.21, .31, .45 

acres south to 

north LB LB

7 lots east of Sheridan between 

North and Blodgett Aves. U P

R-4

CBD

Consolidate maint w/ S. 

Green Strip? No change in 

use; any change to 

consider former gas 

station site.  Consult 

LBOLA and native planting 

potential

Some donated by 

Blair family.  Some 

maintain by LB 

Garden Club?

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (cont'd 3 of 5)



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (1 of 5)

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

SE LB-18

2 lots

1 @ .7 acres all 

VG 1 @ 1.9 that 

is equal split 

between VG, 

Pub Safety and 

LB-24 LB LB Village Green I A R-3 No change Two parcels

SE LB-19 < 50 ft. wide LB LB

sidewalk between

36 E. North & 100 E. North I A R-5

No change if resident use 

continues

was larger but some 

land sold to 

residences

SE LB-20 .14 acres LB LB

Parking lot SW corner of Walnut 

and North I A CBD No change

SE LB-22 .29 acres LB LB Village Hall I A R-5 No change

SE LB-24

part of 1.9 acres 

see LB-23, LB-18 LB LB

Open space between Sheridan Rd 

on west and IDOT connector road 

(Sheridan to Scranton) U P R-3 No change

SE LB-25 .38 acres LB LB

open lot wooded ravine W. of 

Bluff Rd. & S. of Blodgett U P E-1 No change; not buildable

Need history on 

when Village took 

ownership and how 

and why ownership 

changed

SE LB-26 16 x 1000 ft. LB LB

Lillian Dells ravine path from 

Maple Ave/North to beach U I E-1

No change; costly to 

connect to Sunrise Beach

donated to Village 

1909 with 

stipulation to be 

maintained as 

pleasure drive

SE LHA-1 1.9 acres HOA HOA

Two open parcels in Landsowne 

subdivision U P E-1 No change

Developer owns but 

will transfer to HOA  

West parcel has 

walking path for 

continued public use

SE PD-14

2 parcels

West 3.2 acres

East 2.7 acres PD PD

Two parcels forming west end of 

Ravine Park U I R-4 no change

Village owns Gurney 

Ave ROW and ped. 

Bridge

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (cont'd 4 of 5)



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (1 of 5)

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

SE PD-15

2 parcels

West 3.2 acres

East 2.7 acres PD PD

Two parcels forming east end of 

Ravine Park U I E-1 no change

Village owns 

Moffett Rd ROW 

and bridge crossing

SE SD-2

2 parcels

5.3 & 1.1 acres S S LBMS and former East school U/I P/A R-4 no change

LBMS improved.  

East school site 

unimproved.

School reviewing LBMS

School will lead on East

School site usage

SE LBOLA-1 2 lots 1.5 acres LBOL LBOL NE corner Moffett & Lakeland Dr. U P E-1 no change

donated by owner 

of adjacent north 

parcel

SE UP-1

12.8 acres from 

north edge of 

this prop to 

South border of 

town UP

UP

LB Train lot and station I A RR no change

LB does routine 

maintenance.  UP 

does major repairs.

SE LB-31 55 x 250 ft. LB LB

South of intersection Sheridan Rd 

and Oak Terrace I I R-2 no change

improved with path 

connecting to path 

maintained by LF.  

Part of path to LFHS.

SE LB-34 60 x 120 ft. LB LB

ROW Washington Ave east of 

Moffett I I R-2

Village desires maintain in 

current state

Improved with 

walking path

SE LB-35

irregular shape

large parcel LB LB

wooded Ravine west and north 

side of Mountain Ave U P R-4

Village has rejected 

purchase offer from 

resident to purchase 

portion for addition to 

backyard None

SE LB-36 U LB LB

Gurney ROW between Ravine and 

E. Sheridan Ave I I R-2 Village desires no change

Improved with 

bridge

NC COMED-4 0.5 acres CED U

N of 176; W of Village Public 

Works Dept. U P R2, C-E

Joint municipal uses; 

storage, etc.

Not in but 

completely 

surrounded by the 

Village

Change border.  Consider 

for storage capacity

SE LB-37 U LB LB

Glen Ave ROW between E. 

Prospect and Sylvan I I R-4 Village desires no change

Improved with 

bridge

No Additional Reviews Needed: 59 Parcels (cont'd 5 of 5)



 

 

 

 

 

 

G‐2  Parcel Summary: Governmental Boundary Issues, 

Administrataive and Legal Review 

     Parcel Listing 4 Pages 

   



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels
Limited Review

Legal Review

Other Admin/Limited

Summary

20 Parcels
9 Parcels

1 Parcel

11 Parcels

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

               SECTOR SUMMARY REVIEW FORM: Administrative & Limited Review

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix G-2



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

NE PP-1 25.5 acres P P

Former Arden Shore Child & Family 

Services/Vacant U P C-E

Residential; Monitor if use 

or density changes Property is for sale monitor sale, use & zoning

NE PP-2 5.1 acres P P Arbor Drive subdivision/Vacant U P C-E

Dedicated open space or 

residential

Property contains 

some wetlands monitor sale, use & zoning

NE PP-5 154.9 ACRES P P Shoreacres golf course I A C-E

No change; Monitor if use 

or density changes

Borders create mix 

of parcels in village 

and Park District

Put all of SA in village and

LBPD

SE LB-23

2 lots

1 @.9 and 1 @ 

1.9 split 

between here, 

VG, and LB-24 LB

LB

IDOT Village Public Safety Building I A R-3 No change

Roadway on west 

end maintained by 

IDOT. 

SE LF-1 Unknown LF LF north edge of LF Cemetery I A E-1

no change; highlight border 

issue

border issue N. edge 

of cemetery in LB.

Establish recognition of

situation by LF & LB

SC LB-11 .1928 acres LB P

Lot immediately north of LB 

Montessori school bldg and small 

parking lot between two school 

buildings I A R-4 No change

Improved with 

paths.  Leased by LB 

to school.  

Maintained by 

school Review lease agreement

SC WCHA-2 Various lots HOA HOA

Open space lots perimeter of 

Wimbledon Estates. U P E-2 No change

Must be retained as 

open spaces

SC PD-6 6.3 acres PD LBOL

Carolyn Goetz Wetland 

Preserve/Nature preserve I A E-2

No change; Need LBOL/PD 

maintenance agreement.  

Seek permanent 

conservancy.

No deed restrictions; 

not in conservancy

Review restrictions & more

formal maint. Agreement

SC PP-27 9.3 acres P P

estate residence south of 

Stonebridge I A E-1 No change

Monitor for sale/sub-

division monitor sale, use & zoning

Limited Review: Administrative Matters 9 Parcels

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

Limited Review: Administrative Matters 9 Parcels

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

NW U-1 .06 acres U PD Part of baseball field & parking lot I A County No change Clarify PD ownership Determine owner

SC LB-2 U LB LB

S of 176, E of JAWA, W of 

Terrace/Open space U P R-2

Open space, garden, senior 

housing, residential, etc.

Large LB owned 

undeveloped parcel

Determine best use as this is 

one of few large open 

parcels.  Use impacts 176 

gateway. Senior housing? 

Park? Community Garden? 

Other?

SC PP-15 10 acres P P

Stonbridge Conservation 

Area/Preserved landscape I P E-1

No change; determine 

conservancy structure and 

monitor conservancy 

Owned by 

developer; may be 

transferred to LB

Cost of maintaining

Properly; portion for bike 

path

SC PP-26 U P P

Stonebridge land immediately east 

of Manor House I P E-1

Determine use/cost if 

transferred to LBPD

Owned by 

developer; transfer 

to PD?

Consider use and costs

before taking on

SC PP-25 11,200 sq. ft. P P

Proposed Stonebridge 

park/subdivision Out lot M U P E-1

PD study cost and 

maintenance

Transition from 

developer to PD

Consider maintenance

cost before accepting

NC PD-10 ~170 acres PD PD Blair Park I A E1, R1 No change Special Study Area

Golf plan? Ice rink? Land

use for tennis when done

NC PD-11 0.4 acres PD PD 2 parcels N of 176 I A R2

Open space; transfer to 

Village?

LBOLA clear invasive and 

restore

Current homes being 

removed

Integrate with plan for 

golf and 176 corridor

SE LB-21 .15 acres LB LB

Walnut House SE corner Walnut 

and North Ave I A R-5

Evaluate in context of 

other storage sites, also in 

conjunction with plan for 

CBD

former home now 

used as storage.  2/3 

open with mature 

Oak trees

Is storage highest & best

use?  Sale potential? 

Consolidate with adjacent

to develop project?

NC PP-22 0.17 acre P P Residence; N of 176 on Eva Terrace I A R2

Public purchase of property

Use TBD, LBOLA could 

restore

PD has right of first 

refusal

LBPD acquire when can

to control area.  Consider 

best owner as part of 176 

Gateway

SC PD-5 4.9 acres PD PD Mawman Park I A R-3

No change.

Could retain have LBOLA 

restore as woodland, 

walking path to current 

bike path

See LB-6, U-4, LB-4 

and           PP-14

North portion, 

east of homes; alt ownership

Legal Reviews/Ownership: 1 Parcel

More Planning & Study Needed: 11 Parcels



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

Limited Review: Administrative Matters 9 Parcels

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

SE PD-13

Nor. to sou. .7, 

.5, .4, 2.0 (N/S 

Rav Forest), .8 

(N/S 

Hawthorne), .13, 

.47 (N/S Sunset), 

.36 PD PD

Green Strip east side of Sheridan 

Rd. from south Village boundary to 

E. Sheridan Place U I R-2, 3, 4

same party doing maint as 

LB-17.  Transfer two lots 

west of LBMS to school? 

Develop portion of larger 

lots--retaining green strip.  

Could restore to praire and 

buffalo grass allowing 

periodic use for parking

11 lots open mowed 

space.  Assumed 

most donated by 

Blair family. Need 

review on 

restrictions.

Is LBPD most appropriate

owner? Maintainer?  Can

select lots be developed

w/o altering character?

Can maintenance change

to lower costs? Improve

drainage?

SE PP-23 20 x 210 ft. P P Private park S. end of Sunrise Park U P R-1

document current 

encroachment, limit 

further encroachment and 

clarify access

Lake Park subdiv. 

doc. (1891) est. pvt 

park.  More research 

needed

LBPD review to clarify

border issues & uses

More Planning & Study Needed: 11 Parcels (Cont'd)



 

 

 

 

 

 

G‐3  Parcel Summary: Additions to Park District or School Districts 

and Transfer to Residents 

     Parcel Listing 2 Pages 

   



Total Parcels 16 Parcels
Additions to Parks 10 Parcels

ROW Parcel Transfers 3 Parcels

Transfer To Residents 2 Parcels

Additions to Schools 1 Parcel

North West PP-12

Private lot east of 

Knollwood park/Vacant

Purchase as an addition to Knollwood Park and maintain as open space.  Note that parking lot 

north of this parcel is in ROW.

North West PP-13

Private lot east of 

Knollwood park/Vacant

Purchase as an addition to Knollwood Park and maintain as open space.  Note that parking lot 

north of this parcel is in ROW.  Possible that new construction has already started.

South Central LB-6

Park/Sheridan Place ROW 

through Mawman Park

Transfer from Village to Park District to provide full control of Mawman Park to Park District.  

Potential entry point for ped bridge over rail road tracks.

South Central U-4

Vacant parcel S of 

Mawman Park

Park District should determine owner and work to acquire to provide control of Mawman Park.  

Note that village will need access for storm sewer.

South East LB-27

Forms part of park and 

beach.

Transfer from Village to Park District to consolidate control of Sunrise Park and beach.  

Currently improved with paths to beach.

South East LB-28

Beach area: lease to NSSD 

and also house LB Yacht 

Club

Transfer from Village to Park District to consolidate control of Sunrise Park and beach.  Majority 

is occupied by NSD pump station.  Also contains leased land to LB Yacht Club.  Park District 

should formalize agreement with Yacht Club.

North Central PP-21

Residence; near 

Elementary  School and 

Blair Park

Currently a residence at entry to Blair Park.  Park District to acquire to control entry to park and 

provide potential alternative use for golf, storage or other needs.

North Central PP-29

Large estate north of LBES 

and east of golf course

Park District monitor for potential acquisition as parcel borders golf course.  May also want to 

cosnult School Board for potential needs.

North West PP-10

Former West School/Gov. 

offices & schools

Park District monitor for potential acquisition to provide greater control of large property 

neighboring a park and also could influence control of adequate parking at park.

South East PD-16

Parcels forming majority of 

Sunrise Park and Sunrise 

Beach

South end of parcel encumbered with private park.  Park District should review border issues 

with resident and establish formal understanding on use and borders. 

Proposal/Rationale

Proposed Additions to Parks: 10 Parcels

Exhibit G-3:  Additions to Parks, Schools and Residences
Summary

Sector

Parcel

ID

Common Description

Current Use

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix G-3



North West PD-1a

Knollwood Park owned by 

Park District/Park

If PP-12 and PP-13 acquired (see above), Park District should correct boundaries and pursue 

getting vacation of portions of W. Washington and Bayonne Ave.

North West PD-1b

Knollwood Park/Bayonne 

Ave ROW owned  by 

Township

If PP-12 and PP-13 acquired (see above), Park District should correct boundaries and pursue 

getting vacation of portions of W. Washington and Bayonne Ave.

North Central GLNTC-1

Recreational facilities in 

Forrestal Village; in Park 

Dist.

Park district should review this area to determine if border change is desired.  If retained, 

explore potential usage of facilities/land as needed.

South Central LB-32

ROW South of Main 

between homes on 

Mawman and Rockland

Vacate to transfer ownership from

Village to residents

South East LB-30

Alley between Newman Ct. 

and Briar Ln.

Change ownership from

Village to homeowners

South East LB-29

Alley from south of LBMS 

and north edge of Circle Dr. 

Used to walk to LBMS

Change ownership from Village to School or vacate one half to school and residents.

Need legal opinion on neighboring resident rights.  Portion sold to Vincent Ct. residents 

previously.  Need public utility easement.

Boundary & ROW Issues: 3 Parcels

Vacations/Returns to Residents: 2 Parcels

Transfer to SchoolsResidents: 1 Parcel



 

 

 

 

 

 

G‐4  Parcel Summary: Conservancy and Open Space Preservation 

     Parcel Listing 1 Page 

   



Total Parcels 4 Parcels

North East LB-1

SW corner Crab Tree Farm/ 

Open Woods

Place in permanent conservancy to protect frontage to Sheridan Rd.  Look to rezone and leave 

parcel in natural state.

South Central PP-16

Five vacant parcels in 

Skokie River Nature 

Preserve

Village to buy parcels; vacate streets, combine with LB-3 to create large village controlled open 

land space.

North Central BFHA-2 Belle Foret Prairie

Look to extend lease agreement beyond 99 years and establish permanent protection as this 

open space has highly unique characteristics.  Potentially pursue acquiring.

South East PP-28

wooded parcel South of 

Lillian Dells Drive. Village pursue to protect as open space.  Village may have expressed interest in past.

Conservancy & Protect Open Space: 4 Parcels

Exhibit G-4:  Conservancy and Open Space
Summary

Sector

Parcel

ID

Common Description

Current Use Proposal/Rationale

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix G-4



 

 

 

 

 

 

G‐5  Parcel Summary: Community Storage and Meeting Facilities 

     Parcel Listing 1 Page 

   



Total Parcels 2 Parcels

North Central LB-13 Public Works Facility

While village indicated it does not need additional storage, this site could be explored for 

expanded storage use by Park District and School District.

South East PD-12 Artesian Park

Consider modification of current building to expand storage space and provide meeting rooms 

for community groups.  Modification should not materially alter character of building which fits 

in well within Artesian Park.

Conservancy & Protect Open Space: 4 Parcels

Exhibit G-5:  Community Storage and Meeting Facilities
Summary

Sector

Parcel

ID

Common Description

Current Use Proposal/Rationale

jmoss
Typewritten Text
Appendix G-5



 

 

 

 

 

 

G‐6 & G‐6M  Parcel Summary: Pedestrian/Bike Path Proposal 

       Summary 1 Page 

       Map 1 Page 

       Parcel Listing 3 Pages 

   













 

 

 

 

 

 

G‐7  Parcel Summary: Special Study Areas 

  (Stonebridge, Village‐owned parcel next to JAWA, Blair 

Park/Golf Course) 

     Parcel Listing 1 Page 

   



Total Parcels 10 Parcels
Blair Park & Golf Course 5 Parcels

Stonebridge 4 Parcels

South of 176 East of JAWA 1 Parcel

Own Mntn

NC PD-10 ~170 acres PD PD Blair Park

NC PD-11 0.4 acres PD PD 2 parcels N of 176

NC PP-21 0.25 acre P P

Residence; near Elementary  

School and Blair Park

NC PP-29 16.2 acre P P

Large estate north of LBES and east 

of golf course

NC PP-22 0.17 acre P P Residence; N of 176 on Eva Terrace

SC PP-24 U P P N side of Stonebridge

SC PP-15 10 acres P P

Stonbridge Conservation 

Area/Preserved landscape

SC PP-26 U P P

Stonebridge land immediately east 

of Manor House

SC PP-25 11,200 sq. ft. P P

Proposed Stonebridge 

park/subdivision Out lot M

SC LB-2 U LB LB

S of 176, E of JAWA, W of 

Terrace/Open space

               Appendix G-7: SPECIAL STUDY AREAS

Issues to Consider

Financial viability of golf course.  Scope of golf activity.  Alternative use of golf course.  Impact on 

176 gateway.  Consolidation of park activities--playing fields, ice rink etc…Included some adjacent 

properties for consideration of expanding footprint

Summary

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current Common Description

Current Use

Financial implications of maintaining new parks.  Connectivity with new bike/ped path on north 

side of property.  Establish full framework for conservancy.

Largest passive open space in community.  Impact on 176 gateway & bikepath.  Process for 

community input on use.  Tremendous potential.

Blair Park & Golf Course

Stonebridge

Village Parcel South of 176/East of JAWA



 

 

 

 

 

 

H‐1  Parcel Summary: Priority Project List 

  Parcel Listing 3 Pages 

   



Current Status:  Current Use:

CED: Comm Edison I: Improved A: Active

GL: Great Lakes U: Unimproved I: Infrequent

HOA: Homeowners Assocs NSD: N. Shore Sanit. P: Passive

IDOT: Ill Trans Dept PD: LB Park District

JAWA: Jt. Action Water Agen.

LB: Village of Lake Bluff S: School Dist. #65

LBL: Lake Bluff Library T: Shields Township

LBOL: LB Open Lands U: Unknown

LCDT: LkCo Dept Transit UP: Union Pacific

LCFP: Lake Co Forest Pres

Total Parcels
Monitor Sales/Acquisitions

Parking Lots

Border/Service Areas

Ownership Consolidation

Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

NE PP-1 25.5 acres P P

Former Arden Shore Child & 

Family Services/Vacant U P C-E

Residential; Monitor if use 

or density changes Property is for sale monitor sale, use & zoning LB & PD

NE PP-2 5.1 acres P P Arbor Drive subdivision/Vacant U P C-E

Dedicated open space or 

residential

Property contains 

some wetlands monitor sale, use & zoning LB & PD

SC PP-27 9.3 acres P P

estate residence south of 

Stonebridge I A E-1 No change

Monitor for sale/sub-

division monitor sale, use & zoning LB  

NW PP-12 .36 acres P P

Private lot east of Knollwood 

park/Vacant U P County

Purchase as addition to 

Knollwood Park

Parking lot north of 

parcel is in ROW

Addition to Knollwood Park; 

keep as open space PD

NW PP-13 .36 acres P P

Private lot east of Knollwood 

park/Vacant U P County

Purchase as addition to 

Knollwood Park

New construction

recently started.

Addition to Knollwood Park; 

keep as open space PD

NC PP-21 0.25 acre P P

Residence; near Elementary  

School and Blair Park I A R1

Public purchase of 

property.

LBOLA could restore to 

prairie.

Potential for 

facilities

provides control to Blair

Park entrance. Gives full 

control of N. side of 

Washington to school/PD PD & S

NC PP-29 16.2 acre P P

Large estate north of LBES and 

east of golf course I A E-1

No change but monitor for 

change in use. Various/open space

Monitor change of use/sale.  

Assess impact on nearby 

school and golf course LB, PD & S

SE PP-28 7,375 sq. ft. P P

wooded parcel South of Lillian 

Dells Drive. U P R-2

interest in purchasing from 

owner 700 Mountain None

Recommend Village buy

to protect as open space LB

NC PP-22 0.17 acre P P

Residence; N of 176 on Eva 

Terrace I A R2

Public purchase of 

property

Use TBD, LBOLA could 

restore

PD has right of first 

refusal

LBPD acquire when can

to control area.  Consider 

best owner as part of 176 

Gateway LB & PD

Priority

Comment

Party

to

Discuss

Parcels to be Monitored for Sales/Acquisitions

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

12 Parcels

NE: North East

NW: North West

SC: South Central P: Private

SE: South East

US: US Government

Summary

31 Parcels
9 Parcels

5 Parcels

5 Parcels

NC: North Central LF: City Lake Forest

Sector: Ownership/Maintenance:

CP: Comm Park COL: Lake County

Appendix H-1: Priority Projects



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

Priority

Comment

Party

to

Discuss

Parcels to be Monitored for Sales/Acquisitions

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

NW PP-10 2.91 acres P P

Former West School/Gov. offices & 

schools I A County

No change; monitor if 

change of use proposed

Is agreement in 

place with PD for 

use of parking lot?

Monitor change of use/sale.  

Acquire to protect park to 

east

Owner/Use could impact 

park and parking for park PD

NW U-1 .06 acres U PD Part of baseball field & parking lot I A County No change Clarify PD ownership Determine owner PD

SC IDOT-3 7.8 acres IDOT LB

Abandoned RR ROW; Vacant & 

Utility corridor; some parking/N of 

Montessori U P RR

Bike path from W Blodgett 

to W Scranton; utilities.  

LBOLA do removal of 

invasive plants and restore 

area.

Combine with LB-10, 

LB-5, U-3 and COL-1

Combine IDOT-3, LB-10, 

LB-5, U-3, COL-1 for new

bike path

Priority is for control

of parking lot LB

SE IDOT-8 70 ft. wide IDOT LB

S. of E Blodgett to Scranton

Bike Path west of Sheridan Rd. I A RR

Bike Path owned/maint.

Surrounding land owned

by IDOT.  More control if 

LB owns all 

W. edge improved 

with

Village's train lot

Village obtain via 

jurisdictional transfer to 

control

parcel with influence on bike 

path, main train lot and 

adjacent CBD LB

SC LB-11 .1928 acres LB P

Lot immediately north of LB 

Montessori school bldg and small 

parking lot between two school 

buildings I A R-4 No change

Improved with 

paths.  Leased by LB 

to school.  

Maintained by 

school Review lease agreement LB

NW PD-1b <1 acre T PD

Knollwood Park/Bayonne Ave 

ROW owned  by Township I A County

No change; vacate 

Bayonne ROW; expand 

west PD boundary

Area now outside of 

PD boundaries

Vacate ROW; Expand west

boundary of LBPD T & PD

NW NA Multi-lot P P

Area West of Bayonne in LB School 

Dist. But not in Park Dist. I A

Consider adding area to Park 

District PD

SE PP-23 20 x 210 ft. P P Private park S. end of Sunrise Park U P R-1

document current 

encroachment, limit 

further encroachment and 

clarify access

Lake Park subdiv. 

doc. (1891) est. pvt 

park.  More research 

needed

LBPD review to clarify

border issues & uses Construction in process PD 

NC GLNTC-1 Unknown US US

Recreational facilities in Forrestal 

Village; in Park Dist. I A ? No change

Determine Park Dist. 

policy on use of 

facilities Determine border issue PD

NE PP-5 154.9 ACRES P P Shoreacres golf course I A C-E

No change; Monitor if use 

or density changes

Borders create mix 

of parcels in village 

and Park District

Put all of SA in village and

LBPD LB & PD

SC LB-6 U LB PD

Park/Sheridan Place ROW through 

Mawman Park I A R-1

No change; PD consider 

purchase

Clarify maintenance; 

ped bridge?

Transfer from Village to 

LBPD; control Mawman

Ped bridge? LB & PD

SC U-4 8400 sq. ft. U U Vacant parcel S of Mawman Park U P R-3

PD purchase; add to park 

or sell to adjacent 

property. LBOLA clear 

invasive plants and restore

Buckthorn

Storm sewer-village 

needs access

determine ownership

determine if LBPD wants

or needs for Mawman LB & PD

Parcels Where Ownership May Want to be Consolidated, Changed or Clarified

Parcels Related to Border or Service Area Issues

Parcels Related to Adequate Parking/Parking Lot Control



Own Mntn Status Use Zoning Recommended Use

Coments

Restrictions Review Scope

Priority

Comment

Party

to

Discuss

Parcels to be Monitored for Sales/Acquisitions

Sect

Parcel

ID Size

Current

Common Description

Current Use

Current

SE PD-16 10.7 acres PD PD

Parcels forming majority of Sunrise 

Park and Sunrise Beach I A R-3 no change 

LB owns LB-27 and 

LB-28 in park.  So. 

end encumbered w/ 

pvt. park (PP-23).  

Village rd extends 

into SW corner for 

access to 2 homes.  

More study needed.

Are beach improvements

funded with new money

outside PD budgets?  

Quantify maintenance

cost new improvements.

PD evaluate ownership

of LB-27 & LB-28.

Assess common ownership

LB-27, LB-28 and PD-16 LB & PD

SE LB-27

60' wide 

Sunrise-water LB LB Forms part of park and beach. U/I A R-3 consider transfer to PD

Improved with paths 

to beach

Transfer ownership from

Village to LBPD

Assess common ownership

LB-27, LB-28 and PD-16 LB & PD

SE LB-28 190 ft. x 280 ft. LB

LB

NSD

Beach area: lease to NSSD and also 

house LB Yacht Club I A R-3 No change

majority is NSD 

pump station leased 

from LB, also LB 

Yacht Club and 

beach

Consolidate ownership

with LBPD?  Formalize use

by Yacht Club

Assess common ownership

LB-27, LB-28 and PD-16 LB & PD

NC BFHA-2 4 acres P LBOL Belle Foret Prairie U P E1 No change; prairie

owned by BFHA PD 

has 99 year lease; 

site is not protected

Get control beyond 99 yrs.

Pursue transfer from HOA to 

PD and est. conservancy PD & BFHA

SE LF-1 Unknown LF LF north edge of LF Cemetery I A E-1

no change; highlight 

border issue

border issue N. edge 

of cemetery in LB.

Establish recognition of

situation by LF & LB LB & LF

SC LB-32 12 x 150 ft. LB LB

ROW South of Main between 

homes on Mawman and Rockland U I

R-3

R-4

In past village has 

recommended vacation to 

adjacent property owners None; limited use

Vacate to transfer ownership 

from

Village to residents LB

SE LB-30 12 ft. wide LB LB

Alley between Newman Ct. and 

Briar Ln. U I R-4 transfer to homeowners

one private drive on 

north end.  Mainly 

backyards of 

residences

Change ownership from

Village to homeowners LB

SE LB-29 12 x 320 ft. LB LB

Alley from south of LBMS and 

north edge of Circle Dr. Used to 

walk to LBMS I I R-4 consider transfer to School

improved with path.  

Portion to Vincent 

Ct. sold to 

homeowners.  Also 

public utility 

easement

Change ownership from 

Village to School or vacate 

one half to school and 

residents.

Need legal opinion on 

neighboring resident rights LB & S

SC PP-26 U P P

Stonebridge land immediately east 

of Manor House I P E-1

Determine use/cost if 

transferred to LBPD

Owned by 

developer; transfer 

to PD?

Consider use and costs

before taking on PD  

SC PP-25 11,200 sq. ft. P P

Proposed Stonebridge 

park/subdivision Out lot M U P E-1

PD study cost and 

maintenance

Transition from 

developer to PD

Consider maintenance

cost before accepting PD

Parcels Where Ownership May Want to be Consolidated, Changed or Clarified (cont'd)



 

 

 

 

 

 

H‐2  Parcel Summary: Parcels Where LBOLA Resources Could Be 

Employed 

  Parcel Listing 3 Pages 

   



North Central LB-13 Public Works Facility To Be Determined

North Central LB-14

4 unimproved ROWs bordering 

Blair Park off 176 Clear Invasive species and restore.

North Central LB-15

Small parcels N of 176; W of Green 

Bay Road.  Open space Clear Invasive species and restore.

South East LB-17

7 lots east of Sheridan between 

North and Blodgett Aves.

Establish native grasses and prairie with ability 

to withstand traffic and periodic parking

South Central LB-2

S of 176, E of JAWA, W of 

Terrace/Open space

TBD based on future land use.  Considerable 

buckthorn coverage currently.

South Central LB-9

Utility ROW in West Terrace; 

unimproved with exception of 

utilities below grade

If ped/bike path not pursued, restore to garden 

swale/wetland.

Summary:  The following parcels were 

identified by LBOLA as potential properties 

where their resources could be employed 

to improve the look of the property and or 

enhance its long-term conservation.  We 

encourage the listed owners to reach-out 

to LBOLA if the project is desired.

Exhibit:  H-2 Proposed LBOLA Projects
Total 27 Parcels

Village Owned: 6 Parcels

Park District Owned: 8 Parcels

School District Owned: 1 Parcel

HOA Owned: 1 Parcel

IDOT Owned: 3 Parcels

Sector

Parcel

ID Common Description

Village Parcels (6)

Proposed Scope LBOLA Work

Private Owned: 6 Parcels

Unidentified Owner: 2 Parcels



Sector

Parcel

ID Common Description Proposed Scope LBOLA Work

North Central PD-10 Blair Park To Be Determined

North Central PD-11 2 parcels N of 176 Clear Invasive species and restore.

South East PD-13

Green Strip east side of Sheridan 

Rd. from south Village boundary to 

E. Sheridan Place

Establish native grasses and prairie with ability 

to withstand traffic and periodic parking.

South East PD-16

Parcels forming majority of Sunrise 

Park and Sunrise Beach

Establish scope of conservation needs and 

defense for higher water levels.

North West PD-2 Sanctuary Park eastern parcel/Park

Restore native woodland understory.

North West PD-3 Sanctuary Park western parcel/Park

Restore native woodland understory.

South Central PD-5 Mawman Park

Restore woodland understory if path desired 

under public ownership.

South Central PD-6

Carolyn Goetz Wetland 

Preserve/Nature preserve

Establish maintenance agreement with Park 

District. Seek permanent conservancy.

South East SD-2 LBMS and former East school TBD based on future land use

North Central BFHA-2 Belle Foret Prairie

Permanent Conservancy

Maintenance of Prairie

South Central IDOT-3

Abandoned RR ROW; Vacant & 

Utility corridor; some parking/N of 

Montessori Clear Invasive species and restore

South Central IDOT-4

S side of 176; Sheridan to Green 

Bay/ Bike path Convert grass to native plantings

South Central IDOT-5

S side of 176; Green Bay to 

JAWA/Bike path Convert grass to native plantings

Park District Parcels (8)

School District Parcels (1)

Local HOA Parcel (1)

IDOT Parcels (3)



Sector

Parcel

ID Common Description Proposed Scope LBOLA Work

South Central PP-15

Stonbridge Conservation 

Area/Preserved landscape Review and monitor conservancy structure

Commercial Park PP-17

E of 41; N of EJ&E RR                     

Open Space Preserve mature Oak Woods

Commercial Park PP-18

E of 41; S of EJ&E RR                       

Open Space Preserve mature Oak Woods

North Central PP-19

Open space, Arden Shores N;  Near 

Lk Genevieve Cons Area Clarify ownership and status

North Central PP-21

Residence; near Elementary  School 

and Blair Park Restore to Prairie

North Central PP-22 Residence; N of 176 on Eva Terrace Restore to natural state if open space

South Central U-3

NE corner of Green Bay RD & W 

Washington Ave/Vacant Clear Invasive species and restore woodland 

South Central U-4 Vacant parcel S of Mawman Park Clear Invasive species and restore

Privately Owned Parcels (6)

Unidentified Owner Parcels (2)




